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Financial Figures

   
   

Revenues and results 

Shipments MWp

Revenues k€ 

– Domestic k€ 

– International k€ 

Overall performance k€ 

EBIT k€ 

– in % of revenues (EBIT margin) % 

Consolidated net income for the period k€ 

Orders on hand k€ 

Balance sheet1 

Total assets k€ 

Equity k€ 

Equity ratio % 

Return on equity % 

Phoenix SonnenAktie®1 

No-par bearer shares Units 

Closing price € 

Market capitalisation k€ 

Earnings per share  

– Basic € 

– Diluted € 

Employees1 

Employees2 Heads 

Employees3 Heads 

Revenues per capita3 k€ 

1 At end of the period
2 Average employee number, including part-time and temporary staff 
3 Full-time equivalent, average of the period 01/01 – 31/12

Change
 

– 3.1 %

– 9.1 %

– 55.0 %

10.4 %

– 11.0 %

– 95.6 %

– 95.1 %

– 75.2 %

– 13.2 %

– 26.9 %

– 56.9 %

– 41.0 %

81.7 %

0.0 %

348.0 %

348.0 %

– 71.6 %

– 71.6 %

– 47.4 %

– 42.6 %

58.3 %

01/01/2013
– 30/12/2013

126

141,223

16,667

124,556

141,223

– 1,407

– 1.0 %

– 9,306

64,991

67,758

7,464

11.0 %

– 124.7 %

7,372,700

4.70

34,652

– 1.45

– 1.45

120

147

961

01/01/2012
– 30/1/2012

130

155,430

46,428 

109,002 

158,729 

– 31,790 

– 20.5 % 

– 37,591 

 74,889

92,652

17,304 

18.7 %

– 68.6 %

7,372,700 

1.05 

7,734 

– 5.06

– 5.06

228

256

593

Phoenix Solar AG, which has its headquarters in Sulzemoos near Munich, is an internatio-
nal photovoltaic system integrator. The Group develops, plans, builds and operates large-
scale photovoltaic plants and is a specialist wholesaler for turnkey power plants, solar 
modules and accessories. With subsidiaries on three continents, the company has sold 
solar modules with an output of significantly more than one gigawatt since its founding. 
The shares of Phoenix Solar AG (ISIN DE000A0BVU93) are listed on the official market 
(Prime Standard) of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. 

Company profile

PHOENIX SOLAR AT A GLANCE
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LETTER TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

Dear Shareholders,

LETTER TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

We have made a big step along the way. After two years of writing high losses, we closed the year 2013 
with earnings (before interest and taxes) close to breakeven, which is even better than we originally anti-
cipated, and positive cash flows from operations. What is more, this was accomplished although revenues 
were not even a quarter of the volume generated in 2010, which was our best year. These key perfor-
mance indicators alone suffice to tell the story of how radically we have had to restructure the company 
to secure its future and set in place sound, sustainable foundations. 

This manoeuvre may have caused some of you as our valued shareholders to catch your breath, especially 
at the start of the year. Now, however, after all those years when our share price was shedding value, the 
news that the capital markets have rewarded us for taking this path will be all the more welcome. Indeed, 
our share price more than quadrupled over the course of the year 2013. We view garnering trust in the 
medium and long term as a core management task, which is reflected by this gratifying development.

At this point let us first take a closer look at developments in the past months: Similar to 2012, the year 
2013 was extremely eventful and packed with measures designed to bring us closer to our goals. One of 
the most radical measures was closing our trading and project business, formerly operated out of Ger-
many, which was largely prompted by the ongoing deterioration in the political framework conditions in 
this country.

This decision was one of the most difficult in recent years since Germany was – and still is – our country of 
origin, where we “grew up” and which got us off to an impressive start while generating good business 
for a long time. Moreover, the consequences of this decision entailed reducing our workforce for the third 
time and parting from many employees some of whom had been with the company since its foundation 
and dedicated their endeavours to ensuring its successful years. The company’s founder, Dr. Andreas  
Hänel, who served as Chief Executive Officer for many years, also left Phoenix Solar AG in the process. 
We all owe him and his team a huge debt of gratitude for their commitment to building up the company, 
and especially to Dr. Hänel for his drive to initiate the internationalisation of the company’s business at an 
early stage.

Indeed, it is only because we can rely on an international presence across the globe that we can now move 
ahead with developing the company on a sound basis, even without our former business in Germany. 
The new strategy met with our banks’ approval, and they have renewed our financing in a slightly redu-
ced scope through to March 2015. By divesting ourselves of loss-making business, we have been able to 
improve our results even more swiftly than originally planned. As early as the second quarter of 2013, we 
were again delivering positive operating results. By the third quarter, we had improved our bottom line to 
the extent that we were writing black figures for the first time in three years.

At this point, I would like to express our thanks to all our employees who gave their support to the restruc-
turing measures over the course of the year and implemented them, as well as our staff in companies all 
over the world who have worked so successfully.

The question is: have we already achieved a turnaround, leaving restructuring behind us to tread the path 
of profitable growth once more? Are we now back on the sunny side? Where do we stand at the start of 
2014?
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Our strong presence in the growth regions of the USA and Asia was decisive for our success in 2013. 
Around 40 percent of our revenues were achieved in these two countries respectively. We are proud 
in equal measure of the large, multi-megawatt projects in Thailand and Georgia and of the numerous  
smaller, interesting projects for high-profile customers. Our strengths in the West as well as in the Far East 
lie in our people who are hugely committed to boosting sales and completing contracts in these regions. 
They enable us to assist our customers in the USA, not only through our experience in planning and const-
ruction, but additionally with complex approval procedures, as well as supporting them in structuring the 
necessary financing. Our multi-national team in Singapore maintains an excellent network in this region 
and achieved acclaim through a series of prizes conferred for innovation and environmental responsibility 
at the solar trade show in Southeast Asia in October. 

Taking the whole company forward hinges on both subsidiaries consolidating their sales successes in 2013 
and continuing their expansion.

By contrast, our European companies are operating in an extremely difficult environment. Former govern-
ment subsidy models have been abolished virtually across the board. Given the downturn in system pri-
ces, photovoltaic has meanwhile become competitive, with grid parity achieved. Consequently, the high 
level of solar irradiation throughout the Mediterranean region could offer attractive incentives for self-
consumption models. However, the economic situation is delicate, financing is problematic, and govern-
ments are being creative in imposing levies or taxes retrospectively, focusing especially on photovoltaic 
systems. This great uncertainty resulted, for instance, in not one new photovoltaic system and not a single 
additional KWp being installed throughout the whole of Spain last December, which prompted us to scale 
back our activities in southern Europe to an absolute minimum for the time being. We nonetheless think 
it expedient to maintain our presence to be at hand if the situation improves, since we basically anticipate 
a recovery in the local markets. 

We also announced that we had not entirely relinquished hope for the German market. A small team 
worked on developing new business models in 2013 which do not depend on incentives under the Ger-
man Renewable Energies Act (EEG). With standardised small photovoltaic systems for household roofs, 
optimised exclusively for maximum use by the occupants, we can offer our customers a substantial reduc-
tion in their electricity bills and an amortisation period of eight to ten years. We have now launched the 
pilot phase of this offering. 

We nonetheless observe the signals from Berlin with great scepticism. Plans have been tabled to levy 
charges even on electricity produced for self-consumption. It remains to be seen how far the legislation 
ultimately passed will go in allowing photovoltaic sales in Germany to largely dry up. It would be regret-
table if we were then forced to shelve our new business models which are currently being tested: A huge 
opportunity would be wrested from us. This would not, however, signify a risk for our plans to develop 
business overall.

In our opinion, the Gulf Region also offers opportunities. This is where we have built the KAPSARC pho-
tovoltaic plant which, with a peak power totalling 5.3 MWp, is Saudi Arabia’s largest ground-mounted 
power plant. Our customer Saudi Aramco, which is after all one of the world’s largest oil companies, has 
expressed great satisfaction with our service and may possibly become a partner and gateway to further 
cooperation. Should sustainable business opportunities arise from this connection we will be ready.

As you can see, the situation is not altogether rosy, and there are still a few clouds on the horizon. Ne-
vertheless, the sun is clearly in view. Our current planning is mainly based on the regions of the USA and 
Southeast Asia. Assuming we can acquire and securely execute the requisite volume of contracts in these 
countries, our plans to return to the profit zone will come to fruition. Despite the delicate political and 

LETTER TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS
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economic general conditions, Europe does not harbour any major risks at the current level; a recovery 
in the markets of our subsidiaries, above all success with the new business models in Germany, may well 
provide us with significant stimulus. In the Gulf Region, we are in the process of building up our network 
and investigating whether there are opportunities for us and, if so, which.

Our determination to make progress in the transition from restructuring towards new growth is signalled 
by appointing a new Executive Board member: Olaf Laber assumed Board member responsibility for 
business in Europe, including the new business models in Germany, and in the Middle East as of 1 January 
2014. His experience in establishing and managing successful sales structures and teams is already taking 
positive effect. Ahead of us – and your Phoenix Solar AG – lies another busy year.

Dr. Bernd Köhler
(Chief Executive Officer)
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EXECUTIVE BORD OF PHOENIX SOLAR AG
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DR. MURRAY CAMERON
Founding memer of the 
company and member 
of the Executive Board since 
2003

Field of responsibility:
The Phoenix Activities in the 
USA and Asia

DR. BERND KÖHLER 
Chief Executive Officer since 
March 2013, Chief Financial 
Officer since 1 January 2012

Field of responsibility: 
Strategy, Marketing and 
Communication, Finances, 
Law and Administration 

OLAf LABER 
Member of the Executive Board 
since 1 January 2014

Field of responsibility: 
The Phoenix Activities in 
Europe and the Middle East as 
well as New Business Models
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The Supervisory Board herewith submits its report to the regular General Meeting of Shareholders, in 
particular on its supervision of management during the year under review, on its audit of the company‘s 
financial statements and management report drawn up as at 31 December 2013 pursuant to the provi-
sions of the German Commercial Code (HGB), as well as on the consolidated financial statements and 
report on the Group, and on its statement on the report of the independent auditor.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

In the reporting year, the Supervisory Board held six regular meetings, including one extraordinary meet-
ing and two closed-door sessions. In doing so, it exercised the tasks incumbent upon it under the law, the 
Articles of Association and the bylaws. Owing to the changing situation of the company, the Supervisory 
Board kept abreast of the development of ongoing restructuring and the pertinent measures taken in 
an additional ten meetings conducted via telephone. If required, resolutions were also passed in these 
meetings. In exceptional cases, voting was made by way of circulation procedure. No member of the 
Supervisory Board took part in less than half of the meetings.

The Supervisory Board consists of the following three members: Mr. J. Michael Fischl (Chairman), Prof. 
Dr. Thomas Zinser (Vice Chairman) and Mr. Oliver Gosemann. The requirements placed on independent 
financial experts within the meaning of Section 100 para. 5 of the German Stock Corporation Act (finan-
cial expert) were and are fulfilled by Prof. Dr. Thomas Zinser who is a full-time tax adviser by profession.

No committees were formed in the period under review.

In accordance with the resolution passed by the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on 6 June 
2013, the Chairman of the Supervisory Board mandated Munich-based PricewaterhouseCoopers Aktien-
gesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft on 28 December 2013 in observance of Section 111 para. 2 
sentence 3 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) with the audit of the separate annual financial 
statements and the management report on the company, drawn up pursuant to Section 315a of the Ger-
man Commercial Code (HGB), and the consolidated financial statements and Group management report 
prepared under IFRS/IAS standards. The external auditor submitted an Auditor’s Independence Declara-
tion in accordance with Code Item 7.2.1 of the German Corporate Governance Code, the correctness of 
which the Supervisory Board does not doubt.

On 26 March 2014, the Supervisory Board consulted with the Executive Board and agreed on the Corpo-
rate Governance Report in accordance with the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance 
Code in the version dated 15 May 2012 (published in the German Electronic Federal Gazette on 15 June 
2012) and in the version dated 13 May 2013 (published in the German Electronic Federal Gazette on 10 
June 2013) pursuant to Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act. The Declaration of Conformity 
was published in accordance with statutory provisions. The full Corporate Governance Report with the 
Declaration of Conformity is part of the Annual Report.

The Supervisory Board reviews the efficiency of its work on an ongoing basis. The key areas of this review 
are the structuring and organisation of the meetings, optimising reporting by the Executive Board and 
passing resolutions on agenda items, as well as the presentation of the financial and earnings position of 
the company. The members of the Supervisory Board took part in external continuous professional deve-
lopment over the course of the year with a view to optimising their expert qualifications.

REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORy BOARD
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REPORT ON THE SUPERVISION OF THE COMPANy‘S MANAGEMENT By THE SUPERVISORy
BOARD DURING THE REPORTING yEAR

The Supervisory Board held regular meetings, deliberated intensively on the items on the agenda, and 
actively analysed the development of the company and the situation in the sector. The Supervisory Board 
advised the Executive Board in the management of the company and supervised the latter‘s activities. 
The supervision of the company‘s management is conducted first and foremost through the receipt of 
regular written and oral reports by the Executive Board and the discussion of these reports. The Executive 
Board reported in a timely fashion on the course of business, the strategic development and the current 
situation of the company and the Group. In addition to the Supervisory Board meetings, the Chairman 
of the Supervisory Board maintained constant contact with the Chairman of the Executive Board and the 
Chief Financial Officer, and kept himself informed of the current status of business, progress made with 
restructuring, and individual business transactions.

Owing to the persistently difficult situation of the company at the start of 2013, restructuring consultants 
partly attended the meetings in order to report on the status of investigations, the main content of the re-
structuring appraisal and its revision, and the stage reached in implementation. Furthermore, the Super-
visory Board kept itself informed of the progress made in restructuring and discussions with the financing 
consortium through monthly telephone conferences with the Executive Board.

The Supervisory Board was therefore involved in a timely fashion in all decisions of key significance for the 
company and the Group.

The supervisory and advisory activity in the period covered by this report focused on the following issues:

•	 consolidation through sustainable restructuring to secure the company as a going concern, in coope-
ration with the restructuring consultant, 

•	 discussion of and preparation for further steps in the event of unsuccessful consolidation and/or discus-
sions with banks,

•	 matters affecting taxation, particularly in connection with subsidiaries,
•	 reduction in personnel while taking the aspect of securing the company‘s competitiveness into consi-

deration,
•	 concept for a viable market development and sales strategy,
•	 assessment of the consequences of the political discussion on curtailing feed-in tariffs in key regions, 

such as Germany, southern and southeast Europe as well as in the USA for the company‘s business 
policy,

•	 analysis of alternatives and/or supplementary business segments to reduce the risk of strong depen-
dence on political decisions,

•	 discussion on changes at Executives Board level and the allocation of the New Business Models remit as 
well as the regions of Germany, Europe and the Middle East at Executive Board level,

•	 receipt and discussion of the Executive Board reports pursuant to Section 90 of the German Stock Cor-
poration Act on the liquidity and financial position, the business policy envisaged, and other fundamen-
tal issues pertaining to corporate planning (in particular finance, investment and personnel planning), 

•	 monitoring the development of the internal control system (risk monitoring and early warning system 
pursuant to Section 91 para. 2 of the German Stock Corporation Act) and the information obtained 
on this basis,

•	 receipt and discussion of the newly established basis of the Compliance Management System and the 
requisite reporting,

•	 receipt and discussion of reports submitted by Internal Audit,
•	 monitoring the stock market value of the company,
•	 discussion of the stage of development reached by the individual business segments and the subsid-

iaries,
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•	 review and discussion of significant contractual problems and projects,
•	 addressing the content of the German Corporate Governance Code,
•	 contractual rules and regulations and changes at Executive Board level in the process of realigning the 

company’s sales.

The Supervisory Board agreed to the Executive Board‘s proposals for decision following extensive analysis 
and discussion. In the case of measures subject to approval by the Supervisory Board, the main topics 
were as follows:
•	 personnel reduction in the centralised units and to some extent in the European subsidiaries,
•	 building up of the sales organisation in the existing core markets, particularly in the USA,
•	 development of a new sales concepts, 
•	 allocation of responsibilities at Executive Board level,
•	 corporate planning for the Group,
•	 execution of and participation in major projects,
•	 strategic realignment of Phoenix Solar AG,
•	 restructuring in relation to the US subsidiary Phoenix Solar Inc. in accordance with company law.

Conflicts of interest in respect of the members of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board which 
must be reported without delay to the Supervisory Board and of which the Annual General Meeting of 
Shareholders should be informed did not arise.

CHANGES AT EXECUTIVE BOARD LEVEL

In the reporting period, there were the following changes at Executive Board level: 

Dr. Andreas Hänel withdrew from the company‘s Executive Board on 28 February 2013 in the course of 
the ongoing restructuring of the company and its concentration on international business and the discon-
tinuation of significant business activities in Germany. 

The Supervisory Board appointed Dr. Bernd Köhler to the position of Chief Executive Officer with effect 
from 1 March 2013. In addition, Dr. Köhler assumed the duties of Chief Financial Officer.

Mr. Olaf Laber was appointed a member of the Executive Board on 1 January 2014. Mr. Laber is in charge 
of the New Business Models Department as well as the regions of Germany, Europe and the Middle East.

REPORT By THE SUPERVISORy BOARD ON THE AUDIT OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS OF THE COMPANy AND THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The members of the Supervisory Board took receipt of the following in good time before the Board’s 
meeting during which the financial statements were adopted: 

•	 the annual financial statements for the financial year 2013,
•	 the report of the Executive Board on the situation of the company in 2013,
•	 the consolidated financial statements 2013 prepared in accordance with IFRS/IAS standards,
•	 the report of the Executive Board on the situation of the Group in 2013. 

The separate financial statements and the management report on the company as well as the consolida-
ted financial statements and the report on the Group were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers Aktien-
gesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft. The audits did not give rise to any objections; unqualified 
auditor’s opinions were issued.
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The Supervisory Board deliberated on and examined the annual financial statements and management 
reports in its meeting on 26 March 2014 – also attended by the Executive Board which explained the 
accounts it had prepared – and held intensive and detailed discussions with the independent auditor who 
also participated in the meeting and reported on the key findings, as well as the key areas and scope of 
the audit, and was available for additional information. No major weaknesses in the internal control and 
risk management system pertaining to the accounting process were ascertained. 

The Supervisory Board had the independent auditor report in detail and confirm that 
•	 all components of financial accounting as well as the annual financial statements based on this account-

ing were systematically correct, 
•	 the processes for achieving a complete, accurate, timely and proper capturing, processing and record-

ing of accounting data have been duly set in place,
•	 the system of documentation is well organised, and each individual business transaction can be traced 

through to its presentation in the annual financial statements and back again,
•	 the substantiation of the underlying assets and liabilities show that they accord with the carrying 

amounts disclosed,
•	 the contract register used for the assessment of pending transactions and the notes to the financial 

statements give the impression of being transparent and complete,
•	 the statutory provisions on recognition, disclosure and measurement were complied with and the an-

nual financial statements give an accurate picture of the net assets, financial position and result of 
operations of the company.

The Supervisory Board declared its agreement with the findings of the audit conducted by the indepen-
dent auditor. Following the concluding results of its examination, the Supervisory Board ascertained that 
there were no objections to be raised.

The Supervisory Board ratified the annual financial statements prepared by the Executive Board for the 
company, which are hereby adopted. The Supervisory Board also ratified the consolidated financial state-
ments. 
 
In its meeting on 26 March 2014, following consultation with the independent auditor pursuant to Sec-
tion 171 para. 2 of the German Stock Corporation Act, the Supervisory Board issued the following state-
ment on the independent auditor’s report: 
 
“Based on its own examination, the Supervisory Board accedes to the results of the audit carried out on 
the annual financial statements and the Management Report for 2013 at company level and at Group 
level by the independent auditor who has issued an unqualified audit opinions. Following the final result 
of the examination by the Supervisory Board, no objections were raised. Accordingly, the separate an-
nual financial statements as at 31 December 2013 are ratified by the Supervisory Board in its meeting on  
26 March 2014, and are thereby adopted. Moreover, the Supervisory Board also ratifies the consolidated 
financial statements as at 31 December 2013.”
 

Sulzemoos, 26 March 2014

J. Michael Fischl
(Chairman of the Supervisory Board) 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

IMPLEMENTATION OF THE GERMAN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of Phoenix Solar AG again dealt extensively with the re-
commendations of the “Government Commission on the German Corporate Governance Code” (GCGC). 

The recommendations and important suggestions have been implemented, with only a few exceptions. 
Departures from the recommendations are described in the Declaration of Conformity and the reasons 
given. All declarations of conformity submitted to date have been made permanently available on the 
website of Phoenix Solar AG.

DIVERSITy AND EqUAL OPPORTUNITy AT PHOENIX SOLAR AG

As a company with increasingly international operations, Phoenix Solar is giving greater attention to the 
issue of diversity. We view diversity and equal opportunity as fundamental principles in our working en-
vironment. In 2013, employees from 17 different countries were working in the group of Phoenix Solar 
AG. Of the total workforce numbering 124 employees (excluding Executive Board members, trainees and 
temporary staff), 33.1 percent were women; at year-end, the proportion of women holding second level 
managerial positions stood at 35.3 percent.

EXPERTISE OF THE SUPERVISORy BOARD

The Supervisory Board regularly holds a closed-door session to analyse the expert and personal prerequis-
ites necessary for the fulfilling of its tasks based on an extensive review of the status quo. These prerequis-
ites are then measured against an analysis of the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats (SWOT 
analysis) of the potential embodied by the Supervisory Board. This forms the basis for the continuous 
professional development of the respective persons and for succession planning. 

The manifold responsibilities and tasks of the Supervisory Board (e.g. finance, law, marketing and expert-
ise regarding photovoltaic, management of international companies, corporate and project financing, 
personnel management) are in essence represented by the focus of expertise of its individual members. 
Beyond this, interpersonal skills are to be considered in the selection of members, alongside professional 
competence.

016
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OBJECTIVES FOR THE COMPOSITION OF THE SUPERVISORy BOARD

The Supervisory Board of Phoenix Solar AG comprises three members in total who are elected by the 
Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.

In view of the special challenges inherent in the business activities of Phoenix Solar AG, the growing share 
of international business and the size of the company and the Group, the Supervisory Board rescinded 
the resolution valid since 26 January 2011 by way of resolution on 20 February 2014 and determined the 
following objectives regarding the future composition of the Board:

•	 At least one member of the Supervisory Board shall in particular embody the criterion of international-
ity, either through being a foreign national and/or through having significant international experience.

•	 Moreover, the members of the Supervisory Board should be independent.
•	 The Supervisory Board strives to achieve an optimal composition based on professional criteria and the 

company’s situation. The requirements profiles determined in this process will be applied to potential 
candidates irrespective of their sex and, in the case of equal qualifications and experience, women will 
be given preference. Owing to the small number of Supervisory Board members no quotas have cur-
rently been ascertained for specific criteria pertaining to diversity. 

•	 The forming of committees has been dispensed with in view of the small number of Supervisory Board 
members and the already swift decision channels in place.

•	 The age limit for members of the Supervisory Board is 67.

In Oliver Gosemann, the Supervisory Board has a member with extensive international entrepreneurial 
experience. The criterion of internationality is therefore fulfilled. The Supervisory Board is currently made 
up exclusively of independent members. None of these members maintain a personal or business relati-
onship with the company, its committees, a controlling shareholder, or an affiliate associated with such 
a shareholder, that could constitute a material and not merely temporary conflict of interest, nor do they 
exercise a consultancy or committee function at customers, suppliers, lenders or other third parties. No 
member of the Supervisory Board has currently reached or exceeded the age limit of 67 years. At present 
there are no women on the Supervisory Board.

The Supervisory Board will take account of the aforementioned goals in its composition in future nomin-
ations.

OPPORTUNITy AND RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL SySTEM

Entrepreneurial activity harbours risk. One of these risks arises from opportunities not being utilised. It is 
therefore our responsibility to optimise the exploitation of opportunities for the company while keeping 
risks to a minimum. Phoenix Solar AG has therefore installed risk management as a permanent process 
spanning all areas of the company to identify, assess, manage and control risks that have arisen. Beyond 
risks to the company as a going concern, activities, events and developments that could have a significant 
impact on the success of the company‘s business in the future are also encompassed. The goals, pro-
cesses and distribution of tasks within the scope of the risk management system are documented in the 
company’s risk management manual.
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Phoenix Solar AG has a clear management and organisation structure within which key functions across 
all areas of the company are managed centrally. In respect of finance and financial reporting, integrity 
and responsibility are inherent in compliance with the valid guidelines on accounting and other directives 
relevant to the accounting process. These are binding on all parties involved in this process.

The internal control and risk management system ensures that, with respect to the process of (Group) 
accounting, entrepreneurial transactions are properly captured and accounted for and correctly mapped 
in the accounting system. Suitable staffing, the use of appropriate software, clear statutory provisions, 
internal instructions and guidelines form the basis for a due and proper, uniform and continuous account-
ing process.

SHAREHOLDINGS AND DIRECTORS‘ DEALINGS 

Notifications on the securities transactions of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board in the shares 
of Phoenix Solar AG within the meaning of Section 15a (Directors’ Dealings) of the German Securities 
Trading Act (WpHG) can be viewed in the business register. These notifications have also been posted 
on the company’s website at http://www.phoenixsolar-group.com/en.html and listed under “Directors’ 
Dealings” in an updated form and are accessible for the space of one month. 

In the financial year 2013, a number of individual reportable transactions within the meaning of Section 
15a of the German Securities Trading Act were carried out by one Supervisory Board member. Not repor-
table pursuant to Section 15a of the German Securities Trading Act are the purchase or sale of the shares 
of Phoenix Solar AG if the sum total of transactions carried out by an individual member of the Executive 
Board of the Supervisory Board, or a person related to them, does not reach or exceed an amount of  
EUR 5,000. 

As of 31 December 2013, shares in the company held by Executive Board and Supervisory Board mem-
bers or financial instruments linked to the shares, both directly and indirectly, amounted to less than one 
percent of the shares issued by the company. 

REMUNERATION REPORT

The details of the remuneration system of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board, as well as item-
ised remuneration, are included under Section 12 of the Management Report. 

018
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STATEMENT ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PURSUANT TO SECTION 289A 
OF THE GERMAN COMMERCIAL CODE (HGB) 
with the Declaration of Conformity by the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of Phoenix Solar AG in 
respect of the German Corporate Governance Code pursuant to Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation 
Act (AktG) 

Pursuant to Section 289a of the German Commercial Code (HGB), Phoenix Solar AG has included a 
Statement on Corporate Governance in its management report which appears in a dedicated section. 
The Statement can also be made accessible to the public on the company’s website. In this case, a cor-
responding reference consisting of a link to the web page is to be included in the management report. 

RELEVANT CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Corporate governance at Phoenix Solar AG as a listed German stock corporation is determined first and 
foremost by the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and other statutory provisions under German 
commercial and company law. 

In addition, the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board have adopted the recommendations of the 
“Government Commission of the German Corporate Governance Code”, in as much as no departure 
from the Code has been disclosed in the Declaration of Conformity. The company’s Declaration of Con-
formity has been made accessible on the company’s website. The German Corporate Governance Code 
can be accessed on the website of the Government Commission of the German Corporate Governance 
Code under http://www.corporate-governance-code.de/index-e.html.

WORKING PRACTICES OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD AND THE SUPERVISORy BOARD AS WELL AS
COMPOSITION AND WORKING PRACTICES OF THEIR COMMITTEES

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board constitute the dual board system of management and 
control of Phoenix Solar AG. They work closely together to ensure responsible opportunity and risk man-
agement with the aim of raising the enterprise value on a sustainable basis. In this task, the two functions 
of “management” and “supervision” are segregated.

The members of the Executive Board manage the company under their own responsibility and coopera-
tively. The basis for their cooperation are a set of bylaws. The Executive Board develops the corporate 
strategy and decides on measures for its implementation at the operational level. A clear allocation of 
tasks which accords with the schedule of responsibilities determines the competences of the individual 
members of the Executive Board. The entire Executive Board decides on all significant measures.

The members of the Executive Board keep each other informed and report to one another on such meas-
ures. The Chairman of the Executive Board coordinates the areas of responsibility of the Executive Board 
and the observance of reporting duties and is to be kept informed by the other Executive Board members 
about all matters of importance. 

The Executive Board generally makes decisions in meetings which the Chairman of the Executive Board 
convenes and chairs. Any member of the Executive Board may request that resolutions are also passed 
outside meetings in accordance with the bylaws. The Executive Board has a quorum when all members 
have been invited and at least half of the members are present. The Executive Board takes decisions by 
way of a simple majority of the votes cast in meetings and, outside meetings, by a simple majority of its 
members.
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The Executive Board informs the Supervisory Board regularly within an appropriate period of time and ex-
tensively about all issues pertaining to the development of business, the strategy and planning, risk man-
agement and compliance with laws and defined codes of conduct. The Supervisory Board is informed 
immediately in the event of important occurrences which could exert a major impact on the company. 
Significant measures require approval by the Supervisory Board in accordance with the details laid down 
in the bylaws.

The Executive Board is responsible for ensuring that the statutory provisions and rules and guidelines valid 
within the company are abided by and works towards compliance through the Group companies. To 
this end, as well as with a view to observing and disseminating high ethical standards at Phoenix Solar, 
it overhauled the uniform compliance organisation binding on the entire Group in the reporting year. 
The compliance organisation reflects the changed positioning of the Group and encompasses a clearly 
structured set of guidelines and reporting procedures. It was approved by the Executive Board and the 
managers and communicated to the employees.

The Executive Board has not formed any committees.

The Supervisory Board, which consists of three members, supervises and advises the Executive Board in 
the management of the company. The Supervisory Board has established a set of bylaws as the basis for 
collaboration. The Supervisory Board agrees the strategy developed by the Executive Board and keeps 
itself informed about the status of strategy implementation, the financial and investment planning of 
the next financial year and medium-term planning. Outside the regular meetings, the Chairman of the 
Supervisory Board engages in ongoing dialogue with the Chairman of the Executive Board on the issues 
of strategy, business development, the financial, liquidity and risk situation as well as risk management 
and compliance.

The Supervisory Board meets at least once every calendar quarter. The meetings of the Supervisory Board 
are convened and chaired by the Chairman or, in his absence, by his representative in accordance with the 
bylaws. If an item on the agenda has not been properly announced, it may be put to resolution only if no 
member of the Supervisory Board objects prior to the process of resolution. Decisions of the Supervisory 
Board are regularly taken in meetings and, in accordance with the details laid down under bylaws, also 
outside a meeting. The Supervisory Board has a quorum if at least three members participate in decision 
making, and adopts resolutions by a simple majority.

The Supervisory Board has not formed any committees.
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JOINT DECLARATION OF CONFORMITy DATED 26 MARCH 2014

The company’s Executive Board and the Supervisory Board recently issued the following Declaration of 
Conformity in accordance with Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG):

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board of Phoenix Solar AG herewith declare that, since the last 
Declaration of Conformity dated 27 March 2013, the recommendations of the “Government Commis-
sion of the German Corporate Governance Code” in the version dated 15 May 2012 (published in the 
German Electronic Federal Gazette on 15 June 2012), were complied with and that the version dated  
13 May 2013 (published in the German Electronic Federal Gazette on 10 June 2013) is complied with,  
with the following exceptions:

CHANGING PERFORMANCE TARGETS OR THE COMPARISON PARAMETERS RETROACTIVELy
SHALL BE EXCLUDED IN THE VARIABLE COMPENSATION COMPONENTS. (in accordance with Code Item 4.2.3)

In a market environment characterised by a dynamic pace of development, it may be expedient and 
justifiable from the standpoint of the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board to retroactively adjust 
the performance targets or the comparison parameters for variable compensation components in sub-
stantiated cases.
 
OBJECTIVES FOR THE COMPOSITION OF THE SUPERVISORy BOARD (in accordance with Code Item 5.4.1)

The Supervisory Board determines objectives for its composition and publishes them, reporting on the 
status of their implementation in the corporate governance report. Given the size of the Board, however, 
the objectives do not provide for ascertaining quotas for certain diversity criteria. 

Sulzemoos, 26 March 2014
Phoenix Solar Aktiengesellschaft

On behalf of the Executive Board On behalf of the Supervisory Board
Dr. Bernd Köhler  J. Michael fischl
(Chairman of the Executive Board) (Chairman of the Supervisory Board)
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STOCK MARKET ENVIRONMENT

Most international stock markets continued their strong uptrend over the course of 2013. International 
crises, such as the civil war in Syria, did not have a sustained braking impact on the uptrend either. Given 
the largely unspectacular profit trend of heavyweight companies, doubts about economic development 
and the persistent sovereign debt crisis in Europe, the buying propensity of investors continued to be 
chiefly attributable to the liquidity surplus generated by the central banks. The budget dispute in the USA 
at the end of the third and at the beginning of the fourth quarter put an only temporary damper on the 
development.

As Germany’s leading index, the DAX opened the new year’s trading at 7,689 points , then rose steadily, 
albeit with partly strong fluctuations, and, having broken through the 9,000 point mark for the first time 
at the end of October, climbed swiftly from record high to the next. It closed the year at 9,552 points, thus 
gaining 24.2 percent over the year as a whole. Second-tier indices also scaled new heights towards the 
end of the year. The TecDAX began the year at 831 points and had climbed 40.4 percent to 1,098 points 
by the end of December.

Only at the beginning of 2014 did the optimism of most capital market participants begin to wane. Some 
market observers already see an end to the bull phase of several years, as opposed to others who hold fast 
to their ambitious expectations of a continued stock market uptrend.

The capital markets’ expectation of solar industry generally maintaining its position in the market and of 
photovoltaic becoming increasingly important as a source of energy in the future is also reflected by the 
performance of the sector’s Photovoltaic Global 30 index. Over the course of the year, the index reported 
its first growth since 2009. With an increase of 133 percent, it has more than doubled and continues its 
uptrend which set in at the start of 2014. The composition and the development of the sector’s index 
shows the increasing weighting of American and Asian equities as well as the growing significance of 
business models independent of government backing.

SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE

Over the course of 2013, the Phoenix SonnenAktie® (share of Phoenix Solar) more than quadrupled in 
value, thereby clearly outperforming the TecDAX and putting clear blue water between itself and other 
equities in the solar sector. This price trend manifested itself largely in the second half of the year. It can 
be interpreted as a response to good reports about the company as the summer months progressed. 
A number of capital market participants observed the strategic realignment of Phoenix Solar AG, an-
nounced in February and focusing on the growth regions of the USA and Asia, with interest albeit laced 
with initial reticence. The news of major contracts in Thailand in May and in the USA and Saudi Arabia in 
July provided sound evidence that the company was on the right track and encouraged some investors to 
build up positions in the Phoenix SonnenAktie®. On 8 August 2013, we also reported that Phoenix Solar 
had generated a profit at the EBIT level for the first time in a very long while. 

In response, the number of enquiries by investors, analysts and journalists picked up notable momentum. 
High-circulation German financial newspapers included Phoenix Solar in their model portfolios. Confe-
rences in London, Frankfurt and Munich elicited interest in one-to-one meetings with the Chief Executive 
Officer that was as brisk as that shown at the industry’s Solar Power International trade fair in Chicago.

PHOENIX SONNENAKTIE®
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Against this backdrop, the share price developed well, though partly with a great deal of volatility, through 
to the middle of the fourth quarter. In the third quarter, the share rose by 150 percent, from EUR 1.47 on 
28 June 2013 to EUR 3.67 on 30 September 2013. At the start of October, the price continued to rise. As of 
1 October, the Phoenix SonnenAktie® had advanced by 22.8 percent, accompanied by brisk turnover, and 
was quoted at EUR 5.40 on 2 October. On this day alone, around 1.2 million shares changed hands, which 
is more than one seventh of the company’s whole equity portfolio. The share price dipped to EUR 3.91 
before the end of October (XETRA closing price on 15 October 2013) and subsequently recovered again. 
Through to the start of November, there was another surge in the share price, accompanied by high 
turnover levels, driving it to its peak of EUR 6.50 (XETRA closing price on 4 November 2013. During the 
course of the day, the share price even exceeded the EUR 7.00 mark but was subsequently unable main-
tain this level. The price of the Phoenix SonnenAktie® underwent corrections in November and December 
while displaying a great deal of volatility and returning to lower turnover volumes, and closed at EUR 4.70 
on 30 December 2013. This disparate and volatile trend persisted at the start of 2014 as well. Whereas, on 
the one hand, a sideways movement or correction was to be expected for the share of Phoenix Solar AG 
following its leaps and bounds in 2013, on the other, the generally weaker performance of the equities 
markets in and since January 2014 has had a noticeable effect.

As already announced, we have committed to the task of stepping up our capital market communication 
to flank our continued business success. This will involve putting the interest of capital market participants 
in the Phoenix SonnenAktie® on a broader footing again and fostering the understanding that Phoenix 
Solar AG has embarked on its own special path within the solar industry, with its financing basis secured 
through to March 2015, along with its focus on international growth regions and new business models, 
and that it is working on consistently using the opportunities arising on the path towards profitable 
growth.

The market capitalisation of Phoenix Solar AG stood at EUR 34.7 million on 31 December 2013 (31 De-
cember 2012: EUR 7.7 million). In terms of its trading volume (XETRA), the share’s daily turnover averaged 
around 55,900 units in the financial year 2013 (2012: around 37,500 units).

Lowest price (19/04/2013): 1.127 €
Highest price (04/11/2013): 6.50 €
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS 

The fifteenth regular Annual General Meeting of the shareholders of Phoenix Solar AG took place on  
6 June 2013 in Fuerstenfeldbruck. All items on the agenda were approved with majorities of more than 
90 percent. Presence during the casting of votes came to 9.74 percent of the voting share capital of  
EUR 7,372,700. Owing to the losses incurred, no dividend was paid for the financial year 2012.

The company will not be paying dividend for the financial year 2013 either for the same reason. A return to 
the investor-oriented dividend policy practised in previous years depends on how the company’s business 
develops in the coming years.

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE

At present, no shareholders who hold more than 3 percent of the shares in Phoenix Solar AG are known. 
As of 31 December 2013, the Executive Board and the Supervisory Board held 0.95 percent of the shares. 
According to the definition of Deutsche Börse AG 100 percent of the shares in Phoenix Solar AG are in 
free float.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Capital market communication in the financial year 2013 focused on the strategic realignment of the 
Group, concluded in February, which the Executive Board explained to financial analysts in a telephone 
conference held on 13 February 2013, and ongoing reporting on the activities of the international sub-
sidiaries. 

The Chief Executive Officer took part in an international conference in London at the end of September 
during which a series of one-to-one discussions were held. October saw further discussions with individual 
US investors at the Solar Power International trade show in Chicago. 

The Chief Executive Officer gave presentations on the company at the Equity Forum of Deutsche Börse 
AG and at the Munich Capital Market Conference in November and December. He also took part in an 
investor round table in Munich.

At the beginning of 2014, Close Brothers Seydler AG took over the role of designated sponsor of the share 
of Phoenix Solar AG, which marked the end to the cooperation with HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt AG in 
supporting trading.

The company’s Financial Calendar 2014 has been posted on its website under the “Investor Relations” 
heading and is regularly updated.



PHOENIX SOLAR AG | ANNuAL REPORt 2013 PHOENIX SONNENAKTIE® 025

Share fact sheet

International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) DE000A0BVU93

Securities identification number (sec. ident. no.) A0BVU9

Symbol PS4

Class of shares No-par bearer shares

Number of shares as per 30/06/2011 7,372,700 units  

Share capital on 30/06/2011  € 7,372,700 

Transparency level Prime Standard 

Market segment Regulated Market

Stock exchanges  XETRA, Frankfurt am Main (Prime Standard), Munich (M:access), 
  Stuttgart, Berlin, Düsseldorf, Hamburg, Hanover

Sector/sub-sector Industrial Products & Services/Renewable Energies

Indices CDAX, Prime All Share, Technology All Share, various sector and
  sub-sector indices of Deutsche Börse AG

End of the financial year 31 December

Accounting standards IFRS

Commencement of stock market listing  18/11/2004

Designated Sponsor HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt AG (up until 31/12/2013)

  Close Brothers Seydler AG (since 01/01/2014)

Key Figures

  Q1 2013 Q2 2013 Q3 2013 Q4 2013   2012

Number of shares1 Units 7,372,700 7,372,700 7,372,700 7,372,700 7,372,700 7,372,700

Market capitalisation1 € 10,100,599 10,837,869 27,020,946 34,651,690 7,741,335

Closing price  (Xetra) € 1.47 3.67 4.70 4.70 1.05

Highest price € 1.69 1.52 3.67 6.50 3.53

Lowest price € 1.04 1.13 1.37 3.91 0.63

Trading volume Units 2,388,259 918,163 3,476,434 7,296,914 15,191,048

 € 3,180,894 1,281,507 9,631,163 37,047,264 23,744,573

Earnings per share4 €2 – 0.82 – 1.02 – 1.01 – 1.45 – 5.06

 €3 – 0.82 – 1.02 – 1.01 – 1.45 – 5.06

1 At the end of the period 2 Basic earnings per share 3 Diluted earnings per share 4 Aggregated across the quarters 

2013

7,372,700

34,651,690

4.70

6.50

1.04

14,079,770

51,140,828

– 1.45

– 1.45

ANALyST COVERAGE

The entire solar industry has not elicited the interest of research units since the crisis years of 2011 and 
2012. Despite the substantial increase in market capitalisation in the financial year 2013, only one analyst 
currently regularly covers the Phoenix Sonnenaktie®. On 15 November 2013, Close Brothers Seydler pub-
lished an update with a “hold” rating and a share price target of EUR 5.80.
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HIGHLIGHTS

JANUARy

Festive inauguration 1: Our US subsidiary builds a power plant with an output of 9.5 MWp for the Volks-
wagen factory in Chattanooga, Tennessee.

Festive inauguration 2: January also sees our first power plant in the Arab world inaugurated on the site of 
King Abdullah Petroleum Studies and Research Center. 

FEBRUARy

Strategic realignment: Phoenix Solar concentrates on the growth regions of the USA and Asia. The trading 
and project business which had formerly been managed from Germany is discontinued in its previous 
form. Operation and maintenance services continue to be provided, as before; work on developing new 
business models independent of government subsidies begins.

MARCH

Following the withdrawal of Dr Andreas Hänel, founder and long-standing Chief Executive Officer, from 
the company at the end of February, Dr. Bernd Köhler takes up the office of Chief Executive Officer as 
from 1 March 2014.

APRIL

Major contract 1: Our Singapore subsidiary announces that, with financing arranged by the customer, 
the project already under way to build three solar power plants with a total output of 36 MWp has been 
secured.

JUNE

Innovation: Phoenix Solar builds a floating photovoltaic plant in Singapore. The test-bed project is to 
explore whether the use of this type of installation on water is advantageous and environmentally com-
patible. 

THE yEAR 2013
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JULy

Major contract 2: Our US subsidiary builds a solar power plant in Georgia with an output of 38.6 MWp, 
making it the largest contract in the history of the company.

Follow-up contract from Saudi Arabia: Phoenix Solar adds another 1.8 MWp to the photovoltaic power 
plant on the premises of KAPSARC in Riad, Saudi Arabia. The decision is taken to step up activities in the 
Middle East.

SEPTEMBER

Flagship project in Singapore: We build the largest photovoltaic power plant to date in Singapore for a 
trading company and equip the prestigious new Sports Hub with a sophisticated rooftop power plant.

OKTOBER

Awards ceremony at the Singapore solar trade show: Phoenix Solar wins three of a total of five awards 
conferred for innovative and sustainable projects and products.

NOVEMBER

New contract won in the Middle East: Phoenix Solar builds Jordan’s largest photovoltaic power plant to 
date to supply electricity to a new residential community to be built in the south of the country.

DECEMBER

With a view to promoting the company’s growth path, the Supervisory Board appoints Olaf Laber to the 
Executive Board of Phoenix Solar AG with effect from 1 January 2014.
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1 EVENTS AND RESULTS IN THE FINANCIAL yEAR 2013

In the financial year 2013, Phoenix Solar AG achieved consolidated revenues of EUR 141.2 million reflect-
ing decline of 9.1 percent in a year-on-year comparison. Nonetheless, earnings before interest and taxes 
(EBIT), which posted EUR - 1.4 million, increased significantly compared with the previous year (EBIT 
2012: EUR - 31.8 million). This result also includes the cost of the last restructuring phase amounting 
to EUR 1.9 million. The consolidated net result for the period earmarked for the shareholders stood at  
EUR - 10.7 million (2012: EUR - 37.3 million). The loss per share posted EUR 1.45 (2012: EUR 5.06).

This positive development is due to far-reaching changes decided over the course of the financial year 
which were initiated and successfully implemented. In February 2013, the decision was taken to funda-
mentally realign the corporate strategy, a process which has been meanwhile completed. Phoenix Solar 
AG divested itself of loss-making divisions operating in markets where a quick recovery was not anticipa-
ted owing to ongoing changes, also in terms of the regulatory environment. This decision also affected 
the trading and project business managed from Germany which was discontinued in its current form. 
Alongside the trading and project activities of its  international subsidiaries, Phoenix Solar has retained 
the profitable business of operating and maintaining solar power plants, run from its Ulm location, and is 
focusing on developing new business models for project and trading activities.

After many years of successful service to the company, Dr. Andreas Hänel resigned from the Executive 
Board on 11 February 2013, prior to the end of his term of office effective 28 February 2013. As a founding 
Board member, he brought Phoenix Solar AG to the stock exchange in 2004; the shares of the company 
were listed on the TecDAX from 2008 until 2011. Dr. Hänel headed up the company with great dedica-
tion, also during the difficult phase of restructuring. At the same time, the Supervisory Board appointed 
Dr. Bernd Köhler to the position of Chief Executive Officer, effective 1 March 2013. 

Similar to the restructuring measures in 2012, this strategic realignment was flanked by consistent imple-
mentation management. Weekly in-depth discussions and monthly steering committee meetings sup-
ported the timely realisation of the necessary measures and ensured that the managers and employees 
involved were extensively informed. This restructuring programme focused solely on the German loca-
tions and has the following key components:

•	 Personnel adjustment: The aim was to reduce the number of employees in Germany to around 35. 
The respective measures have been completed.

•	 Downsizing processes and office space: Part of the process of terminating the project and training 
activities operated from Germany in their previous form and the associated capacity adjustments in-
volved adapting processes, abolishing or redesigning them to a great extent. At the same time, the 
office space required was more than halved. The activities entailed by these measures and contractual 
negotiations have been concluded.

•	 Winding down the project and trading business: The business of the segments still operated in their 
previous form was settled, controlled and wound down with the satisfaction of our customers in mind. 
All the necessary measures have been finalised. 

•	 Adjusting of the commercial processes: The strategic realignment and, in particular, the focusing 
of operations on international markets necessitated changes to the commercial processes as well as 
corporate management and control. The requisite measures have been concluded, and the necessary 
instruments introduced.
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•	 New business models and volume growth, operation and maintenance services (O&M): In Ger-
many, the company will be focusing in future on new business models, both in the Power Plants seg-
ment and in the Components & Systems segment, which are virtually self-sufficient and do not rely 
on regulatory support. The current status in the development of the associated concepts is proceeding 
according to plan. The first sales activities were initiated in a pilot region. Ongoing implementation will 
be monitored in the context of normal operations management.

Since then operations have also been focused on the high-growth regions of Asia and the USA. Over the 
course of the second and third quarter, the subsidiaries in these regions reported new orders in a notable 
volume which made a major contribution to exceeding the company’s assumptions for earnings. The sub-
sidiary in Oman also won the contract for a follow-up project to be carried out jointly with the Singapore 
company. After careful consideration, this contract prompted us to retain our business in this region. By 
contrast, the business of the European subsidiaries was extremely slack owing to the difficult environment.

As before, the Group’s financing is assured via Phoenix Solar AG. The Group’s new strategic direction, 
aimed at enabling it to return swiftly to profitable growth, was discussed in depth and agreed with the fi-
nancing banks. The company signed an amendment to its existing loan agreement on 11 February 2013. 
Under this amendment, the overall financing volume was revised slightly downwards to around EUR  
126 million. The term of the financing was prematurely renewed for another year, from formerly 31 March 
2014 to 31 March 2015.

2 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

APPOINTMENT Of NEW MEMBER Of THE EXECUTIVE BOARD
In December 2013, the Supervisory Board appointed Olaf Laber to the Executive Board. He took up office 
on 1 January 2014 and has been responsible since then for New Business Models and Information Tech-
nologies as well as business in the regions of Germany, Europe and the Middle East.

INSOLVENCY fILING Of THE ITALIAN SUBSIDIARY
Owing to the particularly unfavourable economic and political framework conditions in Italy, the business 
of our local subsidiary increasingly lost momentum as the year 2013 progressed and, towards the turn of 
the year, came under increasing pressure. Against this backdrop, all facets of the situation and courses of 
action were carefully weighed up with the management of the subsidiary and finally, on 12 March 2014, 
insolvency proceedings were instituted. As a result, operating activities in Italy have ceased completely.

Assets and liabilities of the subsidiary are being accounted for at insolvency values in the Group financial 
statements.

This measure will not have any material impact on the Group’s earnings, financial and assets position.

REGROUPING Of THE US SUBSIDIARY
In January 2014, the subsidiary in the USA was transferred to Phoenix Solar America GmbH, a newly foun-
ded intermediate holding company. Alongside structural aspects, this measure was aimed at leveraging 
valuation reserves, thereby strengthening the equity base of Phoenix Solar AG.
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3 BACKGROUND INFORMATION ON THE GROUP

3.1 LEGAL STRUCTURE 

Phoenix Solar is a photovoltaic system integrator which operates on an international scale. The parent 
company Phoenix Solar AG was formed on 18 November 1999 and was registered in the Commercial 
Register of the Munich District Court under Record No. 129117 on 7 January 2000. As of 31 December 
2013, nine subsidiaries and twelve project companies were assigned to the parent company, all of which 
are fully consolidated in the consolidated financial statements of Phoenix Solar AG.

The principal place of business of Phoenix Solar AG is Sulzemoos near Munich. The central departments 
were managed from this location in the financial year 2013. 

Corporate Strategy & Business Development, Global Sales, Technology & Innovation, Marketing and  
Public Relations as well as quality Management were the responsibility of Dr. Andreas Hänel, the then 
Chief Executive Officer, until his departure from the company. Dr. Bernd Köhler, Chief Financial Officer, 
was responsible for Finance, Personnel & Organisational Development, International Process & IT Ma-
nagement, Controlling & Internal Audit, Investor Relations and Legal & Compliance as well as Procure-
ment and Logistics. Following the resignation of Dr. Andreas Hänel from the Executive Board, the central 
departments previously managed by him and still operational under the new business strategy were then 
assigned to Dr. Bernd Köhler, who was also appointed Chief Executive Officer. Dr. Murray Cameron heads 
up business activities in Asia and in the USA. He combines the positions of CEO and president of the US 
subsidiaries.

The Supervisory Board appointed Olaf Laber to the Executive Board with effect from 1 January 2014. 
Since then, Mr. Laber has been in charge of New Business Models and IT Management departments as 
well as for the business activities in Germany, Europe and the Middle East.

The shares of Phoenix Solar AG have been admitted for trading on the Frankfurt stock exchange since 
November 2004 and are listed in Prime Standard of Deutsche Börse AG. Detailed information on the stock 
market environment, the performance of Phoenix Solar’s share, our investor relations activities and key 
facts and figures on the share of Phoenix Solar AG can be found in the section entitled “Phoenix Sonnen- 
Aktie®” of this Annual Report.
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3.2 LOCATIONS

Phoenix Solar AG maintains an active presence in key photovoltaic markets through its subsidiaries and 
representative offices and offers its products and services on a worldwide basis. The company is currently 
represented on three continents through its operating subsidiaries. In Europe, it conducts business in 
Germany, France, Italy, Spain and Greece. The subsidiary in Singapore has served the fast-growing mar-
kets of Southeast Asia, including the Philippines and Thailand, for example, and coordinated the Group’s 
business in that region for the last seven years. The business activities of subsidiaries in Rome, Italy, were 
wound down in the first quarter of the financial year 2014.

Apart from the company’s headquarters in Sulzemoos near Munich, the Group maintains important loca-
tions in San Ramon, California (United States), Singapore, Lyon (France), Athens (Greece), Muskat (Oman), 
San Sebastián (Spain), Kuala Lumpur (Malaysia) and Ulm (Germany). 

3.3 BUSINESS SEGMENTS AND BUSINESS MODELS

As a photovoltaic system integrator with global operations, Phoenix Solar plans, builds and operates large 
photovoltaic power plants. It is also a specialised wholesaler of complete solar power systems, solar mo-
dules and accessories. This strategy is reflected in the operations of the Power Plants and Components & 
Systems segments. As a general rule, this division of business is also replicated in the subsidiaries, subject 
to local adjustments. The US subsidiary, for instance, has only been active in the project business so far. 
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Company locations (as of 31 December 2013)

Phoenix Solar AG,
Germany
(since November 1999)

Phoenix Solar Pte. Ltd.,
Singapore
(since December 2006)

Phoenix Solar E.P.E.,
Greece
(since June 2008)

Phoenix Solar Sdn Bhd,
Malaysia
(since September 2010)

Phoenix Solar S.L.,
Spain
(since April 2006)

Phoenix Solar SAS,
France
(since September 2009)

Phoenix Solar S.r.L.,
Italy
(since January 2006)

Phoenix Solar L.L.C.,
Oman
(since December 2009)

Phoenix Solar Inc.,
USA
(since September 2010)
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In addition to supplying individual components for photovoltaic plants, the Components & Systems seg-
ment also develops tailored system solutions, provides planning support and offers logistics and other 
services. The customers of this segment include resellers and installation companies. 

The range of products and services on offer in the Power Plants segment comprises the necessary plan-
ning services and the turnkey construction of photovoltaic systems, including their subsequent operation 
and maintenance. We supplement this range of products and services through other services, particularly 
in the USA. We also support our customers in coordinating, securing and realising the necessary finan-
cing, as well as in dealing with complex formal approval procedures. We have qualified and experienced 
employees at hand for these services as well. The Power Plants segment’s customers include small and 
large companies from trade, industry and commerce, alongside private individuals. Other target custo-
mers are institutional investors either seeking to set up investment fund models or to hold large-scale 
photovoltaic plants in their own portfolios.

This business model enables Phoenix Solar to cover all sizes of grid-connected photovoltaic systems, from 
rooftop systems with a small peak output of one kilowatt (kWp) mounted on private homes to large po-
wer plants of up to 50 MWp.

Since Phoenix Solar operates in the market as a manufacturer-independent photovoltaic systems inte-
grator, research and development are not core functions of the company; no research and development 
expenses are incurred at all, or to a very limited extent. 
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Business Model

COMPONENTS & SySTEMS (C&S)  SOLAR POWER PLANTS (SPP)

Wholesale trade in Photovoltaic-components Construction of turnkey solar power plants –

and complete systems  rooftop and ground-mounted

SERVICES  SERVICES

Advisory services  Advisory services  

Planning support  Planning support

Online partner site  Projekt development

Technical support  Implementation

Trainings  Operations and maintenance

CUSTOMERS  CUSTOMERS

Photovoltaic-Installers  Institutional and private Investors

Electrical wholesale  Industry, trade and commerce

  Municipalities and public-sector institutions

  Farmers

S Y S T E M  I N T E G R A T I O N  W O R L D W I D E  T H R O U G H  I N T E R N A T I O N A L  L O C A T I O N S
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As a manufacturer-independent systems supplier, Phoenix Solar is nevertheless at the cutting edge of 
technology at all times. Furthermore, it can tailor its offering of products and services to suit the specific 
requirements of individual customers and regularly adds new technologies and innovative products to 
its existing portfolio, thereby offering its customers optimal solutions at a good cost/benefit ratio. With 
this in mind, we screen the entire market in order to be able to offer our customers the best solutions at 
all times. 

In 2013, the Phoenix Solar Group fielded a broad-based product portfolio for photovoltaic systems of 
all dimensions, which allows us to respond flexibly to the individual requirements of our customers. Our 
range of products comprises in particular solar modules based on various different technologies. Phoenix 
Solar was therefore not dependent on a specific module technology but was able to offer photovoltaic 
systems designed to take account of customer needs and developments in the market.

One of the central services of the Phoenix Solar Group was provided by the operation and maintenance 
of photovoltaic power plants located in Ulm (Operation & Maintenance, O&M). O&M ensures seamless 
operation geared to maximising the return of power plants with an output of more than 200 MWp all 
over the world. Business is based primarily on long-term contracts with fixed conditions.

In 2013, great changes took place in the product and service portfolio, above all in the German market. 
Phoenix Solar ceased to develop its own Photovoltaic sub-structures. Instead a team of employees was 
entrusted with developing new business models and offerings to enable customers to realise substantial 
benefits from investing in photovoltaic independent of feed-in remuneration or other government-ba-
cked measures.

Since the end of 2013, a pilot phase of this offering has been running in a defined region. Our offering 
focuses on small, standardised Photovoltaic systems for the rooftops of private households installed by 
companies under contract at a fixed price. They have been designed to a size which allows customers to 
use most of the electricity they generate themselves, thereby significantly reducing their electricity costs. 
The systems amortise within a period of eight to ten years. Under this line of business which is allocated to 
the Components & Systems segment, we also address end customers directly for the first time.

3.4 EMPLOyEES

During the course of financial year 2013, the workforce of Phoenix Solar AG and the Group (excluding 
Executive Board members, but including temporary staff) was reduced from 228 to 120 employees. 
Taken as an annual average, 147 full-time positions were filled (2012: 256). The substantial decline was 
attributable first and foremost due to the decision taken in the first quarter to close the project and trading 
business in Germany in its form at that time. Personnel reduction was carried out on the basis of a recon-
ciliation of interests and redundancy plan agreed with employee representatives.

Relinquishing business in Germany as it was then, and the associated focus on the growth regions of the 
USA and Asia resulted a considerable increase in the share of employees in our international subsidiaries 
over the course of the year in comparison with the Group’s total workforce. As of 31 December 2013, 
around 59 percent of all employees were employed in the service of our subsidiaries (31 December 2012: 
around 26 percent).

In the financial year 2013, employees from 17 nations and all age groups with a wide variety of back-
grounds were working in the group of Phoenix Solar AG. Of the workforce, 33.1 percent (excluding  
Executive Board members, trainees and temporary staff) were women (2012: 32 percent); at the end 
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of the financial year 2013, the share of women holding second-level management positions stood at 
37.5 percent. At year-end 2013, four trainees were also employed by Phoenix Solar AG. Alongside the 
education and training of young people, we place importance on the development and training of our 
employees and offer the relevant programmes.

4 GENERAL CONDITIONS

In each of our individual markets, demand for our services depends to a great extent on whether private 
individuals or entities, the public sector and private companies are prepared to invest in photovoltaic 
systems. This willingness most certainly entails a political and ethical dimension. The desire to make a 
contribution to protecting the environment and resources by using renewable energies is a widespread 
motive. However, no concrete data is available on the form this takes and the influence it exerts in engen-
dering action.

It can generally be seen as one of the world’s greatest challenges, namely to secure a safe, affordable and 
sustainable supply of electricity for the world’s growing population or fundamentally to establish such a 
supply. Subsidies promoting electricity generation continued to climb in 2012. Electricity won from fossil 
fuels was subsidised in excess of EUR 540 billion across the world compared with governments investing 
funds of only around EUR 100 billion in promoting the expansion of renewable energies. 

Global demand for energy doubled over the period from 1990 to 2011, and continues to grow. Depend-
ing on factors of influence such as greater energy efficiency, policy-led energy savings measures or tech-
nical progress, demand is set to grow from around 19,000 terawatt hours (TWh) in 2011 to between 
approximately 28,000 TWh and 34,500 TWh by 2035. The share of renewable energies in generating this 
volume is likely to have increased from currently 20 percent to 31 percent by 2035.

Photovoltaic brings its benefits to bear in satisfying this growing demand: Solar electricity does not affect 
the climate and can be generated locally, also in small units, with minimal input. Its capacity will have 
increased ninefold by 2035 and, in the most likely scenario of the World Energy Outlook 2013, will be 
delivering around 3 percent equating to approximately 950 TWh of the output required for global energy 
consumption.

Whereas economic considerations of the costs and benefits of integrating renewable energies into the 
energy supply system is exerting an increasing influence on politics, the direct commercial consideration 
is uppermost in the minds of individual customers.

The commercial dimension of willingness to invest in photovoltaic is initially part and parcel of the ques-
tion of how far the investor can trust in framework conditions on the local energy market to offer the 
necessary legal and planning certainty. Assuming that this is the case, the return generated by a photovol-
taic system then becomes decisive which, in turn, depends on various factors. The amount of investment, 
meaning the level of capital required, is directly associated with how much the modules and other com-
ponents cost. If funds are borrowed, the financing conditions also affect the return. 

Depending on the market conditions, earnings generated may depend on the feed-in remuneration 
granted or the selling conditions; in some places, the tax relief granted. As, in the meantime, the con-
sumption of solar electricity generated by individual households is much cheaper in many places than 
buying from the local energy supply companies, the savings made, i.e. the difference between the cost of 
producing and of buying energy, is becoming increasingly important. 
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The International Energy Agency believes the electricity price will continue to develop in future in close 
correlation with the price of fossil fuels. It therefore anticipates that electricity prices are set to climb world-
wide. It may take around ten years before the price level in many countries stabilises or even marginally 
declines. 

4.1 PROCUREMENT MARKETS AND PRICE TRENDS

Following steep descents in 2011 and 2012, the prices of solar modules have meanwhile stabilised. In Ger-
many, for instance, spot market prices at year-end averaged around EUR 0.52/Wp for Chinese modules 
and around EUR 0.69/Wp for European polycrystalline modules. This signifies an increase of around ten 
to twelve percent over the course of the year. Market observers do not anticipate significant changes for 
the time being, within a certain fluctuation range, either to the positive or negative. It can therefore be 
assumed that, given this module price level, the construction of photovoltaic systems can still take place 
at costs which allow their profitable operation before taxes and levies.

As far as the different module technologies are concerned, thin-film modules continued to lose market 
shares in 2013. The Phoenix Solar Group has meanwhile fully focused its portfolio on crystalline modules. 
As we decentralised procurement at an early stage, the international subsidiaries outside Europe remained 
unaffected by the procurement situation within the European Union (EU) and were able to secure a supply 
of modules at stable conditions. 

As part of realigning business in Germany, Phoenix Solar relies on a smaller group of brand manufacturer 
suppliers with a good track record. In operational handling, we take external service providers under 
contract which are able to offer specialised services for the new sales concept in the areas of contract 
implementation and logistics.

The market environment in Europe in 2013, as well as partly in the USA, was influenced by the political 
discussion about the anti-dumping proceedings instituted against modules imported from China. Under 
the EU directive on minimum prices for Chinese modules and cells, the general pricing of photovoltaic 
modules in the EU has risen. Further cuts to feed-in tariffs or constraints on other funding instruments 
have put another damper on the demand for photovoltaic systems in the EU area.

Higher import barriers and waning demand within the EU have resulted in Chinese manufacturers reduc-
ing their customs warehousing inventories in European ports. The delivery periods for Chinese modules 
have therefore returned to between four and six weeks. The same applies to module deliveries from other 
Asian countries.

Whereas the significance of the EU area as formerly the largest sales market for Chinese manufacturers has 
waned, sales markets of these manufacturers within China and other international markets, such as the 
USA and Japan, have grown. The pricing of modules has therefore developed depending on the specific 
region.
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4.2 SALES MARKETS

4.2.1 USA
The USA is one of our most important sales markets. By 2013, we were already generating a good  
38 percent of our consolidated revenues, and we anticipate further, absolute and relative growth in 2014 
and in the years thereafter. The USA is currently in the process of transition, from a huge energy importer 
to an exporter of coal, oil and gas. Thanks to the discovery of new reserves of natural gas, and the ensuing 
decline in gas prices, coal in the production of energy is currently being increasingly displaced by gas. 

The energy markets are largely liberalised and structured as market economies. However, general frame-
work conditions regulated at federal level partly prevail across the board; there are, however, considerable 
differences in the legislation valid for the individual federal states.

Specifically, a high degree of legal and planning certainty can be assumed. Under Obama’s government, 
the USA has participated more intensively again in the international discussion about climate protection 
targets and initiated various measures to promote renewable energies, and thus also solar technology, at 
government level as well as at the level of the individual federal states. Such measures include first and 
foremost tax relief at federal level (Investment Tax Credit, ITC), with discussions currently under way on 
its renewal beyond the former term envisaged in 2016. Many federal states have imposed quotas on 
energy supply companies regulating how much electricity they must provide in future from renewable 
forces. The energy supply companies are endeavouring to fulfil these covenants by operating their own 
power plants or by sourcing solar electricity from direct sellers. These structures as well as the surface area 
available have encouraged the construction of very large ground-mounted power plants. At the same 
time, however, the number and the accumulated output of newly installed mid-sized and smaller systems 
is growing significantly.

Another argument for using photovoltaic lies in the steady increase in the price of electricity. Average elec-
tricity prices for companies as well as for private households in the USA have risen over the period from 
2003 to 2012, by 36 and 40 percent respectively. We therefore anticipate that own consumption solutions 
will also meet with a growing market in this country.

Overall we expect a newly installed output of 5.2 gigawatt peak (GWp) in 2014 and further growth of  
25 percent to 6.5 GWp worth of installed capacity in 2015.

4.2.2  SOUTHEAST ASIA/THE MIDDLE EAST
We generated around 28 percent of our consolidated revenues in the regions of South East Asia and the 
Middle East in 2013 which are served by our subsidiaries in Singapore, Malaysia and Oman. This said, we 
have to deal with very different environments in the individual countries.
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The countries in the Gulf region – formerly OPEC core countries and a major factor in the global energy 
markets – have lost influence in tandem with the pace at which new extraction regions and technologies 
have been developed outside their sphere of influence. At the same time, awareness is growing in the 
region that their own resources are finite and that new business models need to be developed. In order to 
accommodate growing local electricity consumption while maintaining the high export quotas of oil and 
gas, most countries in the region have opted to expand renewable energies and are planning the requisite 
large-scale power plant projects. Consequently, demand here is largely generated from public-sector and 
political stakeholders. Actual implementation is, however, considerably hampered by high administrative 
hurdles and protracted approval procedures. With the commissioning of KAPSARC I and the construction 
of KAPSARC II, we are proud to have built Saudi Arabia’s largest ground-mounted power plants to date.

In contrast, the energy markets in Singapore and in most countries in Southeast Asia are completely dere-
gulated. Traditionally electricity in these countries is exclusively sourced through the combustion of oil and 
gas, with partly intensive subsidisation of the use of fossil-based sources of energy. Indonesia, for example, 
subsidised the use of crude oil by providing funds in excess of USD 20 billion in 2012. Electricity customers 
whose electricity prices are comparatively low albeit with considerable regional differences, also within the 
individual countries, reaped the benefit of this as well. In Thailand, for instance, prices were below 0.01 
€/kWh in 2012, on the Philippines industrial customers on the peninsula also paid less than 0.01 €/kWh, 
compared with prices of 0.56 €/kWh on some of the islands.

Many countries in the region have meanwhile announced ambitious expansion targets for renewable 
energies and initiated the requisite subsidy programmes. A case in point is the Philippines which want to 
treble their solar electricity capacity to 15.3 GWp over the period from 2010 to 2030. The island country 
can also promote the supply of electricity to remote areas through expanding solar power; currently only 
a good 70 percent of the country has access to electricity. Alongside a feed-in tariff, funding takes the form 
of tax relief, subsidised loans and the promoting of own consumption from off-grid systems by making 
subsidies available and a net metering model for grid-connected systems since July 2013.

Thailand, on the other hand, plans to expand its photovoltaic capacity to 2 GWp by 2021. In the process, 
more than half is to be generated by smaller systems, including rooftop systems on private households 
or business premises. The mechanisms deployed here also include feed-in tariffs and subsidised loans, 
ultimately also with a view to giving rural regions better access to electricity supplies.

Nonetheless, it should be noted that some government-backed measures are only implemented with 
considerable delays or inconsistently, which impairs predictability and causes uncertainty. At the same 
time, our subsidiaries in Southeast Asia are also recording rising demand for own-consumption solutions 
independent of specific monetary incentives. 

Against this backdrop, we anticipate newly installed capacity of 3.7 GWp in 2014 and further growth 
of almost 30 percent to 4.8 GWp in 2015 in the countries we serve in the regions of Southeast Asia/the 
Middle East.

4.2.3 EUROPE
The situation in all European markets is characterised by pronounced instability and legal uncertainty in 
the face of the ongoing sovereign debt crisis and the ensuing endeavours of the various governments to 
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consolidate. In the European countries addressed by our subsidiaries demand has been driven by govern-
ment-backed measures for a long time; generally satisfactory feed-in tariffs were granted. However, these 
tariffs were abolished in many instances, with existing power plants being subsequently and partly retro-
spectively burdened with taxes and levies.

In addition, loans granted to companies and private households are also in decline despite the low interest 
rate level. This trend even steadily accelerated over the course of 2013, making it increasingly difficult for 
potential investors to borrow funds.

The combination of these factors has led to considerable uncertainty for potential buyers and investors 
and resulted in the photovoltaic market completely drying up in some countries. All in all, investments in 
generating power from green energy declined by 41 percent throughout the whole of Europe in 2013.
Phoenix Solar AG’s business in Europe generated a share of only 23.5 percent in consolidated sales in 2013 
compared with in 2012 when it was still generating 44.9 percent.

Italy: Italy’s electricity market continues to be dominated by Enel, the state monopoly, which satisfies 
more than a quarter of the national electricity demand. Despite the high volume of investment in expan-
ding the grid, obsolete coal-fired power plants continue to hallmark the Italian infrastructure. The pro-
motion of photovoltaic through the five stages of the Conto Energia programme ended in July 2013. The 
use of self-generated solar electricity is still possible in principle by way of net metering. As before, there 
are, however, high administrative hurdles at the regional level and, similar to economic life overall, there 
is a relatively high degree of uncertainty in the face of bureaucratic inadequacies and political imponder-
ables. Project financing is also problematic as the banks require commitment in the form of collateral or 
upfront private financing from planners and developers. Against this background, we are winding down 
all operating activities in Italy.

Spain: Although the Spanish energy market was liberalised in 2009, it is dominated by the Endesa and 
Iberdorla utilities duopoly in real terms. In the interest of securing continuity in the supply of energy, the 
Spanish government assumed large-scale guarantees for the debts of the electricity sector, most recently 
in January 2014 for another EUR 4.8 billion in funds freshly borrowed in 2012. The funds at the centre of 
the debate were also earmarked to satisfy claims formerly granted under programmes to subsidise renew-
able energies.

Although the expansion target of 8 GWp through to the year 2020 has not been formally abolished, a 
plethora of difficulties and constraints have been gradually introduced since 2010 which make investing 
in solar power plants unattractive. At the start of 2014, the Spanish government introduced another cut 
in the return on photovoltaic plants. In line with these plans, the feed-in tariff is to be reduced by another  
45 percent. The ongoing changes in the environment, the lack of regulations governing own consumpt-
ion and significant hurdles in grid connection, compounded by other ponderous administrative processes,  
have severely impaired the development of Spain’s photovoltaic market. Introducing suitable net meter-
ing legislation could provide new impetus.

france: As opposed to Germany, France still firmly upholds the use of nuclear energy. Its energy mar-
ket and infrastructure remain dominated by a monopolistic structure in the shape of state-owned Elec-
tricité de France. However, approximately 16 percent of the electricity consumed is already generated 
by renewable sources. The electricity prices paid by industrial customers stood at below 0.10 €/kWh in 
2012/2013, and at 0.14 €/kWh for private households.
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All in all, the Republic of France continues to promote renewable energies to a considerable extent. The 
expansion target for photovoltaic was fixed at 5.4 GWp by 2020. Funding instruments consist of a system 
of feed-in tariffs on a sliding scale, tax relief and rolling depreciation of photovoltaic power plants. How-
ever, the French electricity grid depends to a great extent on the supply of electricity to customers by a 
few large-scale power plants. Technical and administrative hurdles stand in the way of connecting new 
solar power plants.

The French government under President François Hollande has already announced further activities to 
promote renewable energies in 2014 as well its intention of cooperating with Germany in matters affect-
ing the grid infrastructure and energy policy. Negotiations at the political and association level have been 
initiated. Photovoltaic may also continue to benefit from these generally stable political and economic 
framework conditions. 

Greece: Despite initial steps towards reform and liberalisation initiated in the year elapsed, the Greek 
electricity market remains dominated by PPC (Public Power Corporation), the state-owned energy supply 
company. Similarly in 2013, measures were passed to reform the end consumer market and make head-
way towards achieving EU targets. A new sliding scale of electricity prices was introduced in August with 
the aim of enabling industrial enterprises in particular to reduce their electricity costs.

Apart from better decentralised power supply also from smaller off-grid solutions, promoting photovol-
taic continues to be influenced by plans to act as an energy exporter in future with larger scale power  
plants. Excluding this “Helios” project, the aim is to expand solar electricity to 2.2 GWp by 2020.  
Nonetheless, a tax on solar power was introduced in 2012 and the feed-in tariffs significantly cut in 
2013; as from August 2014, power plants of less than ten kWp will no longer be eligible for subsidies. 
These political measures have engendered a great deal of uncertainty in the market which the meanwhile 
considerable improvement in legal and planning certainty as to administrative procedures has failed to 
compensate. For this reason, and owing to difficulties in borrowing, investment activities in solar power 
plants have ground to a virtual halt since mid-2013.

We nonetheless assume that the legislation announced to facilitate own-consumption solutions as part of 
the net metering model will provide the Greek market with stimulus.

The 2013 annual report of the European Photovoltaic Industry Association (EPIA) predicted an installed 
output of around 3.9 gigawatt peak (GWp) in 2014 – taken as an average of the two scenarios it describes 
for the European countries we serve (excluding Germany) – and further growth of 16 percent to 4.5 GWp 
by 2015. Given the actual, considerably weaker development in the second half of 2013, after publication 
of this annual report, we have significantly revised our internal market assumptions downwards in view 
of these figures.

4.2.4 GERMANY
In February 2013, we took the decision to almost fully relinquish our business in Germany in its prior form. 
We have retained our operation and maintenance services in our Ulm location as well as a team which was 
tasked with developing new business models independent of subsidy mechanisms under the Act on the 
Priority of Renewable Energy Sources (EEG) and is currently testing its implementation in a pilot region. 
Consequently, the share of Germany in consolidated revenues halved to 14.8 percent in the financial year 
2013 (2012: 29.9 percent).

This decision was taken against the backdrop of the drastic changes in Germany’s framework condi-
tions. The high proportion of renewable energies already achieved in gross electricity consumption (2012:  
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23.6 percent) led to a drastic downturn in the marginal costs across the entire electricity industry, with 
the result that in principle only power plants already amortised and frequently detrimental to the climate 
can continue to operate at breakeven. From the standpoint of grid safety, and therefore of the supply of 
energy overall, more flexible, adjustable new gas power plants would be needed. 

Moreover, at the start of 2010, upon the entering into force of the Ordinance on a Nationwide Equalisa-
tion Scheme, the development of the EEG levy (surcharge under the German Renewable Energies Act) 
was decoupled from the actual installation of plants generating electricity from renewable energies. The 
resulting disproportionately high increase in this levy on almost all electricity consumers was used by the 
German government as grounds for reviewing the promotion and expansion of renewable energies on 
several occasions and for even fundamentally calling it into question. At the time this annual report went 
to press, the bill drafted on a reform of the German Renewable Energies Act made the commercial ope-
ration of power plants producing solar electricity with the nominal output of more than 10 kWp more 
difficult. Particularly onerous is the levying of an EEG surcharge on electricity produced and consumed at 
the same point. Moreover, the swift series of interventions in German Renewable Energies Act have put 
paid to the trust in the legal and planning certainty in Germany.

Over the course of 2013, the volume of newly installed photovoltaic output already slumped to 
3.3 GWp (2012: 7.5 GWp); the German government envisages a corridor of 2.5 GWp a year in the  
future. Against this backdrop, we anticipate that development in the German market will stagnate or even 
decline.

We have nonetheless begun to experiment by offering standard packages optimised for own consump-
tion in the segment of small photovoltaic systems for households. Provided no surcharges are levied on 
these systems, they offer operators the opportunity of lowering their electricity costs, with the investment 
amortising within eight to ten years. This innovative offering may enable us to build up new positions in 
Germany even in a declining market.

5 MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISION 

The Executive Board of Phoenix Solar AG develops the Group’s business strategy and agrees it with the 
Supervisory Board. The business strategy is reviewed annually and adjusted to reflect the dynamic de-
velopment of the international solar power market and the rapid changes in the market introduction 
programmes of photovoltaic products and systems. The medium-term goal is to serve markets at the 
earliest possible stage of their development and to develop new business models that are not dependent 
on state subsidies.

The individual tasks and collaboration at Executive Board level are governed by a schedule allocating 
responsibilities and by a set of bylaws. The Executive Board makes decisions on relevant topics and holds 
regular in-depth consultations on important developments in their individual remits. In addition to exer-
cising their departmental responsibilities, the individual members of the Executive Board are also repre-
sented on the supervisory bodies and managerial functions of the subsidiaries, for instance in Singapore, 
the USA and France.

Furthermore, we make reference to the Declaration of Conformity by the Executive Board and the Su-
pervisory Board pursuant to Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act which is included in the 
corporate governance report.
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The Supervisory Board of Phoenix Solar AG, which consists of three members, advises the Executive Board 
and supervises its activities and decisions. 

We deploy an integrated Management Information System (MIS) for the purpose of managing, control-
ling and monitoring our construction projects and trading business. The MIS comprises a complete set 
of monthly reports on the revenues and earnings of Phoenix Solar AG as well as on its subsidiaries and 
individual segments. Aside from the balance sheet, income statement and cash flow statement, the MIS 
also tracks a series of key indicators as a means of assessing the business performance of the integrated 
organisation units. 

Business developments are monitored and variances against the budget are documented in monthly 
management reviews attended by the heads of the segments or national subsidiaries and the Executive 
Board. Depending on the amount and significance of variances against budget, appropriate counter-
measures are adopted and implemented and the effects of such measures are monitored in subsequent 
management reviews. 

Opportunities management is a regular topic in the management reviews which discuss business pros-
pects and short- and medium-term measures to consolidate and improve business and monitors their 
implementation.

Key financial indicators in respect of the central goals of liquidity and profitability are particularly impor-
tant especially in the process of restructuring and strategic realignment. At the same time, only a return 
to growth can secure the future existence of Phoenix Solar AG. For this reason, alongside the financial 
indicators cited in the section below, the sales-oriented parameters described are also key performance 
indicators for the Phoenix Solar Group used in the management and control of the company.

5.1 KEy FINANCIALS

5.1.1 REVENUES
The revenue trend reflects the success of our business and sales at the highest level. The costs and earn-
ings forecast is based on concrete revenue expectations agreed with the operating units and central 
functions and coordinated and monitored on an ongoing basis.

5.1.2 EBITDA/EBIT
As a management and control parameter, EBITDA reflects our operating performance net of interest, 
taxes and depreciation and amortisation. EBIT takes additional account of depreciation and amortisation. 
Both are central parameters for managing Phoenix Solar’s business, especially with regard to the subsid-
iaries, and a regular component of the management review.

5.1.3 EQUITY:
Equity comprises all components of the company’s performance up to the present, including taxes. Seen 
from an accounting standpoint, equity is the difference between assets and liabilities. Particularly at Group 
level, equity plays an important role in the management and supervision of the Phoenix Solar Group. 

5.1.4 UTILISATION Of THE CREDIT LINES
Credit lines worth around EUR 126 million were granted to the company in the context of syndicated 
financing. Keeping within these credit lines is crucial to the continued existence of the company. This said, 
liquidity planning and liquidity management are assigned a high priority, and drawdowns on credit lines 
are constantly monitored and controlled.

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT
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5.2 SALES-ORIENTED CONTROL PARAMETERS

Part of the management reviews consist in particular of closely and consistently monitoring and updating 
the following sales-oriented control parameters. In congruence with the logicality of the business model, 
these are rolling parameters which cannot be precisely planned or forecast in terms of specific periods 
or reporting dates. They are nonetheless key components in the process of ongoing management and 
control.

5.2.1 ORDER INTAKE
Although a high level of sales activity is a very sound basis, it is insufficient for a de facto return to sustain-
able growth. Achieving this goal requires the high level of activities to result in orders actually being 
placed. With this in mind, we regularly review and scrutinise the order intake figure.

5.2.2  OTHER
In addition, key indicators specific to the situation in individual businesses have been introduced and are 
monitored in order to record and manage particular developments.

5.3 COMPLIANCE AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In order to observe and disseminate high ethical standards at Phoenix Solar, we established a new uni-
form compliance organisation binding on the entire Group in the third quarter of the financial year 2013. 
The compliance organisation reflects the changed positioning of the Group and encompasses a clearly 
structured set of guidelines and reporting procedures. It was approved by the Executive Board and the 
managers and communicated to the employees. 

Other principles and procedures concerning corporate governance are described in the Corporate  
Governance Report which is printed in this annual report and available on the company’s website at 
www.phoenixsolar-group.com under the Investor Relations heading, Corporate Governance.
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6 COMPARISON OF FORECASTED WITH ACTUAL BUSINESS 
 PERFORMANCE

When the annual financial statements for 2012 were published, the Executive Board released guidance 
for 2013 in which it projected a slight increase in revenues to between EUR 160 and 190 million and a 
negative operating result (EBIT) within a range of between EUR 7 and 2 million, thereby targeting an 
improvement in the results of EUR 25 to 30 million compared with 2012. This EBIT guidance included 
restructuring costs of around EUR 1.9 million incurred by strategic realignment. 

At the end of the third quarter, the Executive Board defined this statement more precisely, indicating that 
revenues for the year as a whole were anticipated at the lower end of this range while the result before 
interest and taxes was expected more in the upper range of guidance.

Consolidated revenues actually achieved amounted to EUR 141.2 million, which is below the minimum 
predicted. In contrast, EBIT, which stood at EUR - 1.4 million, exceeded the projected range. Consequent-
ly, although sales revenues were lower than anticipated, we considerably improved the operating result 
before interest and taxes and outperformed the earnings originally announced.

Over the course of the year, among other things, it emerged that the development of Europe’s solar 
markets fell significantly short of expectations, which was also reflected in the business of our southern 
European subsidiaries. In Greece in particular, another reduction in the feed-in tariff resulted in a dramatic 
slump in the market. The revenues of Phoenix Solar in European countries other than Germany declined 
to EUR 33.2 million in 2013 (2012: EUR 69.8 million). In 2013, Europe generated a share of a mere 23.5 
percent in consolidated revenues compared with 44.9 percent in 2012. As a result, persistently weak de-
velopments in the market in particular and huge uncertainty as to the political and economic framework 
in Italy prompted us to wind down our operations in this country. By contrast, our companies in the USA 
and Asia delivered significantly higher revenues due first and foremost to acquiring several major projects.

In both these regions, we were able to generate above-average gross margins at the same time, which 
was a key factor contributing to achieving and even exceeding the targeted operating result. Moreover, 
special items from the disposal of material and the premature termination of service contracts in Germany 
in conjunction with the strategic realignment had an additional positive effect on the development of 
operating earnings. 

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT
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7 RESULTS OF OPERATIONS, FINANCIAL POSITION AND NET ASSETS  

7.1 RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The year 2013 was initially influenced by the termination of the trading and project business in Germany. 
This assuredly draconian measure was nevertheless one that was necessary to secure the future of the 
entire Group. It was only due to this severe restructuring that Phoenix Solar was able to separate in time 
from its greatest loss-making businesses. The insolvencies of renowned competitors of Phoenix Solar AG 
clearly document the necessity of this decision. All in all, revenue expectations in 2013 were not fully met. 
However, successful work, particularly in the USA and Thailand, and positive effects in connection with 
the strategic realignment resulted in a significant increase in EBIT compared with the previous year, there-
by enabling virtual breakeven at the operating level. 

7.1.1 ANALYSIS Of REVENUES
Over the course of the year as a whole, the Phoenix Solar Group reported a decline in revenues of  
9.1 percent, down EUR 14.2 million to EUR 141.2 million (2012: EUR 155.4 million). By contrast, the sales 
of photovoltaic power plants and modules decreased by only 3.1 percent to 126 MWp (2012: 130 MWp). 
The share in revenues generated by domestic business corresponded to 11.8 percent (2012: 29.9 percent), 
reflecting a drop of EUR 29.7 million to EUR 16.7 million, equivalent to a decline of 64.0 percent, owing 
to the termination of the trading and project business in Germany. International markets accounted for  
88.2 percent of sales revenues (2012: 70.1 percent), with growth mainly generated by several major pro-
jects in the USA and Thailand.

Revenues 2009-2013 in € m

2012

2011

2010

2009

155.4

2013 141.2

393.5

635.7

473.0
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Development of Revenues by Segment and Region 2009-2013

  2012 2011 2010 2009

Consolidated revenues € m 155.4  393.5 635.7 473.0
Change from prior year % – 60.5 – 38.1 34.4 17.5

C & S revenues € m 72.4  241.0 368.5 299.0
Change from prior year % – 70.0 – 34.6 23.2 39.3

Power Plant revenues € m 83.0  152.5 267.2 174.0
Change from prior year % – 45.6 – 44.8 58.7 – 7.3

Domestic revenues € m 46.4  168.5 471.2 445.3
Change from prior year % – 72.5 – 64.2 5.8 83.4

EU revenues, excl. Germany € m 69.8  187.9 162.3 22.8
Change from prior year % – 62.9 15.8 611.8 – 85.5

RoW revenues € m 39.2  37.1 2.2 4.91
Change from prior year % 5.7  1,586.4 – 55.1 133.3

2013

141.2
– 9.1

56.7
– 21.7

84.5
1.8

16.7
– 64.1

33.2
– 52.5

91.4
133.1
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7.1.2 EARNINGS WITHIN THE GROUP
As of the reporting date on 31 December 2013, orders on hand totalled EUR 65.0 million (31 December 
2012: EUR 74.9 million), corresponding to a decline of EUR 9.9 million, the equivalent of 13.2 percent.

7.1.3 DEVELOPMENT Of THE SEGMENTS
Components & Systems 
The Components & Systems segment fell short of the previous year’s figures, mainly owing to the discon-
tinuation of business in Germany. In the financial year 2013, this segment contributed a share of 40.1 per-
cent (2012: 46.6 percent) to consolidated revenues. The revenues of the Components & Systems segment 
were attributable as follows: EUR 6.8 million (2012: EUR 38.0 million) were accounted for by Germany, 
with international markets generating EUR 49.9 million (2012: EUR 34.4 million). 

As of 31 December 2013, the Components & Systems segment reported a decline in orders on hand, 
down EUR 34.4 million to EUR 1.4 million (31 December 2012: EUR 35.8 million). Only a small proportion 
of orders on hand were attributable to domestic operations (2012: EUR 1.4 million) whereas international 
orders posted EUR 1.4 million (2012: EUR 34.4 million). In 2012, a considerable portion of the order vol-
ume was contributed by major project in Thailand which was recorded in the Components & Systems 
segment owing to the way the contract had been structured.

In terms of consolidated EBIT, the Components & Systems segment generated a positive EBIT of  
EUR 1.8 million (2012: EUR - 9.8 million), reflecting the healthy margin situation of the aforementioned 
major project in Thailand.

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

Revenues and shipments 2009-2013 in € m

2012

2011

2010

2009

130.0

256.6

313.0

202.0

155.4

2013 125.8
141.2

393.5

635.7

473.0 Group revenues (€ m) 
Group shipments (MWp)

EBIT 2009-2013 in k€

2012

2011

2010

2009

– 31.8

2013– 1.4

– 84.7

36.4

12.2
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Components & Systems
56.7 € m
40.2 %

Power Plants
84.5 € m
59.8 % 

Components & Systems
72.4 € m
46.6 % 

Power Plants
83.0 € m
53.4 % 

141.2 € m

155.4 € m

Asia
37.6 € m
27.0 % 

Europe
33.2 € m
23.5 % 

USA
53.8 € m
38.1 % 

Domestic
16.7 € m
11.8 % 

141.2 € m

155.4 € m

Asia
16.0 € m
10.3 % 

Europe
69.8 € m
44.9 % 

USA
23.2 € m
14.9 % 

Domestic
46.4 € m
29.9 % 

Revenues by segments

2013

2012

Revenues by region

2013

2012

EBIT Components & Systems 2009-2013 in  € m

2012

2010

2009

– 9.8

– 30.2

28.1

6.1

2013 1.8

2011

Revenues Components & Systems 2009-2013 in € m

2012

2011

2010

2009

72.4

2013 56.7

241.0

368.5

299.0



PHOENIX SOLAR AG | ANNUAL REPORT 2013048

Power Plants 
With revenues of EUR 84.5 million, the Power Plants segment made up 59.8 percent of consolidated 
revenues (2012: EUR 83.0 million, corresponding to 53.4 percent). Among other projects, the segment 
benefited from the construction of the largest power plant in the history of the Phoenix Solar Group by 
the US subsidiary. In this segment, EUR 9.9 million (2012: EUR 8.4 million) was attributable to domestic 
business and EUR 74.7 million (2012: EUR 74.6 million) to international business. 

Orders on hand of the Power Plant segment had climbed to EUR 63.6 million by 31 December 2013, 
up 62.6 percent (31 December 2012: EUR 39.1 million), and consisted entirely of international orders  
(31 December 2012: EUR 32.8 million from international business; EUR 6.3 million from domestic busi-
ness). This increase resulted mainly from the aforementioned major project in the USA. Adjusted for re-
venues recognised in respect of power plant projects in progress (available order book), net orders on 
hand stood at EUR 2.9 million as of 31 December 2013 (31 December 2012: EUR 18.1 million), which is  
84.2 percent below the year-earlier figure. Essentially the difference between orders on hand and net 
orders is attributable to the almost full realisation of the major project in the USA as well as projects in 
France and Malaysia. Both major components of the Power Plants segment’s orders on hand progress 
on a rolling basis and may therefore overstate or understate the business situation owing to the volatility 
inherent in the project business.

The Power Plants segment delivered an EBIT of EUR - 3.2 million in the financial year 2013 (2012:  
EUR - 22.0 million). The results of the US subsidiary, which exceeded expectations, were nonetheless insuf-
ficient to compensate for the negative results of this segment attributable to the European subsidiaries and 
expenses of the parent company against the backdrop of discontinuing the project business in Germany.

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

Revenues Power Plants 2009-2013 in  € m

2012

2011

2010

2009

83.0

2013 84.5

152.5

276.2

174.0

EBIT Power Plants 2009-2013 in € m

2012

2011

2010

2009

– 22.0

2013– 3.2

– 54.6

8.3

6.1
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7.1.4 EARNINGS PERfORMANCE WITHIN THE GROUP
The swift adjustment to cost positions in conjunction with winding down the trading and project business 
in Germany was given the highest priority in the first quarter of 2013. With the good margins resulting 
from the disposal of material and positive non-recurrent effects in connection with terminating service 
contracts, the necessary measures were implemented even ahead of plan. At the same time, major pro-
jects in the USA and Singapore delivered significantly better results than initially expected. Although the 
result in 2013 was burdened in an amount of EUR 1.9 million from strategic realignment, for instance 
by provisions for severance payments, the company was nonetheless successful in achieving an EBIT 
of EUR - 1.4 million despite revenues diverging from budget. This figure represents an improvement of  
EUR 30.4 million, the equivalent of 95.6 percent, over the previous year (2012: EUR - 31.8 million) al-
though EBIT in 2012 was burdened by costs for restructuring of around EUR 7.9 million. The consolidated 
result, which posted EUR - 9.3 million, also improved significantly in a year-on-year comparison (2012:  
EUR - 37.6 million).

7.1.5 DEVELOPMENT Of KEY ITEMS IN THE INCOME STATEMENT
Changes in inventory
The changes in inventory item reflect the increases and decreases in work in progress on orders. In the 
financial year elapsed, there were no changes in inventory (2012: EUR 3.3 million). 

Other operating income
Other operating income of EUR 5.4 million (2012: EUR 7.8 million) included electricity income from pho-
tovoltaic plants held by the company amounting to approximately EUR 2.3 million (2012: EUR 2.4 mil-
lion). Moreover, this item largely includes income from the reversal of provisions for anticipated losses  
(EUR 0.8 million) and accruals for liabilities under outstanding invoices (EUR 0.6 million). In addition, this 
item includes income from the reduction of value adjustments (EUR 0.4 million) above all.

Cost of materials/gross profit
The cost of materials fell to EUR 119.6 million, down 18.2 percent or EUR 26.6 million (2012:  
EUR 146.2 million) mainly due to the lower volume of business. Inventory write-downs declined further 
to EUR 0.7 million (2012: EUR 9.2 million) in the wake of discontinuing the trading and project business in 
Germany and the associated scaling back of inventories. However, this figure does not yet include impair-
ment of project rights of the Spanish subsidiary due to non-realisability. 

With a total operating performance of EUR 141.2 million (2012: EUR 158.7 million), gross earnings of  
EUR 12.6 million in 2012 therefore rose overall significantly by EUR 9.0 million, up 72.1 percent to EUR 21.6 
million compared with 2012. This growth was due principally to the better-than-expected margins of the 
US and Singapore subsidiaries. In addition, positive non-recurrent effects on gross profit emanated from 
the disposal of material in Germany which exceeded budget, and the positive outcome of a court case 
which allowed for a retrospective price increase to be asserted for a project completed in 2010.
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Personnel expenses
As of 31 December 2013, the Phoenix Solar Group employed a workforce of 120 staff (excluding Execu-
tive Board members but including temporary staff; 2012: 228), of whom 115 in permanent positions (31 
December 2012: 215). Compared with the status on 31 December 2012, this corresponds to a decline of 
108 persons which was largely caused by personnel reductions in Germany due to the strategic realign-
ment. Taken an annual average, this translates into approximately 147 full-time positions filled (excluding 
Executive Board members but including temporary staff; 2012: 256). Personnel expenses came in at EUR 
14.6 million in 2013 owing to the lower workforce numbers (2012: EUR 21.1 million), reflecting a decline 
of 30.8 percent in a year-on-year comparison. Compared with the previous year, the key indicator of reve-
nues per full-time employee climbed from kEUR 607 in 2012 to kEUR 945 in 2013, despite the lower level 
of revenues. Expenses of approximately EUR 1.9 million were incurred in connection with the reduction 
of the parent company’s workforce.  

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
At EUR 1.7 million, the depreciation, amortisation and impairment recognised in respect of intangible 
assets and property, plant and equipment were EUR 4.3 million lower than the year-earlier figure (2012: 
EUR 6.0 million). This decrease resulted primarily from impairment of the ERP system and other items of 
property, plant and equipment associated with the discontinuation of the trading and project business 
in Germany.

Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses dropped by EUR 12.9 million to EUR 12.3 million in 2013 (2012: EUR 25.2 million),  
which is 51.2 percent less.

Significant cost reductions compared to 2012 were achieved also through the parent company’s stra-
tegic realignment, especially in the categories of other consultancy fees (EUR - 1.9 million), warehousing 
charges (EUR - 1.7 million), office building rental expenses (EUR - 1.6 million) and outgoing freight  
(EUR - 1.1 million). Other material reductions emanated from expenses from doubtful accounts  
(EUR - 0.9  million), appropriations to individual value adjustments (EUR - 0.7 million), the costs of legal  
advice (EUR - 0.6 million) and consultancy expenses incurred by EDP projects (EUR - 0.5 million). By  
reverse, the costs of warranties and other impairment rose by EUR 0.3 million respectively, along with 
expenses for freelance workers which increased by EUR 0.4 million. 

Income from associated companies
The Phoenix SonnenFonds GmbH & Co. KG B1, in which Phoenix Solar AG holds a 31.2 percent equity 
interest, has been accounted for at equity as an associated company since the financial year 2009. The 
share of this company’s profit which is attributable to the Phoenix Solar Group amounted to kEUR 68.4 in 
financial year 2013 (2012: kEUR 49.5). 

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)
In 2013, earnings before interest and taxes amounted to EUR - 1.4 million (2012: EUR - 31.8 million), which 
corresponds to an increase of 95.6 percent in a year-on-year comparison. Although EBIT in 2012 was 
impacted by additional burdens of EUR 7.9 million in the context of strategic realignment, the significant 
increase in the result affirms the decision to discontinue the loss-bringing units in Germany. Calculated as 
a percentage of total revenues, the EBIT margin came to - 1.0 percent (2012: - 20.5 percent).

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT
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financial result
The financial result of EUR - 5.1 million in the financial year 2013 marks an increase of EUR 0.4 million in 
comparison with the year-earlier figure (2012: EUR - 5.5 million). Financial income of EUR 0.1 million (2012: 
EUR 0.2 million) were offset by financial expenses of EUR 5.2 million (2012: EUR 5.7 million). Similar to the 
previous year, these financial expenses break down into EUR 2.3 million from interest and similar expenses 
as well as, also virtually unchanged from 2012, EUR 2.0 million from financing costs. Expenses for guaran-
tee fees stood at EUR 0.9 million (2012: EUR 1.2 million).

Tax rate
In the period from January to December 2013, the Group’s tax rate, defined as the ratio of tax expenses to 
the consolidated profit before taxes, amounted to - 44.1 percent (2012: - 0.8 percent). This change resul-
ted mainly from lower losses combined with higher tax burdens, above all pertaining to the subsidiaries 
in Singapore and the USA which generated commensurately positive results. Moreover, in the context of 
testing the tax claims for impairment a valuation allowance was carried out in an amount of kEUR 975.

Consolidated profit/loss
Against the backdrop of the developments described above, the portion of the consolidated result 
attributable to the shareholders of the parent company and to minority interest amounted to EUR  
- 10.7 million (2012: EUR - 37.3 million) and EUR 1.4 million (2012: EUR - 0.3 million) respectively. Cal-
culated on an average number of 7,372,700 shares, basic earnings per share stood at EUR - 1.45 (2012: 
EUR - 5.06). Since there were no material diluting effects as of 31 December 2013, there was only a slight 
difference between diluted earnings per share and basic earnings per share.

7.2 FINANCIAL POSITION

7.2.1 BASIC PRINCIPLES AND OBJECTIVES Of fINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
As in previous years, the financial policy and financial management of the Phoenix Solar Group were 
aligned to the on-going restructuring of the company in 2013. Key measures included tight liquidity 
management and the rapid implementation of the strategic realignment in the German locations. At 
the same time, further liquidity-conserving measures, including for example the collection of receivables 
from former projects, was closely monitored and controlled. Similar to the preceding years, detailed cost 
management was a key component of the activities. 

7.2.2 BORROWING
The financial liabilities disclosed in the report as at 31 December 2012 as a current item owing to the 
financing arrangements at that time were reported as noncurrent financial liabilities as of 30 June 2013. 
Under the amendment agreement concluded in the first quarter of 2013, the maturity date of the syn-
dicated loan was extended until 31 March 2015. Current financial liabilities have therefore decreased by  
EUR 39.5 million to a value approximating EUR 0.0 million (31 December 2012: EUR 39.5 million). By 
contrast, noncurrent financial liabilities rose by EUR 40.3 million as opposed to the previous year when the 
figure reported was low. Of the committed cash credit lines, EUR 8.7 million and another EUR 11.0 million 
were available to cover requirements at short notice as of 31 December 2013. 
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7.2.3 CASHfLOW fROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
In 2013, the cash inflow from operating activities stood at EUR 2.3 million (2012: cash outflow of  
EUR 9.2 million). Compared with the previous year, positive effects on the operating cash flow emanated 
from the lower level of loss and ongoing destocking as well as increases and decreases in assets. Moreover, 
tax back payments of EUR 5.7 million from an audit burdened the cash flow. 

7.2.4 CASHfLOW fROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
The business model of the Phoenix Solar Group does not fundamentally require a great deal of investment 
for the running of its operations. Cash outflow from investing activities of EUR 0.9 million was higher than 
in the previous year (2012: EUR 0.3 million). This figure arises mainly from the repurchase of the shares 
of a special purpose company and from the final costs of acquiring a photovoltaic power plants held in 
noncurrent assets. Both investment projects were assigned to the Power Plants segment and have been 
completed. As of 31 December 2013, there were no investment obligations.

7.2.5 CASHfLOW fROM fINANCING ACTIVITIES  
The cash flow from financing activities resulted in a cash outflow of EUR 0.3 million in 2013 in a year-
on-year comparison (2012: cash inflow EUR 12.0 million). The figure comprises cash outflow of around 
EUR - 1.2 million (2012: EUR 3.0 million) for covenants under the syndicated loan agreement and from 
borrowing in an amount of EUR 0.8 million which was significantly less compared with the previous 
year owing to the lower level of losses (2012: EUR 14.8 million). This figure includes interest income of  
EUR 0.2 million in an amount similar to the previous year.

7.2.6 DEVELOPMENT Of CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
The Phoenix Solar Group’s cash and cash equivalents climbed overall by EUR 1.1 million to EUR 10.0 mil-
lion in the financial year 2013 (31 December 2012: EUR 8.9 million). No liquidity shortfalls occurred in the 
financial year 2013. The development of liquidity in 2013 and liquid assets as of 31 December 2013 give 
rise to expectations that the Group will remain in a position to fulfil all its payment obligations. Further-
more, the existing Group financing fully secures the payments provided for in the currently valid planning. 
Provided that business develops in line with expectations in 2014, no liquidity shortfalls are foreseeable.

7.3 NET ASSETS

The total assets of the Phoenix Solar Group stood at EUR 67.8 million on 31 December 2013 (31 December 
2012: EUR 92.7 million), corresponding to a decrease of 26.9 percent as against year-end 2012. 

On the assets side, this decrease – also caused by strategic realignment – resulted mainly from the re-
duction of inventories to EUR 3.1 million, down EUR 8.5 million, as well as the reduction of receivables 
(receivables under long-term construction contracts and trade payables) which declined by EUR 8.1 mil-
lion to EUR 18.8 million (31 December 2012: EUR 26.9 million). In addition, other financial assets fell by  
EUR 2.0 million to EUR 8.8 million (2012: EUR 10.8 million), and non-financial liabilities decreased by EUR 
4.2 million to EUR 7.4 million (31 December 2012: EUR 11.6 million). Information on the development of 
noncurrent assets is presented in Section D of the notes to the consolidated financial statements and in 
the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Noncurrent Assets contained therein (Note 15).
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As a result of the consolidated net loss, the Group’s equity fell by EUR 9.8 million to EUR 7.5 million  
(31 December 2012: EUR 17.3 million). Accordingly, the equity ratio posted 11.0 percent as of 31 Decem-
ber 2013 (31 December 2012: 18.7 percent).

Borrowed capital stood at EUR 60.3 million, down EUR 15.0 million (31 December 2012: EUR 75.3 million) 
which was largely attributable to a decrease in trade payables of EUR 13.0 million to EUR 4.8 million (31 
December 2012: EUR 17.8 million) and in financial liabilities which fell by EUR 1.1 million to EUR 2.6 million 
(31 December 2012: EUR 3.7 million). Similarly, other non-financial liabilities dropped by EUR 1.0 million 
to EUR 4.6 million (2012: EUR 5.6 million) whereas current provisions declined by EUR 0.9 million to EUR 
3.9 million (31 December 2012: EUR 4.8 million). Net indebtedness posted EUR 32.9 million as of 31 De-
cember 2013 (31 December 2012: EUR 34.4 million).

Balance structure 31/12/2013

Assets Current assets

Liabilities and
Shareholders’ Equity

Noncurrent assets

Current liabilities and provisions
Noncurrent liabilities and provisions
Equity

27.1 % 72.9 %

11.0 %

60.9 %

28.1 %

All figures in € m  31/12/2011

Assets  143.9

Noncurrent assets   12.3

 of which deferred tax assets  2.2

Current assets   131.6

 of which inventories

 of which receivables under long-term construction contracts

 of which trade receivables

 of which cash and cash equivalents  31.6

Equity and liabilities  143.9

Equity  54.8

Noncurrent liabilities and provisions   2.5

 of which deferred tax liabilities   0.0

Current liabilities and provisions   86.6

 of which trade payables   24.5

 of which current financial liabilities   24.7
1) Change mainly attributable to the reclassification of syndicated financing owing to maturity as per 31 March 2015

31/12/2013

67.8

18.4

1.0

49.4

3.1

5.4

13.4

10.0

67.8

7.5

41.31)

0.0

19.0

4.8

0.01)

31/12/2012

92.7

20.5

2.1

72.2

11.6

0.7

26.2

8.9

92.7

17.3

1.7

0.0

73.6

17.8

39.5
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8 GUIDANCE, OPPORTUNITy AND RISK REPORT

Photovoltaic technology as a means of generating energy holds great potential, both today and in the fu-
ture. In the medium and long term, the goals of climate protection and the transformation of Germany’s 
energy system can only be achieved with a high proportion of solar energy. This conviction still represents 
the core of our business activities, and it will prove to be an important force driving the development of 
markets in the future. The business strategy of Phoenix Solar AG is aimed at developing and successfully 
implementing viable business models for these markets under profoundly changing conditions which we 
have described in Section 4.

In the target markets which we address, we anticipate a significant double-digit growth in newly installed 
photovoltaic capacity in 2014. According to estimates by the sector, installed Photovoltaic capacity is likely 
to be as follows: 5.2 GWp in the USA, 3.7 GWp in our Asian target markets (Southeast Asia and the Middle 
East) and 4.3 GWp overall in our European markets (Germany, France, Greece, Italy and Spain).

8.1 STRATEGy

In order to achieve the objectives we have set ourselves in 2014 we will be relying exclusively on organic 
growth, specifically by placing the highest priority on the target markets where we have already estab-
lished a very promising foothold. We will continue to rigorously implement our strategy of increased 
internationalisation in attractive international markets. In 2014, we will be focusing mainly on growth 
markets in the United States and the region of Southeast Asia. As part of our endeavours to expand our 
business significantly in Europe and in the Middle East as well, we appointed another member to the 
Executive Board at the start of the year 2014. His responsibilities include the new business models based 
on own consumption currently being tested in Germany. These business models play a strategic role in as 
much as, having started on a successful note, we believe they harbour considerable revenue and growth 
potential. Moreover, if successful, we could most certainly apply them to other European countries.

We will also begin investing in additional personnel in tandem with the pace of growth anticipated. Our 
initial priority will be given to reinforcing the sales teams in the growth regions.

8.2 GUIDANCE IN THE BASELINE SCENARIO

Based on the company’s current structure and positioning, and given the process of implementing stra-
tegic approaches in the coming years, the Executive Board and management assumes that it will be 
possible to return to achieving rising revenues again in the financial year 2014. 

Similar to the year now ended, the share of the Components & Systems segment in growth and volume 
will continue to decline in 2014 as well. We anticipate that this segment will make up less than one third of 
total revenues. As before, the Components & Systems segment comprises essentially revenues from Asia 
and France. In addition, the portion of revenue from own-consumption models for private households in 
Germany is allocated to this segment.

In the Power Plants segment, we assume an increase in revenues of around 30 percent compared with 
2013. We expect the strongest growth rates in the USA where we intend to roughly double our sales of 
newly installed MWp. We are also planning to expand in the growth regions in Asia.

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT
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Underlying this guidance is the assumption of market growth initially anticipated in the two most impor-
tant markets of the USA and Southeast Asia. As explained in Section 4, our subsidiaries in these countries 
are staffed by expert teams with powerful networks respectively, a proven track record, good testimonials 
and a sound reputation. This qualifies them to take part in tendering processes or other opportunities to 
acquire smaller and larger projects and translate them into business. We therefore anticipate that these 
units are well positioned to expand with the market and even achieve above-average growth. In terms 
of the new business models currently being tested, we are working towards launching a successful mar-
ket entry phase in 2014, thereby generating considerable growth from a very low starting point. In the 
Middle East, we anticipate a marginal increase in revenues. By contrast, we assume that the European 
subsidiaries will see revenues stagnate or even decline in this baseline scenario. 

If these underlying assumptions for our segments and target markets materialise as expected, revenue 
growth of around ten percent should be realisable for the Group in the financial year 2014. This would 
correspond to a corridor of between EUR 150 million and EUR 160 million (2013: EUR 141.2 million) based 
on sales anticipated in a range of 130 MWp to 140 MWp (2013: 126 MWp).

On the cost front, we will be able to somewhat improve on the level in the reporting year, especially 
as we do not expect any extraordinary burdens at present compared with 2013 when costs of around  
EUR 2 million were incurred. Against this backdrop, we anticipate earnings before interest and taxes of 
between EUR 2 and 5 million (2013: EUR - 1.4 million). 

The financing agreement first concluded in 2012, modified in February 2013 and extended until  
31 March 2015, covers the company’s financing needs in full, based on the business plans. Provided that 
the company’s business performance allows it to comply with the customary loan covenants and no 
other events trigger the termination of the credit agreements, the Group’s financing is ensured through 
31 March 2015. 

As, given the stable financing through to 2015 and free credit lines averaging approximately 30 percent 
planned in 2014, we can generally anticipate a repeat of the financial result, the operating result will not 
yet be sufficient to return the company to profitability.

Consequently, the amount of consolidated equity and the Group’s equity ratio is initially set to decline 
marginally. As from 2015, however, equity is likely to stabilise at a level of between EUR 8 and 15 million if 
we – as currently planned – write black figures again in terms of unappropriated retained earnings as well. 

All figures in € m

Revenues

EBIT

Equity

Credit line utilisation

Order intake

Actual 2013

141.2

– 1.4

7.5

83 %

87.0

2014

150-160

2-5

In marginal decline

70 %

160-170

Guidance for the financial year 2014
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Opportunities and risks
Our plans may, however, be hampered or, conversely, favoured by various external and internal factors. 
The risks and opportunities arising for the Group are monitored by the Executive Board on an ongoing 
basis, particularly by way of the opportunity and risk management system established for this purpose. 
The opportunities and risks are not differentiated by segment in this system.

8.3 RISK POLICy

As a company with international operations, the Phoenix Solar Group is exposed to a wide variety of 
risks. Our risk policy is therefore geared to ensuring the continued operation of Phoenix Solar as a going 
concern and to sustainably increasing the company’s value. In line with these principles, all business deci-
sions are only taken after in-depth risk analysis and evaluation. As achieving success in business inevitably 
entails opportunities and risks, our risk strategy incorporates both components. In the areas of our core 
competences, we therefore assume manageable, assessable risks if the income which could be generated 
by assuming such risks is appropriate. We avoid risks in all other areas as a matter of principle, with no 
decision or action allowed to entail a risk which would endanger the company as a going concern. 

8.4 OPPORTUNITy AND RISK MANAGEMENT SySTEM

The Group’s risk and opportunity management system is designed to identify individual risks, to pre-
senting them in a transparent manner and to determining ways of managing them appropriately. Aside 
from risks that would endanger the company’s survival as a going concern, we also monitor the activities, 
events and developments that could have a significant influence on the Group’s future business success. 
The corresponding goals and procedures, and the division of responsibilities within the risk management 
system, are documented in the Risk Management Handbook of Phoenix Solar AG. The risk management 
system was continuously adjusted to changes in the company’s structure over the course of the financial 
year 2013. Other, significant amendments were not carried out.

A group of risk officers appointed to key functions use a standardised risk inventory list to report existing, 
newly detected and potential risks to the risk manager on a regular basis. Each individual risk is classified 
according to the criteria of probability of occurrence and potential loss amount. In addition, the risk 
officers devise countermeasures to influence the aforementioned parameters in a positive way. The risk 
manager analyses, assesses and documents all such risks at regular intervals (generally on a monthly basis) 
and keeps the risk officers informed in the regular meetings of a Risk Committee. The role of the risk officer 
has currently been assumed by Phoenix Solar AG’s Chief Financial Officer. In these meetings, the risk of-
ficers review the risk assessments and adopt appropriate counter-measures. If the expected potential loss 
from aggregated risk reaches a certain critical threshold in relation to Group equity, the risk officers also 
separately inform the Supervisory Board of the Group’s current risk position. 

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT
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Insurance policies are maintained, to the extent they are available and economically tenable, to minimise 
the financial repercussions of a potential loss. The extent and amount of such insurance policies are con-
tinually reviewed.

8.5 INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT SySTEM WITH REGARD TO THE 
 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL REPORTING PROCESS

Our internal control and risk management system with regard to the (consolidated) financial reporting 
process is designed to ensure that our accounting system is uniform and compliant with applicable laws 
and regulations, generally accepted accounting principles in Germany and the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). The purpose of the internal control system is to provide reasonable assurance 
that the consolidated financial statements are prepared correctly particularly by way of plausibility checks 
and the application of the dual control principle.

The function of the internal control system is to identify key risks and monitor the measures implemented 
to counter them. To this end, key elements such as process definitions, job descriptions and deputisation 
arrangements are reviewed to verify that they are complete and up to date.

In addition to automated system controls, we also conduct manual controls and analytical audit activi-
ties, with due consideration given to the respective control environment and the relevance of the given  
accounting matters to the information provided in the financial statements. 

The process of preparing the consolidated financial statements is based on uniform, group-wide account-
ing policies. The Group companies first prepare their separate financial statements in accordance with the 
national laws and regulations applicable to them; they then convert their local financial statements to IFRS 
accounting standards, and submit the corresponding data to Corporate Accounting in a uniform, pre-
defined format (“reporting package”). Corporate Accounting uses this data to perform the consolidation 
measures. Group companies are required to observe group-wide accounting policies and are responsible 
for the adequate and timely workflows involved in their accounting-related processes and systems. Cor-
porate Accounting supports the Group companies throughout the entire accounting process.

8.6 SUMMARy OF THE RISK POSITION

In the estimation of the Executive Board and to the best of our current knowledge, the risks to which we 
are exposed are manageable. There was no risk to the Phoenix Solar Group as a going concern at the 
time of this Annual Report. This assessment applies to both the individual companies and the Group. In 
the context of our risk management system, only one specific risk is currently classified as “significant”, 
specifically the risk of corporate financing. Further consideration of this risk has resulted in it being classi-
fied as moderate.
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8.7 SPECIFIC RISKS

8.7.1 GROUP fINANCING
A new syndicated loan was signed on 11 May 2012. In early February, the term of this agreement, which 
was originally until 31 March 2014, was extended to 31 March 2015, with a slightly lower financing vol-
ume. In conjunction with other bilateral financing arrangements, this financing package provides the 
financing necessary for implementing the new strategy, based on the business plans drawn up for this 
purpose. Among other clauses, it contains the customary covenants. If these covenants are not complied 
with, the syndicate would be entitled to cancel the credit facilities, which would endanger the company 
as a going concern. This situation would also arise if the syndicated loan is not extended beyond 31 March 
2015.

At the present time, however, the company’s management believes that the company’s solvency is se-
cured for the term of the syndicated loan, particularly in view of the conservative assumptions made for 
cash inflows and outflows in the underlying business plan. The Executive Board expects that the syndicate 
banks will renew financing beyond 31 March 2015.

8.7.2 LIQUIDITY
The availability of credit to finance photovoltaic power plants is affected by the increasingly restrictive 
lending practices of banks  also in an international context. Phoenix Solar seeks to counter this trend initi-
ally by means of focusing almost entirely on the EPC business. This business is typically financed through 
bridging loans for construction, which reduces the need for liquidity. The current business plan, which has 
been coordinated with the lenders, provides for adequate guarantee lines for this purpose. In the course of 
further developments, however, particularly with respect to major projects and possible overlaps between 
them, it may transpire that the available guarantee lines are not enough to cover the needs of the Group. 
In that case, exploiting revenue and earnings potential may also be impossible. We seek to lower this risk 
through close coordination with the subsidiaries and rigorous guarantee management.

Risk category

8.7.1. Group financing

8.7.2. Liquidity

8.7.3. International sales and 
 project business

8.7.4. Political and regulatory 
 factors of influence

8.7.5. Market, competition and external 
 factors of influence

8.7.6. Procurement and inventories

8.7.7. Currency risks

8.7.8. Other risks

Monitored
by way of

Risk manage-

ment system

Daily Monitoring

Management

reviews

Management

reviews

Risk manage-

ment system

Risk manage-

ment system

Risk manage-

ment system

Risk manage-

ment system

Potential
loss amount

moderate

low

moderate

low

low

low

low

low

Probability of
occurrence

low

low

moderate

moderate

low

low

low

moderate

Impact on
occurrence

high

high

moderate

low

low

low

low

low

Classification

significant

low

significant

moderate

low

low

low

low

Overview and assessment of the individual risks
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8.7.3 INTERNATIONAL SALES AND PROJECT BUSINESS
The Phoenix Solar Group has an international presence through its subsidiaries on three continents. Owing 
to its strategic realignment, the Group will be highly dependent on these markets and on the profit con-
tribution generated by the local subsidiaries in the coming years. This applies particularly to the USA and 
Asia and the individual major projects planned in these countries. If projects in the multimegawatt range 
fall below sales planning, extrapolated for the year as a whole, this could result in a considerable shortfall 
against consolidated revenues planning, and lead to the corresponding loss of earnings. We counteract 
this risk through close coordination with the subsidiaries by way of a standardised reporting line with 
monthly management reviews and other regular monitoring measures geared to the sales situation of the 
companies. Nonetheless, the timely acquisition of projects and sales contributions in these regions which 
form an essential part of planning remains a significant risk for Phoenix Solar Group.

The primary focus on countries outside the European Union poses a heightened risk, due to the Group’s 
involvement in different legal, political and currency systems. Misjudgements of legal and economic con-
ditions leading to unforeseen cost burdens are fundamentally possible. We deal with this risk through a 
defined approvals process for projects exceeding a certain dimension. The execution of the construction 
of photovoltaic power plants in foreign countries is subject to partly greater risks than in Germany. In order 
to identify and counter these risks at an early stage, especially in the case of major projects, standardised 
risk reports are prepared in the context of monthly reporting. Nonetheless, delays and higher costs com-
pared with original planning which would potentially result in lower gross margins cannot be excluded.

8.7.4 POLITICAL AND REGULATORY fACTORS Of INfLUENCE
The development of the various national photovoltaic markets will continue to present a disparate picture 
in 2014 in terms of the extent to which they are promoted or braked by legislation. Long-term legislative 
degression models, as well as unannounced, on occasion radical changes in the legislative framework and 
interventions that damage confidence and fail to protect installed capacity reduce the achievable returns 
of new photovoltaic systems. The resulting uncertainty of investors and operators may cause markets to 
stagnate or even contract. 

The new business models based on own consumption which we began testing at the end of 2013 in the 
environs of Munich are currently largely exposed to this risk. The plans of the German government known 
to date provide for levies on power plants generating solar electricity for use by private households as from 
a certain size. This may possibly result the advantage of households producing electricity themselves as 
opposed to buying it from a power utility being lost. Depending on the form this legislation ultimately 
takes, we may have to scale back or even fully discontinue this business in Germany over the course of 
the year. This being the case, consolidated revenues may be lower than forecast in the baseline scenario.

Risks may, however, also arise from the political and regulatory environment in our core international 
markets.

In the markets of Asia, we are confronted with a wide variety of subsidy systems and framework condi-
tions. Moreover, in some target countries there is reason to doubt whether their governments will retain 
the resolved subsidy programmes.
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In the United States as well, there are important differences between the individual states concerning the 
significance attached to renewable energy sources and the regulatory treatment of such energy sources. 
To counter the risk of misallocating resources, our US subsidiary relies on a network of cooperation part-
ners to identify suitable target markets.

Both subsidiaries are, however, sufficiently diversified specifically on account of the extremely different 
rules and regulations prevailing in the individual states in these regions. We therefore assume that there is 
no cause to fear a downturn in sales for the Group owing to local political and regulatory risks.

8.7.5 MARKET, COMPETITION AND EXTERNAL fACTORS Of INfLUENCE
Competitive and margin-related pressure grows commensurately with the extent to which photovoltaic 
is attractive as a business to new market entrants in these still growing markets. On the one hand, the 
big, notoriously unprofitable manufacturers are attempting to expand their business into the segment 
of power plant construction; on the other hand, the overall number of suppliers has increased further, 
despite the difficult market environment. We seek to counter these trends by focusing on developing our 
offering policy and range of products and services through developing new business models designed for 
shrinking markets and for markets that are not dependent on state subsidy programmes.

If, pressured by growing competition, we achieve lower gross margins than planned, the Group’s earnings 
situation would be likely to deteriorate accordingly. In view of the lean structures of the company in the 
wake of last year’s restructuring endeavours, a decline of this sort, if we are unsuccessful in passing on 
pressure from the market to our suppliers, is likely only to be partly compensated by savings. 

8.7.6 PROCUREMENT AND INVENTORIES
The risk of greater impairment having to be carried out owing to a swift decline in module prices has 
declined significantly owing to the liquidation of our inventories in Germany and the decentralisation and 
flexibilisation of procurement and can meanwhile be viewed as minimal. The close monitoring of all sub-
sidiaries, accompanied by stringent inventory management standards, are measures that will considerably 
lower the risk of inventory devaluations.

8.7.7 CURRENCY RISKS
Our key financials are partly influenced by exchange rate fluctuations from our global business activities. 
Our focus on international markets heightens this risk. We limit transaction-related currency risks by op-
timising operational cash inflows and outflows. Further currency risks are hedged by means of hedging 
instruments such as foreign exchange futures and options.

8.7.8 OTHER RISKS
Given the current status, none of the other risks subject to constant monitoring through our risk manage-
ment system (default risk, for instance, as well as physical and legal risks) is such that its occurrence would 
be significantly detrimental to the Group’s revenues and result.

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT
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8.8 OPPORTUNITIES

Although there are material risks to the company’s performance in 2014, there are also additional oppor-
tunities here.

There are special opportunities inherent in our US business from flagship projects which have meanwhile 
been realised and the high level of expertise of our employees as regards technology and planning as well 
as in structured financing and in handling approval procedures. By the end of the financial year 2013, we 
had already raised the number of sales staff in this country which facilitated an even stronger positioning. 
This should, in turn, significantly boost the expansion of business relationships with additional investors 
and project developers, thereby ultimately raising the number of offers and volume of business con-
cluded. 

In Asia, we will rise to the challenge posed by the large number of different individual markets with a dy-
namic, international team whose members have good contacts with regional and local industries. Also in 
Asia, the reference projects which have already been completed and the expertise of our employees will 
generate opportunities for raising our company’s profile and expanding our sales activities.

In Germany, Phoenix Solar AG is focusing fully on the new business models which highlight the benefits of 
photovoltaic independent of government subsidies. If we are successful in placing own consumption so-
lutions in the test region, there may be an opportunity of the sales territory being expanded more swiftly 
than originally envisaged in our planning.

In addition, we have focused our sights on the Gulf region where we have already established our pre-
sence through flagship projects in Saudi Arabia and Jordan. We are investigating the possibility of rapidly 
reinforcing our market presence and market penetration in these countries.

If we are successful in seizing the opportunities that arise and translating them into business success before 
the end of 2014, the sales growth could be raised by up to ten percentage points more.

8.9 FUTURE DIVIDEND POLICy

Generally speaking, the goal of Phoenix Solar AG’s dividend policy is to maintain the investment value of 
the company’s share, while also being able to finance the company’s future growth and meet the needs 
of the current business situation. The company has achieved this goal in the past. However, in view of the 
fact that the company wrote considerable losses in the years from 2011 to 2013, no dividend distribution 
has been planned for the foreseeable future.
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9 GENERAL ASSESSMENT OF THE SITUATION AND OUTLOOK OF 
 THE GROUP

With the disposal of business which had been making a decidedly negative contribution to the result right 
up until 2012, a group structure has emerged which was already showing signs in 2013 of significant re-
venue and earnings potential. This has already taken the company a huge step forward towards achieving 
profitable growth again. All restructuring plans and measures were discussed with the financing banks 
which, upon modification and renewal of the existing financing through to March 2015, have provided a 
sound foundation for the company’s future development.

The success of the Phoenix Solar Group currently depends to a great extent on the subsidiaries in the USA 
and in Southeast Asia. We are well positioned in both core markets, have a good track record of testimo-
nials and flagship projects, staff who are well qualified and motivated, as well as good connections in the 
sales markets. On the other hand, therefore, the sales success of these companies will influence the Group 
as a whole. We are aware that there is a certain volatility inherent in the development of business gener-
ated from sale of photovoltaic projects which does not necessarily allow for the anticipation of steady 
growth in revenues and the result from one quarter to the next. With this in mind, we have developed 
and implemented instruments which we use to record and control sales activities and successes across the 
Group in a timely fashion. The Executive Board anticipates and works with all managers towards ensuring 
that the business contacts initiated provide scope which is at minimum sufficient for achieving the object-
ives through generating actual contracts. Nonetheless, it is precisely this generating of orders – or rather 
not generating them – which harbours a considerable risk for the Phoenix Solar Group. Alongside the core 
markets of the USA and Southeast Asia, we aim to reinforce our presence in the Middle East where we can 
also present prestigious testimonials and draw on a good network of contacts.

By comparison, the situation of our European subsidiaries depends to a much greater extent on political 
framework conditions within the European Union and in the individual countries. We currently observe 
that our politicians are seeking for options which allow the expansion of renewal energy to be efficiently 
integrated into the electricity market structures. This search, however, has given rise to a great deal of 
uncertainty in the markets and for customers which could have a negative impact on the development 
of our business. Against this backdrop, we have taken precautions with the aim of preserving a presence 
in these markets as long as possible without incurring notable risks for the Group’s success. Indeed, we 
currently believe that the demand for photovoltaic in these countries will also pick up strong momentum 
in due course. However, we are prepared to wind down specific companies  as we are now doing in Italy  
if this is necessary for the stability of the entire company.

We also consider there to be good future opportunities and growth potential in certain market segments 
in Germany, particularly for small photovoltaic systems optimised to suit private domestic consumption. 
We intend to tap this potential with our innovative offering, thereby gaining a fresh foothold. Our aspir-
ation is to build up a new position in our home market through offering products geared to domestic 
consumption rather than towards feed-in remuneration. Nonetheless we will also monitor the potential 
risks here and keep them to a minimum. 

We are convinced that photovoltaic can hold its own in the competitive arena and remain a future-orien-
ted technology. Its market penetration stands, however, on the threshold of a new phase when conditions 
and opportunities are set to change swiftly while requiring a new mindset from providers, politicians, 
investors and customers. In this situation of radical change, we are positioning Phoenix Solar AG as a 
company which can rise to meet these challenges with its range of products and services. Returning to 
sales and earnings growth will depend on how swiftly we can achieve this positioning and turn our good 
foothold in our core markets into business.

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT
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10 SUSTAINABILITy

Generating electricity from sunlight is itself an act of active environmental protection and an important 
contribution to ensuring a sustainable supply of energy. Besides offering products that protect the envir-
onment, Phoenix Solar also places a high priority on sustainable business and management practices. 
Assuming responsibility for our employees, the environment and society is part of our corporate culture. 
Our slogan “Phoenix Solar – Making Energy Together” is the main guiding principle of our corporate 
philosophy. The principal pillars of our sustainability strategy are environmental protection, our employees 
and a commitment to social responsibility.

In the following, we describe various measures that have been introduced and implemented at the Ger-
man locations in past years and also in the financial year 2013. 

10.1 ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

10.1.1 PRODUCTS, SERVICES AND SUPPLIER RELATIONSHIPS
Phoenix Solar Group only distributes products throughout the world that contribute to climate protection 
and environmental protection. Photovoltaic systems generate electrical energy from sunlight. They are 
virtually silent and do not emit pollutants. Photovoltaic systems are therefore an important element of an 
energy mix that is geared towards mitigating the carbon footprint. Depending on the module technol-
ogy, solar power plants generate the equivalent of the energy used to build them within around three  
years. Thereafter they produce a positive energy footprint. Based on current standards, photovoltaic 
plants can be expected to operate for more than 30 years. 

In building large-scale photovoltaic power plants, the Phoenix Solar Group fulfils and monitors all nature 
protection and environmental protection requirements stipulated in the land-use plans. This also applies 
to carrying out regular operation and maintenance work which partly include the drawing up and imple-
mentation of environmental concepts for the individual photovoltaic power plants.

Suppliers with which the company maintains long-term cooperation relationships are selected on the 
basis of criteria that go beyond product quality to also include the manufacturing process, working con-
ditions and corporate governance. Nearly all the module manufacturers with which Phoenix Solar collab-
orates either participate in professional take-back programmes for photovoltaic modules (photovoltaic 
cycle) or have instituted their own take-back programmes. These programmes guarantee the acceptance 
of used products even if the manufacturer would no longer be in business.

10.1.2 CERTIfIED PROCESSES
Back in 2009 the Power Plants segment of Phoenix Solar AG had already introduced a quality assurance 
and environmental management system which was certified under the international standards DIN EN 
ISO 9001:2008 and DIN EN ISO 14001:2004. The integrated management system was supplemented by 
the introduction of an energy management system certified under DIN EN ISO 50001:2011. The annual 
follow-up audits were conducted both by an internal and an external auditor. The most recent audit and 
renewal of the certification for the operation and maintenance business remaining after the strategic re-
alignment took place in November 2013. 
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10.1.3 ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
Phoenix Solar AG has introduced an environmental management system that is based on the applicable 
standards for quality assurance (DIN EN ISO 9000 et seq.) and the international standard for environ-
mental management (DIN EN ISO 14000 et seq.). The company’s environmental management system 
governs the organisational procedures, the detection of deficiencies, the initiation of corrective measures 
and the provision of necessary resources to improve and preserve the company’s environmental situation. 
The effectiveness of this system is continually monitored, adjusted and improved by means of periodic 
reviews. 

Phoenix Solar AG has appointed an Environmental Management Officer to apply and uphold the 
company’s environmental policy and environmental goals. In close cooperation with the senior ma-
nagement, the Environmental Management Officer ensures that the company fulfils and implements all  
requirements pursuant to DIN EN ISO 14001 and all regulatory requirements. Compliance with the 
company’s environmental policy is verified through internal audits at least once a year.

10.1.5 ENERGY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
We have defined our energy policy as follows: “We at Phoenix Solar AG herewith commit to reducing 
our energy consumption on a long-term basis and to raising our energy efficiency in an ongoing process 
of improvement.” To this end, we operate an energy management system established in accordance 
with DIN EN 50001:2011 standards and ensure that all requirements under this standard are correctly 
implemented and that the processes forming part of this energy management system are continuously 
improved. 

10.1.6 MOTOR VEHICLE fLEET
The group-wide motor vehicle fleet was subject to guidelines relative to cylinder capacity, fuel consump-
tion and CO2 emissions in the financial year 2013. Also in 2013, the environmental protection association 
Deutsche Umwelthilfe honoured Phoenix Solar with the “Green Card for Credible Climate Awareness” in 
recognition of its low carbon footprint. 

10.1.7 OTHER PROGRAMS
We still purchase electricity from a certified eco-power vendor for our German locations in Sulzemoos and 
Ulm. The buildings in Sulzemoos are heated by a wood chip-fuelled thermal power plant. We also take 
great pains to minimise our paper consumption, and we are careful to purchase the paper we use for our 
print products only from paper manufacturers that carry the seal of the Forest Stewardship Council (FSC). 

10.2 COMMITMENT TO SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITy

As members of our community and society, we assume responsibility for everyone connected with our 
company. We are convinced that a large part of our success in business hinges on responsible actions and 
exercising social responsibility. Our activities comprise participation in a wide variety of projects in the area 
of society, education, culture and the environment even if these activities had to be significantly scaled 
back as part of the restructuring process. 

GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT
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11 REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 315 PARA. 4 OF THE GERMAN 
 COMMERCIAL CODE (HGB)

As of 31 December 2013, the share capital of Phoenix Solar AG amounted to EUR 7,372,700.00, un-
changed from the prior year. It is divided into 7,372,700 no-par bearer shares. All shares are issued and 
fully paid-up. Pursuant to Article 5 para. 5 of the Articles of Association, shareholders are not entitled to in-
dividual physical certificates. All shares are ordinary shares. Each share grants the same co-administration 
and asset rights and confers one vote per share in the Annual General Meeting. Further rights and obliga-
tions of the shareholders have been laid down in the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), particularly 
under Sections 53a et. seq. and 118 et. seq.

There are no restrictions on voting rights or on the transfer of shares. The company’s Executive Board is 
not aware of any private-law agreements of this kind between shareholders.

The company is not aware of any shareholders who directly or indirectly hold more than ten percent of 
the company’s share capital. The company has not received any notices to that effect as required by the 
German Securities Trading Act.

No shares endowed with special rights conveying powers of control have been issued. 

Amendments to the Articles of Association are fundamentally subject to the legal provisions under Sec-
tions 133, 179 of the German Stock Corporation Act. If not regulated otherwise in the individual case by 
the Articles of Association, and provided they do not stand in contradiction to mandatory legal require-
ments, resolutions of the Annual General Meeting are passed by way of a simple majority of the equity 
capital represented at the time of the resolution in accordance with Article 14 para. 5 sentence 2 of the 
Articles of Association. Article 12 para. 3 of the Articles of Association stipulates that the Supervisory Board 
is authorised to decide amendments that only affect the wording. Moreover, by virtue of the resolutions 
of the annual general meetings of 7 July 2006, 16 June 2010 and 14 July 2011, the Supervisory Board is 
also authorised to amend Article 5 of the Articles of Association to reflect the respective utilisation of the 
Conditional Capital 2006, the Conditional Capital 2010 and the Authorised Capital 2011. The Supervisory 
Board is similarly authorised after the expiration of the respective authorization periods, and, in the event 
that the Conditional Capital 2010 is not utilised, after expiration of all conversion and/or warrant periods.

The Supervisory Board appoints and revokes the appointment of Executive Board members in accordance 
with the statutory provisions of Sections 84 et. seq. of the German Stock Corporation Act. The number 
of Executive Board members and any deputising Executive Board members is determined by the Super-
visory Board in accordance with Article 6 para. 1 of the Articles of Association.

By way of resolution by the Annual General Meeting of 16 June 2010, the Executive Board was authorised, 
with the consent of the Supervisory Board, to purchase treasury shares representing no more than ten 
percent of the company’s share capital, either in the stock market or by means of a public purchase offer 
to all shareholders, and to resell them on or before 15 June 2015. Further details are set down in proposed 
resolution published in the electronic Federal Gazette dated 7 May 2010 and passed in this form.

By way of resolution by the Annual General Meeting of 14 July 2011, the Executive Board was author-
ised to increase the company’s share capital, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, by up to EUR 
3,686,350.00 by issuing up to 3,686,350.00 new bearer shares in exchange for cash and/or in-kind cap-
ital contributions on one or more occasions on or before 13 July 2016 (Authorised Capital 2011). Subscrip-
tion rights must be granted to the shareholders as a general rule. The Executive Board is authorized, with 
the consent of the Supervisory Board, to exclude subscription rights specifically in the following cases:
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a) when issuing new shares in exchange for cash capital contributions at an issue price that is not signifi-
cantly less than the stock market price of the company’s shares endowed with the same rights. How-
ever, this authorization is subject to the condition that the percentage of share capital represented by 
all the shares issued by virtue of this authorization under exclusion of the subscription right pursuant to 
Sections 203 para. 1, and 186 para. 3 sentence 4 of the German Stock Corporation Act does not exceed 
ten percent of the company’s share capital at the time when the present authorization takes effect or 
when it is exercised, whichever is lower; and 

b) when issuing new shares in exchange for in-kind capital contributions, particularly for the purpose 
of acquiring companies, parts of companies and/or investments in companies. However, this autho-
rization is limited to the extent that the number of shares issued under exclusion of subscription rights 
after the exercise of this authorization or another authorization granted by the Annual General Meeting 
(including the authorizations defined in Sections a and c of the present resolution) does not exceed 
20 percent of the share capital at the time when this authorization takes effect or when it is exercised, 
whichever is lower.

More detailed provisions are set forth in the company’s Articles of Association which are available on 
Phoenix Solar’s website.

No further stock options may be issued under the authorization resolved by the Annual General Meeting 
of 7 July 2006, which was in effect until 1 July 2011, to establish a Stock Option Plan 2006, which entailed 
the issuance of stock options granting subscription rights to shares of the company to members of the 
Executive Board, members of the senior management of Group companies and other selected executives 
and key employees, under the exclusion of the shareholders’ subscription rights. No stock options were 
exercised in financial year 2013. As of 31 December 2013, there were still 58,000 options outstanding. 
The beneficiaries will be entitled to exercise these stock options only if their employment relationship with 
the parent company or another Group company has not been terminated by either party at the time 
when the stock options are exercised. The strike price is no less than EUR 20.00 for any of the tranches. 
Further details on the Stock Option Plan are provided in the notes to the consolidated financial statements 
(Section F, Note (40)). 

The Annual General Meeting of 16 June 2010 authorised the Executive Board to issue, with the consent of 
the Supervisory Board, bearer convertible bonds and/or bearer warrant bonds, or a combination of these 
instruments, in a total nominal amount of up to EUR 200,000,000.00, with a term of no longer than five 
years, granting subscription rights to a total of up to 2,814,000 bearer shares of Phoenix Solar AG, and to 
exclude the subscription rights of shareholders, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, on or before 
15 June 2015. At the same Annual General Meeting, the shareholders resolved to establish Conditional 
Capital 2010 to service the corresponding rights. The terms and conditions of the convertible bonds and/
or warrant bonds will be established separately, with the consent of the Supervisory Board. 

The syndicated loan agreement concluded on 11 May 2012 and subsequently amended and reformu-
lated by agreement of 8 February 2013 contains change-of-control clauses. Under this agreement, all 
drawdowns under the credit facility will be due and payable within fourteen days if one person or several 
persons “acting in concert” gain control over the company (“change of control”). For this purpose, con-
trol is defined as the holding (either directly or indirectly) of a qualified minority stake (more than 30 per-
cent) of the shares or voting rights in the company, or the right to appoint or revoke the appointments of 
Executive Board members, or to appoint the management and/or the Supervisory Board of the company.

At the present time, no commitments have been made to any Executive Board member in the event of 
termination of his employment by reason of a change of control (“change-of-control clause”).
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12 COMPENSATION REPORT

12.1 BASIC PRINCIPLES OF THE COMPENSATION SySTEM FOR THE EXECUTIVE BOARD AND 
 SUPERVISORy BOARD

In accordance with Section 315 para. 2 item 4 of the German Commercial Code (HGB), the basic prin-
ciples of the compensation system applied for setting the total compensation of the Executive Board and 
Supervisory Board of Phoenix Solar AG, as prescribed in Section 314 para. 1 item 6 of the German Com-
mercial Code, are presented in the following compensation report. The compensation report adheres to 
the provisions of the Executive Board Compensation Disclosure Act (VorstOG) and the recommendations 
of the German Corporate Governance Code, and itemises the compensation granted to individual mem-
bers of the Executive Board and Supervisory Board.

12.2 EXECUTIVE BOARD

The compensation of Executive Board members is composed of a fixed, non-performance-based com-
ponent and a variable, performance-based component. This ensures that the individual Executive Board 
members are rewarded for their performance and level of responsibility, depending on the company’s 
economic situation and success. 

In the financial year 2013, the total compensation of Executive Board members was composed of the 
non-performance related components and performance-related components described in the following:

Compensation components that are not dependent on performance include a basic monthly salary, the 
provision of a company car which can also be used for private purposes, and the assumption of a premium 
for an accident insurance policy which primarily covers accidents on the job, but also covers liability in 
the private sphere. Furthermore, social security contributions as prescribed by the law, minimum or fixed 
bonuses, additional board and lodging costs and severance payments also form part of non-performance 
based compensation.

As a general rule, a dual system comprising both personal, qualitative goals and company-specific, quan-
titative goals has been used to date as the basis for performance-based compensation. To ensure that the 
compensation system is appropriately geared to long-term success, long-term incentives were installed 
in the form of an EBIT hurdle for the quantitative goals and a bonus index system based on a multiplier 
concept which was developed by the Swiss research firm Obermatt. Against the backdrop of far-reaching 
changes in the entire solar industry, peer group insolvencies, the comprehensive restructuring and re-
alignment of Phoenix Solar and the administrative costs, this system is, however, no longer adequate. The 
performance-based remuneration was therefore switched to a flexible form with a system of agreeing 
goals which allows the Supervisory Board to agree and set goals specially aligned to the company’s res-
pective situation and the scope of responsibility assigned to the individual Executive Board member, and 
to define variable compensation depending on the degree to which goals are achieved. Performance is 
generally assessed over a horizon of several years in order to factor in the company’s sustainable devel-
opment. The Supervisory Board can, however, diverge from this principle depending on the company’s 
situation and opt for a single year basis, for instance. Owing to the special restructuring situation with the 
comprehensive realigning of the company in 2013, this option was selected. In the financial year elapsed, 
the performance of the two regions of Asia and USA for which Dr. Murray Cameron bears responsibility 
at Executive Board level was of great significance for the Group’s success, alongside the consistent and 
successful implementation of restructuring. Based on the new regulations governing performance-based 
compensation, goals which take account of this importance were agreed with Dr. Cameron. The para-
meters applied consisted of EBIT along with the order books and pipelines of the two regions covered by 
the two local subsidiaries. 



In the context of Dr. Andreas Hänel leaving company, the activities of Dr. Bernd Köhler as an Executive 
Board member and his assumption of the role of Chief Executive Officer on 1 March 2013 were redefined 
on the new contractual basis of a management service agreement. This agreement no longer provides 
for additional benefits such as a company car, accident insurance, continued payment of benefits in the 
event of death, contributions to a company pension or regulations governing severance payment, and 
defines a relatively strong performance incentive through the company’s option to terminate the contract 
at relatively short notice. Compensation is based on a fixed and a fundamentally variable daily rate. The 
latter component was, however, also fixed during the financial year 2013.

The performance-based compensation components are capped.

The total compensation paid to the Executive Board amounted to kEUR 1,187 (2012: kEUR 872). Compen-
sation is itemised as follows:

Aside from the company pension plan, no further pension commitments have been made to members 
of the Executive Board. In the case of death, remuneration will be paid to the surviving dependants for a 
period of six months. 

No loans were extended to members of the Executive Board.

12.3 SUPERVISORy BOARD

The compensation of the Supervisory Board is authorised and determined by the Annual General Meet-
ing in accordance with Article 11 of the company’s Articles of Association. The regular Annual General 
Meeting in 2012 revised the compensation paid to Supervisory Board members. Under the new system, 
members of the Supervisory Board receive compensation of EUR 15,000 each for the respective financial 
year. The Chairman is paid two and a half times this compensation, which amounts to EUR 37,500. The 
Vice Chairman receives one and a half times this amount, i.e. EUR 22,500. Supervisory Board members 
belonging to the Supervisory Board for only part of the financial year receive one twelfth of the aforemen-
tioned compensation for each new month of their activity. In addition, each member of the Supervisory 
Board received an attendance fee of EUR 1,000 for each meeting of the Supervisory Board in which the 
respective member participated. In respect of attendance fees, two telephone conferences held by the 
Supervisory Board were treated as Supervisory Board meetings. Attendance fees are disbursed after each 
meeting or each telephone conference. The Company reimburses members of the Supervisory Board for 
their expenses and for value added tax incurred by their Supervisory Board activities. As a further benefit, 
the company provides insurance cover for the members of the Supervisory Board and technical support 
to the Chairman of the Supervisory Board within a scope appropriate for the exercising of his tasks as 
Chairman of the Supervisory Board.
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 Non-success- Success- Components Total
 dependent dependent with a longterm
 components components incentive effect
k€

 2011 2011 2011 2011

Dr. Andreas Hänel*

Dr. Bernd Köhler

Dr. Murray Cameron

Executive Board 
total**

* Dr. Andreas Hänel withdrew from the Executive Board of Phoenix Solar AG on 28 February 2013 and left the company on 31 May 2013. In the context of cancelling his contractual relationship, 
 a severance payment of kEUR 235 was paid.
** The figures on the overall amounts also comprise payments to board members in the year 2012 who no longer acted in this capacity for the company in 2013 and are therefore no longer listed 
 in the overview of above. 

2013

343

527

177

1,047

2012

218

191

139

573

2013

0

0

140

140

2012

36

153 

39

234

2013

0

0

0

0

2012

0

65

0

65

2013

343

527

317

1,187

2012

254

409 

178

872
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There were no consultancy contracts between the company and members of the Supervisory Board. 
Similarly, no Supervisory Board member was granted loans by the company.

The compensation of the Supervisory Board contained neither in the financial year 2013 nor in the finan-
cial year 2012 any success-dependent components or components with a longterm incentive effect.

The sum total of remuneration paid to the Supervisory Board in 2013 amounted to kEUR 124 (2012:  
kEUR 196) and is itemised in the table below (net figures excluding VAT).

13 AFFIRMATION By THE LEGALLy AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

“To the best of our knowledge, we hereby affirm that the Group financial statements give a true and fair 
reflection of the results of operations, financial position and net assets of the Group in accordance with 
the applicable generally accepted accounting principles.”

Sulzemoos, den 26 March 2014
Phoenix Solar Aktiengesellschaft
The Executive Board

Dr. Bernd Köhler  Dr. Murray Cameron Olaf Laber
(Chief Executive Officer) (Chief Operating Officer) (Member of the Executive Board)
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   Non-success-dependent Total
   components 
k€   (incl. ancillary benefits) 

 

J. Michael Fischl

Prof. Dr. Thomas Zinser

Oliver Gosemann

Total*

* The figures on the total amounts include payments disbursed in 2012 to Board members who were no longer active in this capacity for the company in 2013 and were therefore no longer listed 
in the table above.

2013

52

38

34 

124

2013

52

38

34 

124

2012

63

45

30 

196

2012

63

45

30 

196
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Persuant to IfRS for the period from 1 January 2013 until 31 December 2013 Notes
k€ C.

Revenues   (1)

Change in inventory of work in process   (2)

Overall performance 

Other operating income   (3)

Cost of materials   (4)

Personnel expenses  (5)

Depreciation and amortisation  

Other operating expenses  (6)

Operating result 

Result from associated companies  (8)

EBIT 

Financial income 

Financial costs 

financial result   (9)

Consolidiated net income before income taxes (EBT) 

Income taxes   (10)

Consolidiated net income for the period 

– of which due to minority interest 

– of which due to majority shareholders 

Earnings per share 

Earnings per share (basic) (in €)   (11)

Earnings per share (diluted) (in €)  (11) 

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

pursuant to IfRS for the period from 1 January 2013 until 31 December 2013 Notes
k€ D.

Consolidiated net income for the period 

Transactions associated with minority interests  

Differences from currency translation 

Income taxes recognised directly under equity 

Changes in value recognised directly under equity   (27)

Overall performance 

– of which due to minority interest 

– of which due to majority shareholders 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

01/01/2012
– 31/12/2012

155,430

3,299

158,729

7,799

146,167

21,073

5,957

25,171

– 31,840

50

– 31,790

226

5,727

– 5,501

– 37,291

300

– 37,591

– 308

– 37,283

– 5.06

– 5.06

01/01/2013
– 31/12/2013

141,223 

0 

141,223 

5,441 

119,609 

14,578 

1,663 

12,288 

– 1,475 

68 

 – 1,407 

158 

5,210

– 5,052

– 6,459 

2,847 

– 9,306

1,382 

– 10,688 

– 1.45 

– 1.45  

01/01/2012
– 31/12/2012

– 37,591

0

34

0

34

– 37,557

– 308

–37,249

01/01/2013
– 31/12/2013

– 9,306 

– 308 

– 433 

0 

– 741 

– 10,047 

1,074 

– 11,121 
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ASSETS Notes
k€ C. and D.

Noncurrent assets 

Intangible assets  (12,15)

Goodwill  (13,15)

Property, plant and equipment  (14,15)

Investments in associates  (16)

Other participating interests  (17)

Noncurrent receivables  (18)

Deferred tax assets  (10)

Noncurrent other financial assets   (23)

Total noncurrent assets 

Current assets 

Inventories  (19)

Prepayments  (20)

Receivables from long-term construction contracts   (21)

Trade receivables  (22)

Current other financial assets  (23)

Current other non-financial assets  (25)

Current income tax assets  

Cash and cash equivalents  (26)

Total current assets 

Total assets 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
pursuant to IFRS as at 31 December 2013

31/12/2013

 

794 

298 

15,126 

397 

151 

486 

995 

147  

18,393  

3,083 

85 

5,354 

13,418 

8,859 

7,411 

1,126 

10,029  

49,366  

67,758  

31/12/2012

 

1,180 

 298

15,612

397

 161

497

2,067

 290

 20,501

 

11,593 

331 

665

26,244

10,824 

11,584

2,047

8,862 

72,151

92,652
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LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY Notes
k€ C. and D.

Equity 

Subscribed capital  (27)

Capital reserve  (27)

Accumulated other equity  (27)

Share of majority shareholders in consolidated equity 

Share of minority interest in consolidated equity 

Total equity 

Noncurrent liabilities and provisions 

Noncurrent financial liabilities  (28)

Noncurrent provisions  (29)

Deferred tax liabilities  (10)

Total noncurrent liabilities and provisions 

Current liabilities and provisions 

Current financial liabilities  (28)

Liabilities from long-term construction contracts   (21)

Trade payables   (30)

Other financial liabilities  (31)

Other non-financial liabilities  (11)

Current provisions  (29)

Current income tax liabilities 

Total current liabilities and provisions 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31/12/2013

 

7,373 

64,582 

65,949 

6,005

1,458  

7,464  

40,330 

934 

3 

41,267 

4 

2,401 

4,784 

2,600 

4,561 

3,934 

744 

19,028 

67,758

31/12/2012

 

7,373 

64,582 

– 55,035

16,919

384

 17,304

 

10 

1,672 

32

1,714

 

39,543

1,759

17,799 

3,697 

5,550

4,791

495 

73,634

92,652
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 Subscribed Capital Accumu- Share of  Share of  Total 
 capital reserve lated other majority minority equity
   equity shareholders interest
    in consoli- in consoli-
    dated equity dated equity 

  

 7,373  64,528  – 17,787   54,114  692  54,806 

  54  0 54  0 54

  0 34 34 0 34

  0 0 0 0  0

   – 37,283 – 37,283  – 308  – 37,591 

 7,373  64,582  – 55,035   16,919  384  17,303 

 7,373  64,582  – 55,035  16,919  384  17,303

  0 0 0 0 0

  0 – 433 – 433  0  – 433 

  0 207 207 – 308  –100

   – 10,688  – 10,688  1,382  – 9,306  

 7,373  64,582 – 65,949  6,005  1,458  7,464  

for the period Notes
from 01/01/2012 C. and D.
until 31/12/2013

k€

As per 1 January 2012

Reserve for 
share options   (27), (40)

Difference from 
currency translation  (27)

Change in companies
to be consolidated  

Consolidated net
income/loss in 2012 

As per 31 December 2012

As per 1 January 2013

Reserve for  
share options   (27), (40)

Difference from
currency translation  (27)

Change in companies
to be consolidated  

Consolidated net
income/loss in 2013 

As per 31 December 2013

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EqUITy
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pursuant to IfRS for the period 2013 Notes
from 1 January 2013 until 30 December 2013 C. and D.
k€ 

 

Consoldiated income before income taxes 

Depreciation and amortisation  (6)

Other non-cash income (–) and expenses (+)
(including result from associated companies)  

Profit/loss from disposal of intangible assets and equipments 

Financial income  (9)

Financial costs  (9)

Sub-total 

Increase/decrease in provisions 
(net of discounting effects and non-cash releases)  (29)

Non-cash changes in noncurrent assets  (14), (15)

Increase/decrease in inventories  (19)

Increase/decrease in prepayments  (20)

Increase/decrease in receivables from long-term construction contracts  (21)

Increase/decrease in trade receivables (excl. non-cash transactions)  (22)

Increase/decrease in assets  (23), (25)

Increase/decrease in liabilities  (30), (31)

funds generated by operating activities 

Interest paid  (9)

Income taxes paid  (10)

Cash flow from operating activities 

Proceeds from associated companies 

Proceeds from disposal of intangible assets and equipment 

Purchase of intangible assets and equipment  (12), (14), (15)

Cash flow from investing activities 

Payments in connection with financial liabilities   (28) 

Commission for syndicated loan agreement  

Interest income 

Cash flow from financing activities 

Changes in cash and cash equivalents 

Currency-induced changes in cash and cash equivalents  

Consolidation-related changes in cash and cash equivalents 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the period  (26)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period  (26)

Increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents 

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

01/01/2013
– 31/12/2013

– 6,459

1,663 

– 289 

– 23 

– 158 

5,210  

– 56 

– 1,221 

– 17

8,291 

246 

– 4,688 

12,301 

6,207 

– 14,462  

6,601  

– 3,901 

– 384 

2,316 

0 

33 

– 896

– 863

781 

– 1,225 

158 

– 286 

1,167 

0 

0 

1,167 

8,862 

10,029 

1,167 

01/01/2012
– 31/12/2012

– 37,291 

5,957 

12,519

24

– 226

5,727

– 13,289

– 8,747

– 15,069 

35,068

702

14,330

3,611

– 666

– 15,275

665

– 4,211

– 5,695

– 9,241 

47

22

– 353

– 283 

14,752

– 2,964

186

11,974

2,450

0

0

2,450

6,412

8,862

2,450
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A. BASIC PRINCIPLES AND METHODS

(1) GENERAL

As of 31 December 2013, the Phoenix Solar Group (also referred to hereinafter as the Phoenix Group) 
consisted of 22 companies with a total of 120 (2012: 228) employees (including temporary employees, 
excluding members of the Executive Board).

The parent company, which is also the high-level parent company of the Group, is a corporation (stock 
corporation) and in accordance with the resolution adopted by the annual general meeting of the former 
Phoenix SonnenStrom Aktiengesellschaft of 25 May 2007, the company is named Phoenix Solar Aktien-
gesellschaft (referred to hereinafter as: Phoenix Solar AG), with its head office at Hirschbergstraße 8, in 
85254 Sulzemoos, Germany; it is registered in the Commercial Register of the Munich Local Court under 
the register number HRB 129117. 

The parent company has been included in the Prime Standard segment of the German stock exchange 
operated by Deutsche Börse AG, Frankfurt am Main, since 27 June 2006. The Prime Standard is one of the 
EU-regulated segments; it is the admission portal for companies that also wish to address international in-
vestors. Companies listed in the Prime Standard segment are required to apply the accounting regulations 
of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), those being the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), to the ex-
tent they have been adopted in the European Union by way of the EU endorsement process.

The business object of the parent company comprises the development, production, sales, operation and 
administration of components and systems for generating energy from renewable energy sources, and 
the assembly and maintenance of such equipment. The Phoenix Group also distributes components and 
systems for generating energy from renewable energy sources. The company is entitled to engage in any 
business which directly or indirectly serves the purpose of the enterprise. It may set up branch operations 
or branch offices at home and abroad and take holdings in identical or similar facilities. It may pursue the 
object of the company as a holding company either wholly or in part. In 2013 the company’s activities 
took place almost exclusively in North America, Asia and in the Eurozone.

(2) INFORMATION ON ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Therefore, Phoenix Solar AG prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with the provi-
sions of the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) or International Accounting Standards (IAS) 
to be applied as of 31 December 2013 as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 
in London and adopted by the EU in the time until the preparation of the present consolidated financial 
statements. All Interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 
applicable to the financial year 2013 and the earlier interpretations of the Standing Interpretations Com-
mittee (SIC), insofar as adopted by the EU until preparation of these consolidated financial statements, 
as well as the supplementary provisions of Section 315a para. 1 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) 
have been observed in the present consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, the financial state-
ments consist of the consolidated income statement plus the statement of comprehensive income, the 
consolidated statement of financial position, the consolidated statement of changes in equity, the conso-
lidated cash flow statement, the notes to the consolidated financial statements and the additional Group 
management report. The consolidated financial statements were prepared on the basis of the going-
concern principle and the historical cost principle, with the exception of the fair model value applied for 
purposes of measuring the value of derivative financial instruments. 
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The consolidated financial statements are denominated in EUR, as the reporting currency of the Group. 
In accordance with the functional currency concept, the items of the statements of financial position of 
the respective Group companies are always denominated in the currency used in the primary economic 
environment in which the company operates. Transactions denominated in currencies other than the 
functional currency are translated at the spot rate between the functional currency and the non-func-
tional currency applicable on the respective transaction date. Any currency translation differences are 
recognised in profit or loss.

When a measurement unit different than the EUR is used, such as k€, for example, such fact will be indi-
cated in the respective denomination.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the use of estimates and assumptions that 
may influence the amounts of assets, liabilities and financial commitments as of the reporting date and 
the amounts of income and expenses during the financial year. The actual amounts can differ from these 
estimates. In particular, the management is required to make estimates and assumptions relative to the 
adoption of uniform recognition and measurement principles to be applied in the consolidated financial 
statements. Such estimates and assumptions are continually reviewed and adjusted whenever past experi-
ences, other factors and reasonable estimations of future developments necessitate a different assessment 
of specific topics by the management. The effects of any changes in the estimates or assumptions applied 
are recognised in profit or loss prospectively in the period in which such changes are made.

The principal estimates and assumptions that can be particularly important for the Group’s financial posi-
tion, cash flows and results of operations are the following:

• ASSESSMENT Of THE STAGE Of COMPLETION UNDER THE PERCENTAGE-Of-COMPLETION METHOD
The Group employs qualified definition criteria in determining whether to apply the percentage-of-com-
pletion method or the zero-profit method according to IAS 11. As a result of developments in the indus-
try and the continual evolution of contract types associated with those developments, it is necessary in 
some cases to estimate the future fulfilment of contractual conditions precedent as of the reporting date. 
Although the Construction Controlling Department of the Phoenix Group applies the most probable 
outcome of a contract to the greatest possible extent as the basis for assessing the applicability of the 
percentage-of-completion method, it is nonetheless possible that rather improbable scenarios may come 
into effect, making it necessary to reclassify a construction contract as a zero-profit method contract 
according to the principles of pro-rated profit recognition. Such a reclassification could lead to a different 
presentation of the results of operations and financial position. 

Because the cost-to-cost method is applied in nearly all divisions of the company, future project costs 
need to be estimated in order to determine the percentage of completion as of the reporting date and 
therefore also the recognition of receivables under long-term construction contracts. In such cases, it 
cannot be ruled out that estimation errors could lead to imprecise results with regard to the recognition 
of period profits.

• ESTIMATION Of THE SALEABILITY Of MODULE INVENTORIES 
As a wholesaler, it is necessary to keep certain products in sufficient reserve quantities in order to quickly 
fill individual release orders by customers. The portfolio of products is constantly monitored and periodic-
ally adjusted. Adjustments are made on the basis of the company’s estimates of the marketability of pro-
ducts and the anticipated demand. In making such estimations, it cannot be ruled out that the demand 
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may be estimated incorrectly. This can result in the creation of inventories that run the risk of becoming 
obsolete due to technological progress and would therefore have to be written down to the lower net 
realisable value. The relevant values are forecast by Sales.

• ESTIMATION Of INCOME TAXES
The determining factor for recognising deferred tax assets is always an estimation of the future perform-
ance of the respective taxpaying entity. In determining the amount of deferred tax assets that can be 
recognised, the management needs to make important assumptions regarding the expected timing and 
amount of future taxable income, as well as future tax planning strategies.

• ESTIMATION Of THE ENfORCEABILITY Of CONTRACTUAL PURCHASING AND SELLING TERMS
The Phoenix Group places a high priority on the appropriateness and balance of purchasing and selling  
terms. In a very dynamic market like the photovoltaic market, this fundamental approach could lead to the 
result that contractual agreements and terms are agreed in part with the goal of influencing purchasing 
and selling prices, which entails the consideration of future events. To predict the outcome of such events, 
which cannot be influenced by the Phoenix Group in every respect, an estimation of the future occur-
rence of events needs to be made for period accrual purposes. Such estimates can differ from the actual 
outcome of events.

• DETERMINATION Of THE NEED fOR IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
In conducting impairment tests of goodwill, the Group applies calculations based on the discounted cash 
flow method. For this purpose, the expected cash flows over the next three years are derived from the 
financial plan of the tested cash-generating unit. The recoverable amount is highly dependent on the dis-
count factor applied in connection with the discounted cash flow method, as well as the expected future 
cash flows and the growth rate applied for extrapolation purposes.

• MEASUREMENT Of fINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
In those cases in which no primary market exists, the fair value of financial instruments must be deter-
mined either on the basis of derived market prices or through the use of recognised valuation models such 
as the discounted cash flow method. The Group applies the “fair-value hierarchy” defined in IFRS 7, under 
which the fair value is determined on the basis of input factors assigned to one of three levels, depending 
on the reliability of the respective input factors. The three levels used are as follows:  
–  Level 1 – price quotations for similar instruments 
–  Level 2 – directly observed market input factors if not already contained in Level 1
–  Level 3 – input factors not based on observable market data

Model inputs classified as Level 1 and 2 are determined to the greatest extent possible on the basis of 
observable market data. When that is not possible, as in the case of Level 3 inputs, the fair values must be 
determined by means of discretionary judgements, to some extent. Such discretionary judgements relate 
to parameters such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in the assumptions underlying such 
factors can have an effect on the recognised fair values of financial instruments.

NOTES
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• MEASUREMENT Of STOCK OPTIONS
IFRS 2 is applied for the accounting treatment of stock option plans, as particular forms of compensation 
under which the company will be obligated to deliver its own shares to the beneficiaries when the stock 
options are exercised. The fair value of the stock options at the grant date is determined on the basis of 
market prices (quoted prices of Deutsche Börse AG, Frankfurt), in consideration of the issue terms and 
conditions and by application of generally recognised measurement techniques for financial instruments. 
The factors considered in measuring the value of stock options are the exercise price, the term, the current 
market value of the underlying instrument (the share of Phoenix Solar AG), the expected volatility of the 
market price based on historical volatilities, the expected dividends to be paid on the shares and risk-free 
interest rate for the term of the stock options. Other factors taken into consideration, as particular aspects 
of the exercise possibility, are the necessary waiting period (vesting period) and the potential exercise of 
the stock options, based on historical exercise patterns. In subsequent periods, the calculated value of the 
stock options is expensed proportionally over the term, in consideration of the assumed length of service 
or the assumed turnover among the beneficiaries. Because the corresponding amounts are presented 
in personnel expenses and in the additional paid-in capital reserves, changes in estimates relative to the 
quantity structure can lead to discontinuous capital appropriations.

• MEASUREMENT Of LONG-TERM INCENTIVES
As far as performance-related compensation is concerned, a dual system comprising both personal, quali-
tative goals and company-specific, quantitative goals has, so far been applied. In order to ensure a suit-
able compensation system for the future, long-term incentives were taken into account to the extent 
that both an EBIT barrier and a bonus index system with multipliers developed by the Swiss research 
company Obermatt were put in place. However this system was no longer adequate against the back-
ground of major changes taking place in the entire solar industry, insolvencies among similar companies, 
and the comprehensive restructuring and realignment of Phoenix Solar and its administrative costs. The 
performance-related compensation was therefore changed to a flexible format with agreed targets which 
enable the Supervisory Board to agree or set targets tailored to the particular situation of the company 
and the areas of responsibility of individual board members, and to shape the variable remuneration as a 
function of achieving those targets. The basis for assessing targets always covers several years in order to 
reflect sustainable growth. However, the Supervisory Board may depart from this principle depending on 
the company’s situation and for example select a one-year timeframe. Advantage was taken of this option 
in 2013 due to the special restructuring situation with the fundamental realignment of the company.

• RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT Of PROVISIONS AND/OR CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Due to the Group’s business activity in the Power Plants segment and the generally assumed role of gen-
eral contractor, the Group may be exposed to special warranty risks in some cases. Although the Group 
requires adherence to quality standards (such as ISO 9001 certification for sub-contractors and suppliers, 
for example) in selecting materials and sub-contractors, as well as the appropriate training of the Phoenix 
employees involved, warranty provisions for completed projects cannot be entirely avoided. Due to a 
lack of industry-specific long-term experience, statistical methods must be applied to a great extent for 
determining the best estimate of a provision. Due to the absence of a basic population of statistically 
analysable data at the present time, it must be assumed that the reliability of such estimates is limited. As 
a consequence, therefore, it cannot be ruled out that over the coming periods provisions will not match 
sales growth or the materials and services used.

NOTES
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a) The following new standards and interpretations or changes to existing standards and  
 interpretations have to be applied for the first time for financial years starting from  
 1 January 2013:
•	 Change to IfRS1: “first-time application of International financial Reporting Standards” – Intro-

duction of an exemption rule following high inflation and removal of some fixed timings contained in 
the standard as well as the facilitation of government loans.

•	 Change to IAS 1: “Presentation of financial statements“ – Rule governing the way in which items 
are shown in other comprehensive income (OCI) in the statement of comprehensive income.

•	 Changes to IfRS 7: “financial instruments: Details“ and IAS 32: “financial instruments: Presenta-
tion“ – Amendments and changes with regard to the extension of disclosure requirements in netting 
financial assets and financial liabilities. The change to IAS 32 clarifies the meaning of some of the rules 
applicable to offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities in the statement of financial position. 

•	 IfRS 13: “fair Value Measurement“ – The Standard deals with matters of fair value measurement 
and related disclosures in the notes. The goal is to bring about a further convergence of IFRS with U.S. 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (US GAAP). IFRS 13 offers guidance for measuring fair value 
to the extent that fair value measurement is required by other IFRS’s; IFRS 13 does therefore not extend 
the scope of fair value measurement. The goal is to harmonise IFRS and US GAAP with respect to the 
definition of fair value and the methods to be applied in measuring fair value, and particularly also the 
required disclosures in the notes related to fair value measurement. 

•	 Change to IAS 12: “Income taxes“ – Change with regard to the way in which underlying assets are 
realised

•	 Change to IAS 19: “Employee benefits” – Central to the change to IAS 19 is the abolition of the so-
called corridor method. Discrepancies between pension obligations shown in the statement of financial 
position and actual pension obligations existing in the form of actuarial profits and losses are no longer 
permitted from 1 January 2013. Because the Phoenix Group does not maintain any such pension plans, 
these changes will have no effect on the financial statements and disclosures of the Phoenix Solar 
Group.

The review of newly applicable Standards was not yet completed as of the reporting date. The presenta-
tion of the newly applicable Standards, changes and interpretations which may be relevant to the Group 
was shown under Item a) with a corresponding comment. 
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b) Standards, changes and interpretations which are not compulsory nor applied early
The following Standards, changes and interpretations had been published by the reporting date and must 
be applied by 1 January 2014 at the earliest:
•	 fRS 10: “Consolidated financial Statements“, IfRS 11: „Joint Arrangements“ and IfRS 12: „Dis-

closure of Interests in Other Entities“ as a comprehensive project for reform: 
 – IFRS 10 establishes a uniform definition for the term control and therefore a uniform basis for ident-
  ifying the existence of a parent-subsidiary relationship and the related delineation of the consolidation  
  group. 
 – IFRS 11 applies to the accounting treatment of situations in which a company exercises joint control  
  over a joint venture or joint operation. The new Standard replaces IAS 31: “Interests in Joint Ventures“  
  and SIC-13: “Jointly Controlled Entities - Non-Monetary Contributions by Ventures“ as the rules pre- 
  viously relevant to questions relating to the accounting treatment of joint ventures.
 – IFRS 12 applies to the disclosures to be made in the notes to the consolidated financial statements  
  concerning interests in other entities and joint arrangements.

In November 2012, the IASB published further amendments to the consolidation standards IFRS 10, IFRS 
12 and IAS 27 (see above). These amendments pertain to the consolidation of investment companies. The 
new rules have not yet been endorsed by the European Union. They must be applied in financial years 
that begin on or after 1 January 2014. 

•	 Adjustment to IAS 27 (2011): “Separate financial Statements“ – now only contains the unchanged 
rules for IFRS separate financial statements. The new Standard replaces the previously relevant IAS 27 
(2008): “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements“ and SIC-12: “Consolidation – Special Purpo-
se Entities“.

•	 Change to IAS 28 (2011): “Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures“ was amended and adap-
ted to reflect the new Standards IFRS 10, 11 and 12.

The new provisions were endorsed by the European Union in December 2012. Within the European Uni-
on, the rules must be applied in financial years that begin on or after 1 January 2014. The Phoenix Solar 
Group does not intend to apply them ahead of time. At the present time, the Phoenix Group anticipates 
that these publications will not lead to any changes in the consolidation group, but will only require ad-
ditional disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. Because the amended version 
of IAS 27 applies only to separate financial statements and Phoenix Solar AG does not prepare separate 
IFRS financial statements pursuant to Section 325 para. 2a HGB, these amendments will have no effects 
on the Phoenix Solar Group.

•	 Change to IfRS 9: “financial Instruments“ – The change provides for a compulsory first date of 
application for IFRS 9 on 1 January 2015 or for financial years beginning thereafter. This amendment 
is meant to allow for the concurrent application of all the regulations of IFRS 9, because only Phase 1 
(Recognition and Measurement of Financial Instruments) has been completed to date, whereas Phases 
2 and 3 (Impairment and Hedge Accounting) of IAS 39 Replacement Project are still being discussed. 
Furthermore, the revised version allows reporting entities the option of not adjusting the prior year 
comparison figures upon the first-time application of IFRS 9. Originally, this simplification option had 
been allowed only if IFRS 9 were to be applied prior to the obligatory date of 1 January 2012. Compa-
nies that exercise this option are required to make additional disclosures in the notes to the financial 
statements according to IFRS 7 in the transition period. Such disclosures are meant to enable investors 
to assess the effects on the recognition and measurement of financial instruments resulting from the 
first-time application of IFRS 9. The postponement of the obligatory date of first-time application does 
not entail any changes to the Phase 1 regulations of IFRS 9 that have already been adopted. Earlier 
application is still permitted. The revised Standard has not yet been endorsed by the EU. The Phoenix 
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Group currently expects that these amendments will not necessitate any changes to the Group’s pre-
vious accounting practices.

The IASB has published its Annual Improvements to IFRS’s 2010 – 2012 Cycle which had the effect of 
amending seven Standards. The new regulations have to be applied retrospectively to financial years 
beginning on or after 1 January 2014 and have not yet been endorsed by the European Union. Phoenix 
Solar AG is currently assessing the resulting effects on the presentation of the Group’s financial position, 
cash flows and results of operations and does not expect these amendments to result in material changes. 

•	 In the changes to IfRS 2: “Share-based payment“ the definitions of “condition of exercise” and “mar-
ket condition” have been clarified and in addition the definitions of “condition of performance” and 
“condition of service” have been supplemented. 

•	 The change to IfRS 3: “Business Combinations“ clarifies that contingent consideration which is clas-
sified as an asset or liability must be measured at its fair value on each reporting date. Changes to the 
fair value (with the exception of adjustments made in the measurement period) must be shown as 
expenditure or income. 

•	 The changes to IfRS 8: “Operating Segments“ specify in particular that a company must disclose any 
discretionary decisions that were taken by the company’s management when applying the summary 
criteria to operating segments. 

•	 The change to IfRS 13 concerns the basis for the conclusion in order to clarify that publication of IFRS 
13 and the consequential changes to IFRS 9 and IAS 39 associated with it do not mean that the option 
not to discount short-term receivables and payables has been abolished.

•	 The changes to IAS 16: „Property, Plant and Equipment“ mean that when a tangible asset is revalued 
the gross value is adjusted in a way that matches the revaluation of the carrying amount.

•	 The change to IAS 24: „Related Party Disclosures“ clarifies that a company providing management 
services for the reporting entity or the parent company of the reporting entity, must be viewed as a 
related party to the reporting entity.

•	 The change to IAS 38: „Intangible Assets“ means that when an intangible asset is revalued, the gross 
carrying amount is adjusted in a way that matches the revaluation of the carrying amount, and that 
the cumulative depreciation constitutes the difference between the gross carrying amount and the net 
carrying amount after any impairment losses. 

In addition the IASB has published its “Annual Improvements to IFRS’s 2011 – 2013 Cycle” which had 
the effect of amending four further Standards. The new regulations have to be applied retrospectively to 
financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2014 and have not yet been endorsed by the European 
Union. 

(3) REPORTING DATE

The reporting date of the companies included in the consolidated financial statements is 31 December 
of every year. The accounting period covered by the financial statements is the period from 1 January to 
31 December.
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(4) DATE OF AUTHORIZATION FOR ISSUE

The financial statements were authorised for issue on 26 March 2014. Authorization was issued by the 
Executive Board and passed to the Supervisory Board for approval.  

(5) CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES

CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES
All subsidiaries in accordance with the principles of IAS 27 were included in the consolidated financial 
statements of Phoenix Solar AG. The consolidation group belonging to the Phoenix Group has only chan-
ged marginally by comparison with 31 December 2012.

The following companies – permanent subsidiaries and project subsidiaries – formed part of the consoli-
dation group as at 31 December 2013 in addition to Phoenix Solar AG (parent company):

The outstanding share of 25 percent of Horus S.r.l., Ragusa, was acquired in the first quarter 2013. 

Plaxo S.L., Madrid, was deconsolidated in the first quarter 2013, Abalia Solar S.L., Madrid, in the second 
quarter 2013 due to the liquidation of both companies. Due to the deconsolidations Phoenix Solar AG 
suffered losses of subordinate importance to the earnings position. 

Project companies Type of Consolidation  Share of equity/
   voting rights

SOMI GmbH, Sulzemoos, Germany Full consolidation 100 %

Exploris GmbH, Sulzemoos, Germany Full consolidation 100 %

Grundstücksgesellschaft Jocksdorf II GmbH, Sulzemoos, Germany Full consolidation 100 %

Scarlatti S.r.l., Eppan an der Weinstrasse, Italy Full consolidation 100 %

Horus S.r.l., Ragusa, Italy Full consolidation 100 %

Sunpremier 2030 S.L., Madrid, Spain  Full consolidation 100 % 

Bâtisolaire 3 SAS, Carpiquet, France Full consolidation 100 %

Fe5 S.r.l., Milan, ltaly Full consolidation 100 %

lsla Solar S.r.l., Ragusa, Italy Full consolidation 51 %

Energia ed Ambiente S.r.l., Ragusa, Italy Full consolidation 51 %

Energia zero Emissione S.r.l., Ragusa, Italy Full consolidation 51 %

MAS Solar S.r.l., Ragusa, Italy Full consolidation 51 %

084 NOTES

Subsidiaries Type of Consolidation  Share of equity/
   voting rights

Phoenix Solar S.L., Madrid, Spain Full consolidation  100 %

Phoenix Solar S.r.l., Rome, Italy  Full consolidation 100 %

Phoenix Solar E.P.E., Athens, Greece Full consolidation 100 %

Phoenix Solar SAS, Lyon, France Full consolidation 100 %

Phoenix Solar lncorporated, San Ramon, Unites States of America Full consolidation 100 %

Phoenix Solar Pte Ltd, Singapore, Singapore Full consolidation 75 %

Phoenix Solar Sdn Bhd, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia Full consolidation 75 %

Phoenix Solar L.L.C., Muskat, Oman Full consolidation 70 %

Phoenix Solar Fonds Verwaltung GmbH, Sulzemoos, Germany Full consolidation 100 %
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Hexasolar was sold in July 2013. Phoenix SonnenFonds GmbH & Co. KG D4 was liquidated in December 
2013.

Except for the companies mentioned above there have been no changes to the consolidation group of 
Phoenix Solar AG since the beginning of 2013.

The following company was included in the consolidated financial statements as an associated company 
by application of the equity method:

Several limited partner companies for which Phoenix Solar Fonds Verwaltung GmbH serves as the general 
partner (without holding an equity stake in any case) are not consolidated because the relevant provisions 
of the articles of incorporation of these companies do not allow the general partner to exert a controlling 
influence on them. Because the Group paid its full capital contribution and did not enter any further 
agreements to support the business object, it is no longer subject to any corporate-law or contractual 
obligations to assume liability.

By application of IAS 32.18b), the capital accounts of the owners of the unincorporated entities would 
have to be included in the total liabilities. The presentation chosen corresponds to the new requirements 
of IAS 32 (changed) “Financial Instruments: Presentation” and IAS 1 (changed) “Presentation of Financial 
Statements” which largely permit the presentation of economic equity. 

Name of company Type of Share Eqity as of Profit/loss
 consolidation of equity/ 31/12/2013 2013
  voting rights k€ k€

Phoenix SonnenFonds GmbH & Co. KG B1,  
Sulzemoos, Germany at equity 31.2 % 585 67

 Total assets Total liabilities Equity Period  
 31/12/2013 31/12/2013 31/12/2013 profit or loss
k€ (HGB) (HGB) (HGB) 2013 (HGB)

Phoenix SonnenFonds GmbH & Co. KG A1/2 West 

Phoenix SonnenFonds GmbH & Co. KG A1/2 Ost 

Phoenix SonnenFonds GmbH & Co. KG A3/4 West 

Phoenix SonnenFonds GmbH & Co. KG A3/4 Ost 

Phoenix SonnenFonds GmbH & Co. KG A5/6 West 

Phoenix SonnenFonds GmbH & Co. KG A5/6 Ost 

Aktena 5 GmbH & Co. KG

 Total assets Total liabilities Equity Period  
 31/12/2012 31/12/2012 31/12/2012 profit or loss
k€ (HGB) (HGB) (HGB) 2012 (HGB)

Phoenix SonnenFonds GmbH & Co. KG A1/2 West 360 69 291 47

Phoenix SonnenFonds GmbH & Co. KG A1/2 Ost 360 69 291 47

Phoenix SonnenFonds GmbH & Co. KG A3/4 West 360 69 291 46

Phoenix SonnenFonds GmbH & Co. KG A3/4 Ost 353 69 284 43

Phoenix SonnenFonds GmbH & Co. KG A5/6 West 357 69 288 47

Phoenix SonnenFonds GmbH & Co. KG A5/6 Ost

Aktena 5 GmbH & Co. KG

 258 4 254 39

 257 3 254 38

 257 3 255 37

 252 3 249 33

 253 3 250 36

 254 4 250 38

 1,184 989 195 – 36

 300 9 290 42

 299 8 290 42

 269 8 288 40

 291 8 283 37

 295 8 286 40

 293 7 285 39

 1,416 48 192 – 56
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An existing 50 percent holding in SOLAR GRIECHENLAND Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG is 
included in the consolidated financial statements neither as a joint venture nor as an associated company. 
Due to the absence of different provisions in the articles of incorporation, Phoenix Solar AG as the limited 
partner has no influence whatsoever on the financial and operating policies of the company.

The shares of non-controlling interests are presented under „Other investments“.

CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES
a) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are included in the consolidation group of the parent company when the Group has the  
power to govern their financial and operating policies and derive economic benefits, which generally 
results from holding more than 50 percent of the voting rights in those companies. The existence and 
effects of potential voting rights that currently can be exercised or converted are taken into consideration 
for the purpose of evaluating control according to the definition of IAS 27. 

The purchase method is applied to account for business combinations. The cost of an acquisition is meas-
ured as the fair value of the assets provided, the equity instruments issued and the liabilities assumed 
on the date when control is obtained. Upon initial recognition, the identifiable assets acquired and the 
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed are measured at their fair value as of the acquisition date. If 
the acquisition cost is higher than the Group’s proportional share of the revalued net assets, the difference 
is recognised as goodwill in the consolidated statement of financial position; in the rare case when the 
acquisition cost is less than the Group’s proportional share of the revalued net assets, this difference is 
recognised immediately as a gain in profit or loss.

Companies acquired during the financial year are included in the consolidated financial statements as of 
the acquisition date. 

To allow for uniform accounting practices within the Group, the recognition and measurement methods 
of the individual subsidiaries have been harmonised with those of the Group. 

Intragroup balances are eliminated in accordance with IAS 27. Therefore, receivables and payables be-
tween companies included in the consolidated financial statements are eliminated in full. 

Expenses and income are consolidated in accordance with IAS 27. Therefore, intragroup expenses and 
income are eliminated in full as of the date of initial consolidation.

NOTES

Name of Company Type of Share of Equity as of Profit/loss
 consolidation equity/ 31/12/2012 2012
k€  voting rights

SOLAR GRIECHENLAND Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH 
& Co. KG, Gruenwald, Germany n.a. 50 % 214 – 73 
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In accordance with IAS 27, gains or losses on intragroup transactions that are contained in the carrying 
amounts of assets are eliminated in full. An intragroup loss is regarded as an indication of a possible im-
pairment.

The income tax effects of consolidation measures that have an impact on profit and loss are taken into 
consideration and deferred taxes are recognised when necessary.

b) Companies consolidated for the first time
The consolidation group was not expanded in the financial year 2013. 

c) Associated companies
Associated companies are holdings on which the Group can exercise a significant influence even if it does 
not have control. Normally, there is a rebuttable presumption that a 20 to 50 percent investment in the 
equity or voting rights of a company confers significant influence. Investments in associated companies 
are accounted for at equity. Upon initial recognition as an associated company, the investment in that 
company is measured at acquisition cost. If the acquisition cost is higher than the Group’s proportional 
share of equity, as revalued at the acquisition date, goodwill is recognised in the amount of the difference. 
Any necessary impairments are deducted from goodwill in subsequent periods. Moreover, the accumu-
lated changes in equity are credited or charged to the carrying amount of the investment in subsequent 
periods.

The Group’s share in the profit or loss of the associated company is recognised and presented separately 
in the consolidated income statement. If the proportional share of losses to be absorbed is higher than the 
acquisition cost and the unsecured receivables due from the associated company, no further impairment 
losses are recognised, unless the Group assumes additional commitments from the associated company. 

As a general rule, intermediate profits and losses between the Group and the associated company are 
eliminated in the amount of the share of equity held in that company. For reporting purposes, the uniform 
recognition and/or measurement methods of the Group are applied to the financial statements of the 
associated companies.

Phoenix SonnenFonds GmbH & Co. KG B1, in which the Group holds an equity interest of 31.2 percent, 
is organised as a German commercial partnership in the legal form of a limited partnership with a limited 
liability company as general partner (GmbH & Co. KG). For purposes of calculating the at equity profit or 
loss, the separate financial statements prepared in accordance with the regulations of German commercial 
law were converted to IFRS. Along with IAS 32.18b), any recognition and measurement differences were 
observed in the corresponding ancillary statement.
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B. RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT METHODS

(1) REVENUE RECOGNITION AND CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS

REVENUE RECOGNITION
In the case of purchase agreements, revenue is recognised (IAS 18) when the goods are delivered (passage 
of risk); in the case of contracts for work and services, revenue is recognised when the work is accepted 
by the ordering entity. Delivery and acceptance are deemed to have occurred when, in accordance with 
the contractual agreements, the risks of ownership have been transferred to the buyer or accepting entity, 
the amount of consideration has been contractually stipulated and payment of the receivable is probable.

Service revenues are recognised when the service is rendered. The stage of completion is determined in 
accordance with the percentage-of-completion method, provided that the outcome can be measured 
reliably. If the outcome of a service cannot be measured reliably, the costs incurred are recognised to the 
extent that they are expected to be recoverable (“zero-profit method”). In those cases in which a loss is 
anticipated, that loss is fully recognised in the income statement.

Revenues are presented on a net basis, before value-added tax and after deduction of returns, rebates and 
discounts, and after elimination of intragroup transactions. They are measured as the payments received 
or the fair value of receivables. 

Interest income is accrued by application of the effective interest method. Dividends are recognised when 
a legal claim to dividends is constituted.

CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS
Construction contracts are defined as customer orders that have not been completely filled. In accordance 
with IAS 11, the percentage-of-completion method is used to account for construction contracts, provi-
ded that the result can be estimated reliably. Under that method, contract revenues and profits are recog-
nised in the income statement in proportion to the stage of completion in the periods in which the work 
is performed. Thus, revenues and profits under fixed-price contracts are recognised on the basis of the 
stage of completion. Specifically, they are recognised in proportion to the ratio of the internal and external 
costs incurred as of the reporting date to the total estimated costs of each contract (cost-to-cost method). 

In those cases in which contract revenue cannot be estimated reliably, revenues are recognised in the 
amount of probably recoverable costs incurred (zero profit method). 

Such contracts are presented as receivables and payables under long-term construction contracts. If the 
capitalisable work performed exceeds the down payments received, construction contracts are presented 
as receivables under long-term construction contracts. If the balance after deduction of down payments 
received is negative, construction contracts are presented as payables under long-term construction con-
tracts. Expected contract losses are recognised in full; in determining such losses, due consideration is 
given to discernible risks.

Borrowing costs that can be attributed directly to the acquisition or production of specific assets are 
added to the carrying amount of those assets, either as incidental acquisition costs or production costs. 
Under the PoC method, the corresponding interest costs reduce the profits from customer-specific con-
struction contracts, as a component of production costs.

NOTES
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(2) INDIVIDUAL ITEMS IN STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
In accordance with IAS 38, purchased intangible assets are measured at acquisition cost and amortised on 
a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives, provided that a useful life can be determined. There 
were no indications of a possible impairment in the trademark comprised within this item.

Internally generated intangible assets are capitalised only when the corresponding expenditures can be 
attributed to the development phase of the intangible assets in question. The costs must be clearly attrib-
utable to a development from which the Group can expect to receive future economic benefits; such 
inflow of benefits must last longer than one financial year. In addition, there must be an intention to 
complete the asset, it must be technologically feasible and the necessary resources for that purpose must 
be available. Production cost includes all directly allocable costs of development. Once recognised as 
expenses, development costs can no longer be capitalised. Until such time as the asset is completed, the 
capitalised development costs are subjected to an annual impairment test. As soon as the asset is ready 
for its intended use, internally generated intangible assets are amortised over their useful lives. Research 
expenditures are not capitalised, but are recognised as expenses in the period when they are incurred, 
based on respective cause.

In the case of intangible assets with determinable useful lives, the useful lives and the amortisation  
method applied are reviewed and adjusted, when necessary, at least as of every reporting date. Any 
such adjustment is made in connection with an estimation change, which is recognised in profit or loss 
in accordance with IAS 8. Impairment test principles are applied once a year to determine whether im-
pairment losses should be charged against the carrying amounts of intangible assets with indeterminable 
useful lives; depending on the results of such impairment tests, the corresponding impairment losses are 
recognised as period expenses.

Intangible assets have useful lives ranging from three to 15 years.

GOODWILL
Goodwill is the amount by which the cost of an acquisition exceeds the purchased proportion of the 
fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities (including contingent liabilities) on the acquisition date. By 
application of IFRS 3 in conjunction with IAS 38, goodwill is not subjected to straight-line amortisation. At 
the end of the financial year, recognised items of goodwill were subjected to impairment tests to confirm 
the carrying amounts of those assets; in this connection, no need for impairment losses was discovered. 
For purposes of the impairment test, goodwill is allocated to the cash-generating units that are expec-
ted to derive economic benefits from the synergies arising from the underlying business combinations, 
regardless of whether other assets or liabilities have been assigned to these cash-generating units; the 
cash-generating units may correspond to the operating segments as the highest level. 
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
In accordance with IAS 16, items of property, plant and equipment are measured at acquisition cost less 
accumulated straight-line depreciation and impairments. The depreciation period is determined with 
reference to the expected economic useful life. Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated 
pro rata temporis from the acquisition date. The residual carrying amounts, useful lives and depreciation 
method applied are reviewed at least at every year-end reporting date. If the expectations at that time 
differ from the previously applied estimates, the corresponding adjustments are made as changes of 
estimates in accordance with IAS 8. The acquisition or production cost comprises the purchase price, 
directly allocable costs required to bring the asset to its present location and condition as intended by 
the management, the estimated costs of demolition and clearance of the asset and the restoration of 
the site at which it was located. If an item of property, plant and equipment consists of more than one 
component with different useful lives, such material components are depreciated over their individual 
useful lives. Maintenance and repair costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are 
incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised to the extent that they are individually allocable to the acquisi-
tion of a qualifying asset. When an item of property, plant and equipment is retired or when no further 
economic benefits are expected from its continued use or retirement, the carrying amount of that asset is 
derecognised. The gain or loss on the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment, which 
is the difference between the net selling price and the carrying amount of the asset, is recognised as other 
operating income or other operating expenses as of the date of derecognition.

Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis pro rata temporis over the useful lives, which currently 
range from three to 19 years.

IMPAIRMENT Of INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (EXCEPT GOODWILL)
An impairment test is conducted when there are indications of possible impairments of the carrying 
amounts of intangible assets with definite useful lives or property, plant and equipment. In such cases, 
the recoverable amount of the corresponding asset is determined in order to determine the extent of a 
possibly necessary write-down. The recoverable amount is equal to the fair value less costs to sell, or the 
value-in-use, whichever is higher. The value-in-use is equal to the present value of the expected future 
cash flows. If no recoverable amount can be determined for an individual asset, it is determined for the 
smallest identifiable group of assets (cash-generating unit) to which the asset in question can be attribu-
ted. For that purpose, the projected cash flows to be generated over the estimated useful life of the asset 
or cash-generating unit are estimated. The discount factor applied is determined on the basis of the risks 
associated with the asset or cash generating unit. The estimated cash flows reflect the assumptions made 
by the management and are corroborated by external information sources. If the recoverable amount of 
an asset is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is immediately recognised in profit or loss. 
If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit for which an impairment loss had been 
recognised would be higher in subsequent periods, the earlier impairment loss is reversed; the maximum 
carrying amount of an asset after reversal of an impairment loss is the amortised cost that would have 
resulted without an impairment loss. Such reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

NOTES
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LEASES
Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards incident to ownership of 
the leased asset are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The rental and lease payments paid in connection with operating leases are determined once for the  
entire lease term, with due consideration given to contractually stipulated future changes in lease instal-
ments. This determination is made as of the date of lease inception. The corresponding payments are 
recognised as expenses in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the entire term of the lease. If 
the original estimation of contractual elements, such as the exercise or non-exercise of a lease renewal op-
tion, changes during the lease term, such changes are recognised appropriately as a change of estimates.

The Phoenix companies rent buildings, company cars and operational and business equipment for their 
own use. These rental and lease agreements constitute operating leases and in the case of buildings have 
terms ranging from one to 17 years. The terms for company cars and photocopiers range from one to 
four years.

OTHER INVESTMENTS
Other investments are financial investments in equity instruments for which there is no active market with 
listed prices and the fair values of which cannot be determined reliably. Other investments are measured 
at cost, due to the range of variation of reasonable estimates of the fair value and the probabilities of oc-
currence of the different estimates.

INVENTORIES
In accordance with IAS 2, inventories are measured upon initial recognition at acquisition or production 
cost plus incidental costs and less purchase price deductions. Production cost comprises all directly allo-
cable costs. 

The acquisition costs of assets presented as trading stock were measured at weighted average prices.

In subsequent periods, items of reduced marketability are written down to the net realisable value if that 
amount is less than the acquisition or production cost.

The item of “work in progress” comprises unfinished structures on non-owned land which do not qualify 
for the accounting treatment according to IAS 11. If the net realisable value as of the reporting date does 
not cover the production costs, the carrying amount presented in the statement of financial position is 
written down to the net realisable value.

The expenses for write-downs of trading stock have been recognised in the income statement under the 
item of “Purchased goods and services”. Write-downs of “work in progress” are recognised directly in the 
item of “Change in inventories”.

Borrowing costs that can be directly attributed to the acquisition or production of individual assets are 
capitalised as incidental acquisition costs. 
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ADVANCE PAYMENTS RENDERED
Advance payments rendered are recognised as non-financial assets and measured at fair value at the ac-
quisition date, which is usually equal to the amount of monetary consideration provided. In subsequent 
periods, the measurement of advance payments rendered depends on whether the corresponding sup-
plier is capable on the reporting date of satisfying the advance payment with delivery of the correspond-
ing non-monetary items.

NON-DERIVATIVE fINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Non-derivative financial instruments include, in particular, trade receivables, other receivables, loans, fi-
nancial assets, securities and liquid assets, as well as financial liabilities and trade payables. 

Upon initial recognition, non-derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value. Transaction costs 
incurred on the purchase of financial instruments (not measured at fair value through profit and loss) 
are added to the carrying amount of the asset upon initial recognition. Transaction costs incurred on 
the purchase of financial instruments measured at fair value are recognised immediately as expenses. In 
subsequent periods, non-derivative financial instruments are always measured at fair value or amortised 
cost, depending on the category to which they belong. The management determines the categorisation 
of non-derivative financial instruments at the time of initial recognition. If no separate market value is 
indicated in the notes to the financial statements, the market value is approximately equal to the carrying 
amount.

The following categories are applied for this purpose:

•	 Held-for-Trading (HfT) assets are measured at fair value. If no market value is available, the fair value is 
determined with the aid of adequate measurement methods, such as discounted cash flow methods, 
for example. In the Phoenix Group, such financial instruments occur only in connection with hedging 
transactions (derivatives). Measurement gains or losses are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

•	 Held-to-Maturity (HtM) financial investments are measured at amortised cost. They generally do not 
occur in the Phoenix Group. 

•	 Loans and Receivables (LaR) which are not held for trading purposes, are measured upon initial re-
cognition at fair value, as a general rule, and in subsequent periods at amortised cost. In the Phoenix 
Group, such assets include all receivables due from customers, other receivables and loans. Non-inter-
est-bearing and low-interest receivables due in more than one year are discounted to present value, 
as a general rule, by application of the effective interest method. A risk-appropriate, customary market 
rate of interest was applied as the discount factor. Specific write-downs are charged, if necessary up to 
the full amount, against receivables which are not expected to be recoverable, with due consideration 
given to credit risks, interest rate risks and cash discount risks. General credit risk is accounted for by 
charging write-downs, which are determined on the basis of past experience values, as a general rule, 
against the receivables portfolio.

•	 As a general rule, Available-for-Sale (AfS) financial assets are measured at fair value. As a general rule, 
all financial assets not classified as HtF, HtM or LaR are assigned to this category; in the Phoenix Group, 
this category is mainly composed of the assets presented under “Other investments”. The difference 
between the acquisition cost and fair value is recognised directly in equity, with due consideration given 
to deferred taxes. If the fair value is permanently or materially less than the carrying amount of such 
assets, the impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. Other investments for which no market prices 
are available and the fair value of which cannot be determined reliably are measured at amortised cost. 
When there are indications of an impairment, an impairment test is conducted and any necessary im-
pairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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•	 Financial liabilities measured at Amortised Cost (AmC) are measured upon initial recognition at acquisi-
tion cost. In subsequent periods, such liabilities (with the exception of derivative financial instruments) 
are measured at amortised cost, which is usually equal to the settlement amount.

A financial asset or a component of a financial asset is derecognised when the company loses control over 
the contractual rights to receive cash flows related to the asset or when such contractual rights expire. 
That is usually the case when:

•	 the rights have been exercised;
•	 the rights have expired;
•	 the company has relinquished the rights or transferred them to a third party in connection with a sale;
•	 the contracts have expired.

For the purpose of determining whether a loss of control has occurred, the legal and economic positions 
of both parties are taken into consideration. If there are indications to the effect that the Phoenix Group, 
as the transferring party, has retained control, the company will continue to recognise the asset in its 
consolidated statement of financial position. Any gain or loss on disposal is recognised in profit or loss. 

DERIVATIVE fINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Phoenix Group employs various derivative financial instruments to hedge existing or planned  
underlying transactions against currency risks, interest rate risks and market price risks; the most import-
ant of these are forward exchange deals, currency swaps and currency options, and interest rate swaps 
and interest rate caps. No derivative financial instruments are held or issued for speculation purposes.

In accordance with IAS 39, derivative financial instruments that are not integrated with an effective hedge 
instrument must be categorised as “held for trading” and therefore measured at fair value at the trade 
date, with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. The fair value of traded derivative financial in-
struments is equal to the market value. As a rule, the Phoenix Group only employs traded derivative finan-
cial instruments; if, however, market pricing is not possible and therefore no market values are available, 
the current market values are calculated by means of recognised financial-mathematical models, with due 
consideration given to the relevant exchange rates, interest rates and credit ratings of the counterparties. 
Middle exchange rates are applied for such calculations. At the present time, the Phoenix Group does not 
employ hedge accounting, so that changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. 

The fair value of forward exchange deals, currency swaps and interest rate swaps is calculated as the differ-
ence between the forward exchange rate for the same final maturity applicable as of the reporting date 
and the contracted forward exchange rate. The fair value of currency options is determined with the aid 
of recognised option price models. Important input factors include the remaining life of the option, the 
risk-free interest rate, the fixing rate, the current exchange rate and the volatility. The fair value of interest 
rate caps is calculated as the present value of future interest payments, discounted by application of a 
market interest rate that is appropriate for the remaining term to maturity as of the reporting date. They 
are based on the Euribor liquid money market rate and have terms of several years, which are sub-divided 
into interest rate adjustment periods. The interest rate is the difference between the excess over the cor-
responding money market rate and the contractual cap rate. 
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Derivative financial instruments are derecognised only when the company loses control over the con-
tractual rights to receive cash flows related to the asset or when such contractual rights have expired, in 
accordance with the accounting treatment applied for non-derivative financial instruments.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise demand deposits, cash on hand and cash in current accounts. 

The changes in cash and cash equivalents according to IAS 7 are presented in the Cash Flow Statement. 

SUBSCRIBED CAPITAL AND ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL RESERVES
Equity instruments without auxiliary conditions are always presented as equity.

Costs incurred in connection with an issue of equity instruments are deducted from equity along with any 
income tax advantage (“net-of-tax”).

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
Share-based payment transactions are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2. Thus, share-based com-
pensation is measured at the fair value of the consideration provided, as a general rule. All transactions 
with employees under which equity instruments in the company are issued as consideration for goods or 
services received are deemed to be share-based payment transactions. Because the fair value of work pro-
vided usually cannot be determined, the fair value of the equity instruments granted in exchange for such 
work is applied instead. The Phoenix Group applies the rules applicable to “equity-settled share-based 
payment transactions”; so that the fair value is determined with reference to the date of granting of the 
equity instrument, on the one hand, and the exclusively share-based performance targets, on the other 
hand. The associated personnel expenses are distributed on a straight-line basis over the lock-up period 
or vesting period and recognised in equity.

All stock option plans are described in Note (40).

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
In accordance with IAS 27, non-controlling interests are presented as a separate line item within equity 
in the consolidated statement of financial position. Pro-rated losses are charged to the respective non-
controlling interests in proportion to their share of Group equity, even if that leads to a negative balance 
for non-controlling interests. 

PROVISIONS
In accordance with IAS 37, “other provisions” are recognised when a present obligation, legal or con-
structive, has arisen as a result of a past event, and when the probability that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation is greater than 50 percent and 
when the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably. The “other provisions” cover all discernible 
obligations. Provisions for one-off events are measured on the basis of the best estimate and provisions for 
large populations of events are measured on the basis of an expected value. 

Other provisions are recognised for all discernible risks and uncertain obligations in the amount of their 
probable occurrence based on best estimates. Noncurrent provisions are discounted to present value by 
application of a market rate of interest. Compounding amounts and the effects of changes in interest rates 
are presented within the financial result.

NOTES
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Provisions for restructuring measures are recognised to the extent that a detailed, formal restructuring 
plan has been prepared and announced to the affected parties.

Provisions for anticipated losses under onerous contracts are recognised when the expected economic 
benefit to be gained under the contract is less than the unavoidable costs of fulfilling the contract.

A recovery associated with a provision is capitalised as a separate asset when necessary, provided that 
collection of that amount is as good as certain. Presentation of netted amounts within the provisions is 
not permitted. Depending on the circumstances, advance payments rendered as of the reporting date 
are deducted from the provisions.

Unconditional obligations resulting from the site restoration of property, plant and equipment are recog-
nised as liabilities, provided that a reliable estimate is possible, in the period in which they are incurred 
and are measured at the present value of the associated settlement amounts. At the same time, the car-
rying amounts of the corresponding items of property, plant and equipment are increased by the same 
amount. In subsequent periods, the capitalised site restoration costs are amortised over the expected 
remaining useful life of the corresponding asset, while the provision is compounded annually. 

Changes in estimates concerning the amount or timing of cash outflows are recognised in profit or loss 
as of every reporting date.

fINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
Upon initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured at fair value, which is usually equal to the settle-
ment amount. 

Trade payables and other non-derivative financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost by application 
of the effective interest method, as a general rule. With respect to financial liabilities, the Group has not 
exercised the option of designating them as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss upon 
initial recognition. 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the payment obligations related to them have expired.

NON-fINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
As a general rule, liabilities are measured at fair value, which is equal to the settlement amount in the 
majority of cases. Liabilities due in more than one year are discounted to present value by application of 
the effective interest method.

Liabilities for outstanding costs and for other business-related obligations are measured on the basis of the 
expected goods or services still to be provided.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES/ASSETS
Contingent liabilities are defined as possible obligations to third parties, the actual existence of which, 
however, depends on the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events, which cannot be completely 
influenced. They are also defined as obligations that will probably not lead to an outflow of economic 
benefits, or when the amount of such an outflow cannot be reliably measured. In accordance with IAS 
37, contingent liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business are not recognised in the statement of 
financial position; contingent liabilities related to a business combination are measured at fair value upon 
initial recognition.
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Possible assets, the recovery of which depends on future events that are not under the control of the 
Phoenix Group (contingent assets) are not recognised as assets.

INCOME TAXES
a) Current taxes
The tax bases for current taxes are determined on the basis of the respective taxpaying entities; they are 
measured at the tax rate in effect on the reporting date. They are presented within the item of “Current 
tax liabilities or assets.”

Changes in current tax liabilities or assets are recognised in profit or loss.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are only netted when one of the Phoenix companies has a 
legally enforceable right and the intention to settle it on a net basis.

When taxes refer to line items that have been directly credited to or charged against equity in accordance 
with IFRS requirements, such taxes are likewise recognised in equity, with no effect on the income state-
ment.

b) Deferred taxes
IAS 12 requires application of the liability method and balance sheet approach for determining deferred 
taxes. Accordingly, deferred tax assets and/or liabilities must be recognised for temporary differences be-
tween the tax bases and the carrying amounts of the respective assets and liabilities, which will reverse in 
the future and give rise to income tax effects, and for consolidation transactions to be recognised in profit 
or loss and tax loss carry-forwards.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are measured with reference to the tax rates that are ex-
pected to be in effect when an asset is recovered or a liability settled. Only those tax rates that are in effect 
or have been announced as of the reporting date are applied for this purpose.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are not discounted to present value.

Deferred taxes are recognised as income or expenses and in profit or loss for the period, 
with the exception of the following transactions: 

•	 a transaction was recognised directly in equity;
•	 in the case of a business combination;
•	 in the case of temporary differences between the tax base of an investment and the corresponding 

proportional IFRS equity, if it is expected that this difference will not change in the near future, as by 
way of a dividend payment, for example.

In cases when the tax arises on a business combination in the form of an acquisition, it is recognised as an 
identifiable asset or liability on the acquisition date, in conformity with IFRS 3.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are netted only when one of the Phoenix companies has a 
legally enforceable right to settle on a net basis and when they are levied by the same taxing authority on 
the same entity that intends to realise the asset and settle the liability at the same time. 

NOTES
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Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that the associated tax reductions are likely to occur 
in the future. 

(3) APPROPRIATION OF EARNINGS

To the extent that the Phoenix Group makes its proposals concerning the utilisation of profit or concrete 
dividends accessible to the public after the reporting date, such dividends are presented not as a liability as 
of the reporting date because the dividend payment is not to be recognised in the statement of financial 
position.

(4) FOREIGN CURRENCy TRANSLATION

Foreign currency transactions, meaning those that are not the functional currency of the respective Group 
company, are translated at the exchange rates applicable on the transaction date. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate on the reporting date. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary items (in the Phoenix 
Group consisting mainly of inventories and advance payments rendered on inventories), which are meas-
ured at historical acquisition cost, are translated at the exchange rate on the transaction date, in ac-
cordance with IAS 21.23b). 

For purposes of preparing the consolidated financial statements, the separate financial statements of the 
subsidiaries Phoenix Solar Incorporated, Phoenix Solar Pte Ltd, Phoenix Solar Sdn Bhd and Phoenix Solar 
L.L.C. are translated in accordance with the functional currency concept. The functional currency of these 
companies is the U.S. dollar (USD), the Singapore dollar (SGD), the Malaysian ringgit (MyR) and the Oma-
ni rial (OMR), respectively; the corresponding items are translated into EUR for purposes of their inclusion 
in the consolidated financial statements. With the exception of equity, items presented in the statement 
of financial position are translated at the exchange rate on the reporting date and income statement 
items are translated at the average exchange rate for the year. The average exchange rate for the year is 
calculated by means of weighting the respective exchange rates on the last day of every month. Equity is 
carried forward on the basis of the exchange rate applied upon initial recognition. The currency difference 
resulting from the translation of equity is recognised not in profit or loss, but directly in the “currency 
translation reserve” and presented separately in the statement of financial position.

Exchange rates applied in the consolidated financial statements:

Currency pair   Exchange rate on  Average exchange 
   reporting date 2011 rate in 2011

USD/EUR   1.2949 1.3924

AUD/EUR   1.2724 1.3476

OMR/EUR   0.4970 0.5344

SGD/EUR   1.6815 1.7486

MyR/EUR   4.1069 4.2485

SAR/EUR   4.8553 5.220

BGN/EUR   1.9552 1.9542

 Exchange rate on  Average exchange 
 reporting date 2013 rate in 2013

 1.37660 1.32797

 n/a n/a

 0.52841 4.16717

 1.74583 1.66097

 4.53086 4.16717

 5.16233 4.97886

 1.95506 1.95873

 Exchange rate on  Average exchange 
 reporting date 2012 rate in 2012

 1.32027 1.28577

 1.26483 1.24939

 0.50851 0.49336

 1.61315 1.60617

 4.01872 3.95584

 4.94968  4.82024

 1.95324 1.95440



C. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

The consolidated income statement was prepared in accordance with the cost summary method.

(1) REVENUES

The total revenues, including revenues from long-term construction contracts, were divided among the 
operating segments as follows:

Revenues and the breakdown of revenues by operating segments and regions are presented in the seg-
ment report in these notes to the consolidated financial statements (see Note (34)).

As of the reporting date, total revenues included revenues from long-term construction contracts (accor-
ding to IAS 11) which had not yet been finally invoiced, in the amount of kEUR 70,357 (2012: kEUR 29,337).

(2) INCREASE OR DECREASE IN WORK IN PROGRESS

This item presents the increase or decrease in inventories related to work in progress, for those projects 
that are not to be classified as customer-specific contract construction according to IAS 11. As of the re-
porting date, the increase in work in progress amounted to kEUR 0 (2012: kEUR 3,299).

(3) OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Electricity revenues in the financial year relate to feed-in tariffs from photovoltaic plants in Italy and France 
which were reclassified to tangible assets on the basis of a resolution passed by the Executive Board in 
2012 to operate these plants on a permanent basis in the future.  
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Other operating income  2011
k€

Income from payment of claims for damages  445

Benefits in kind  224

Income from the release of provisions and liabilities  2,799

Electricity revenues  3,117

Income from disposal of property, plant and equipment  10

Income from reversal of write-downs  1,121

Income from foreign exchange gains  658

Other  162

Total  9,402

2012

616

189

2,162

2,372

22

1,473

461

504

7,799

2013

12

85

1,963

2,254

8

164

125

830

5,441

Revenues  2011
k€

Components and Systems  152,470

Power plant  240,970

Total  393,484

2012

72,454

82,976

155,430

2013

56,713

84,510 

141,223
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The income from foreign exchange gains consisted of income from the translation of transactions de-
nominated in foreign currency to the reporting currency and income from the realisation of the forward 
exchange deals, swaps and options serving as hedges for such transactions.

The income from the reversal of provisions and liabilities pertained to a large number of provisions recog-
nised in prior years, which have not been fully consumed. They are usually recognised for period accrual 
purposes in connection with individual project completion stages and the anticipated specific project 
expenses. The total costs, as well as any additional costs or cost reductions to be included in the price, 
can only be concretised during the course of the projects in question. In addition to reversals of provisi-
ons recognised in respect of projects, other provisions reversed by Phoenix Solar AG in the financial year 
included those recognised in respect of anticipated losses arising from rental agreements in the amount 
of kEUR 783. 

The income from payments of claims for damages consisted mainly of payments received in connection 
with the adjustment of claims related to contractual relationships in the project business, dealings with 
shipping companies, etc. 

Income from the reversal of impairments resulted from the reversal of an impairment recognised in prior 
periods due to the receipt of cash flows in respect of the impaired asset, and from a changed estimate of 
the substantive value of assets as of the reporting date. 

The other operating income comprised items that cannot be assigned to any of the foregoing items.

(4) PURCHASED GOODS AND SERVICES 

Purchased goods and services have been stated net of discounts granted, rebates and other deductions. 
They were divided among purchased goods and services as follows: 

The expenses of purchased goods consisted mainly of expenses for the procurement of solar modules, 
inverters and other materials related to the operation of photovoltaic systems.

The expenses of purchased services resulted mainly from the procurement of third-party input services 
for key components, as well as services related to the construction of photovoltaic power plants under 
long-term construction contracts.

Purchased goods and services  2011
k€

Expenses of purchased goods  361,314

Expenses of purchased services   69,597

Total  430,911

2012

117,436

28,731

146,167

2012

105,067

14,542

119,609
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(5) STAFF COSTS

The personnel expenses break down as follows:

Since 1 July 2008, the company has offered all its employees a defined contribution pension plan based 
on salary deferral. The company makes matching payments on the contributions of the participating em-
ployees in accordance with the regulations of tax law and social security law. An employer’s contribution 
of kEUR 27 (2012: kEUR 88) was recognised in profit and loss in the past financial year. The Group has not 
extended any defined benefit pension commitments.

The expenses for other pension benefits amounted to kEUR 1 (2012: kEUR 2). They result from so-called 
“direct insurance contributions”. 

In connection with the restructuring plan which became necessary and was initiated in the final quarter 
of 2011, measures were required for the first time in 2012 and subsequently also in the financial year 2013 
to actively reduce the number of employees. These measures were conducted in a socially acceptable 
manner on the basis of mutually agreed severance agreements to the greatest extent. Severance pay-
ments amounting to kEUR 1,928 (2012: kEUR 521) were paid in the financial year in connection with such 
severance agreements. 

The average number of employees during the financial year is presented in the table below:

NOTES

Staff costs  2011
k€

Wages and salaries  24,916

Expenses of stock option plans   936

Social security   4,075

Expenses for pensions and other benefits  65

Total  29,992

2012

16,840

54

4,091

88

21,073

2013

12,662

0

1,889

27

14,578

Employees (m/w)  2011

Members of the Executive Board (parent company)  4

Permanent employees (m/f) (full-time and part-time)  375

Temporary employees 65 27

Total  406

2012

3

248

8

259

2012

2

149

8

159



(6) AMORTISATION AND DEPRECIATION

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and amortisation of intangible assets amounted to  
kEUR 1,663 in the financial year (2012: kEUR 5,957). 

A detailed presentation of depreciation and amortisation can be found in the Statement of Changes in 
Noncurrent Assets in Note (15).

(7) OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

The reason for the pronounced decrease in other operating expenses in the amount of kEUR 12,883 in the 
financial year is again to be found in the restructuring programme launched in the final quarter of 2011 
which focussed strongly on reducing other costs. The whole Group pressed ahead with implementing 
further cost-cutting measures.

The administrative expenses incurred in the financial year mainly consisted of rental expenses, legal and 
consulting expense, expenses for freelance workers and currency translation losses. 

Selling expenses are composed of both direct sales expenses related to the performance of the sales 
function, primarily for sales commissions, packing for shipping, transport and transport insurance, freight, 
product-related and order-related market research, customer consulting services and bid preparation, 
as well as overhead sales expenses such as expenses of market research, advertising and promotion, in-
cluding the participation in exhibitions and trade fairs, customer consulting services, warehousing, sales 
offices, enquiry and order processing, calculating quotations, statistics, invoicing, reminders as well as 
management of the total process. 

Operating costs comprise the necessary wear and tear on assets associated with maintaining the oper-
ations of the Phoenix organisation. They include expenses for Investor Relations, expenses in connection 
with owner or shareholder information and the annual report, expenses for the shareholders’ meeting, 
for quality assurance, etc.

In 2013, Research and Development costs in the amount of kEUR 26 (2012: kEUR 45) were recognised as 
operating costs for profit and loss in the financial year 2013.
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Other operating expenses  2011
k€

Administrative expenses  14,888

Selling expenses  13,821

Operating expenses  2,133

Other expenses  5,077

Total  35,919

2012

13,261

8,007

724

3,179

25,171

2013

5,969

3,636

843

1,840

12,288



PHOENIX SOLAR AG | ANNUAL REPORT 2013102

(8) RESULT FROM ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Income from associated companies amounted to kEUR 68 in the financial year (2012: kEUR 50).

(9) FINANCIAL RESULT

The financial result improved by kEUR 449 by comparison with the previous year. Interest expenses of 
kEUR 5,210 (2012: kEUR 5,727) consisting mainly of financing loans are to be viewed against interest 
income of kEUR 158 (2012: kEUR 226) generated primarily by call accounts. The interest capitalisation of 
accruals brought interest earnings of kEUR 25 (2012: kEUR 159). No interest on qualified assets was capi-
talised, either in financial year or in the prior year.

(10) INCOME TAXES

Current and deferred tax expenses and income broke down as follows:

The income tax expenses presented in the financial year 2013 amounting to kEUR 2,847 (2012: kEUR 
300) are kEUR 4,571 lower than the expected income tax revenues of kEUR 1,724 (2012: kEUR 9,957) 
which would theoretically result from applying an unchanged domestic tax rate of 26.7 percent (2012:  
26.7 percent) to the Group’s pre-tax earnings. 

NOTES

Income taxes  2011
k€  

Current taxes  1,008

Deferred taxes  – 3,530

Total  – 2,522

2013

1,695

1,152

2,847

2012

1,463

– 1,163

300

k€  

Income taxes of the current year  1.008

Income taxes of the previous years  – 3.530

Total  – 2.522

2012

1,463

0

1,463

2013

720

975

1,695
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The difference between the expected and recognised income tax income/expenses can be attributed to 
the following causes:

The calculated income tax rate resulted from the German local business income tax (10.92 percent), the 
application of the corporate income tax rate (15 percent) and the solidarity surtax (5.5 percent of corpo-
rate income tax). 

The item “Tax effect of differing tax rates” resulted mainly from the application of different tax rates for 
the Group’s foreign subsidiaries and business establishments. The foreign income tax rates range from 12 
to 40 percent. 

CURRENT TAX INCOME/EXPENSES
The balance on the accounting date comprises tax claims of kEUR 1,126 (2012: kEUR 2,047) and tax liabil-
ities of kEUR 744 (2012: kEUR 495).

Income tax expenses and income are broken down as follows:

Income taxes  2011
k€  

Current taxes  1,008

- of which in Germany  319

- of which in foreign countries  689

Deferred taxes  – 3,530

- of which in Germany  – 3,372

- of which in foreign countries  – 158

Total  – 2,522

2012

1,463

278

1,185

– 1,163

0

– 1,163

300

2013

1,695

582

1,113

1,152

0

1,152

2,847

Reconciliation  2011
k€

Earnings before income taxes  – 88,897

Calculated income taxes 

using calculated tax rate of 26.7 % (2012: 26.7 %)  – 23,735

Differences 

Differences between calculated and actual income tax expenses resulting from: 
- Non-period income taxes  359

- Tax effect of non-deductible expenses for stock options  251

- Tax effect of other non-deductible expenses  365

- Tax effect of differing tax rates  – 62

- Tax effect arising from the application of tax losses (–) that had not previously 
 been recognised and from the non-recognition of losses (+)  20,104

- Tax effect of differing tax bases  202

- Tax effect of consolidation  202

- Other discrepancies  – 6

Total  – 2,522

2012

 – 37,291

300

– 9,957

10,257

717

14

1,093

90

8,442

85

– 185

– 184

10,257

2013

 – 6,459

2,847

– 1,724

4,571

– 868

0

326

– 164

3,974

– 24

– 412

3

4,571
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Deferred taxes can be attributed to the following items of the statement of financial position:

A total of kEUR 0 (2012: kEUR 118) of deferred taxes were netted off. All changes in deferred taxes were 
recognised in profit or loss, both in the financial year 2013 and in the prior year.

In the expectation that the temporary differences will be reversed, deferred tax assets amounting to  
kEUR 828 (2012: kEUR 2,126) were recognised for losses sustained; deferred tax assets relating to tax 
losses in the amount of kEUR 141,874 (2012: kEUR 123,886) which will have to be earned through indi-
vidual taxable results in the years 2014 - 2016, were not recognised for the time being as the Group is in 
a restructuring phase and the new planning first has to be confirmed. Consolidation measures result in 
deferred tax assets as of the reporting date of kEUR 995 (2012: kEUR 2,035). The values of the previous 
year were adapted in the course of the tax offsetting and reconciliation.

Loss carryforwards with a maximum expiration period of five years were recognised in the amount of 
kEUR 140 (2012: kEUR 154); loss carryforwards with a maximum expiration period of 20 years were re-
cognised in the amount of kEUR 688 (2012: kEUR 1,973).

As in the last two years, no deferred taxes were recognised for outside basis differences in financial year 
2013 because most of the subsidiaries did not have net assets that would allow for dividend distributions 
as of the reporting date, or any such funds were intended for the purpose of internally funding the re-
spective subsidiaries; outside basis differences of kEUR 6,767 (2012: kEUR 2,787) were calculated as of  
31 December 2013.

NOTES

Deferred taxes by item
k€  

Loss carry-forwards capitalised  

Measurement of provisions  

Internally generated intangible assets  

PoC measurement of construction contracts  

Other/consolidation  

Total  

- thereof current  

- thereof Noncurrent  

Deferred tax 
expenses

– 1,298

66

3

– 13

– 178

– 1,044

as of
31/12/2013

828

125

3

1

– 42

991

457

534

as of
01/01/2013

2,126

59

0

14

136

2,035

653

1,382



(11) EARNINGS PER SHARE

In accordance with IAS 33, the earnings per share are calculated from the consolidated profit after taxes 
and after non-controlling interests and from the average number of shares outstanding in the financial 
year 2013.

For purposes of calculating the diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of shares out-
standing is corrected by the number of potential diluting shares. The number of potentially diluting shares 
is calculated by determining the hypothetical number of bonus shares that would have to be granted on 
the basis of the ratio of the share price to the exercise price. The Stock Option Plan of the Phoenix Solar 
Group causes such a potential dilution. The exercise of the stock options granted in connection with these 
plans depends on the price development of the shares of Phoenix Solar AG. For calculating this share 
price development, certain performance criteria that are defined in the Stock Option Plan were applied. 
A detailed description of the Stock Option Plan of the Phoenix Group can be found in Note (40). Since 
neither in 2013 nor in 2012 any effects of potentially diluting shares arose, the undiluted result does not 
differ from the diluted result per share.

As of 31 December 2013, the Group disposed of Authorised Capital after partial utilisation in the amount 
of kEUR 2,681 (2012: kEUR 2,681), which is unchanged from the previous year and which was not inclu-
ded in the calculations, however, because no diluting effect will arise from that fact in the current period.

The consolidated profit earned in 2013 has been added to the distributable profit as of 31 December 2013. 
The Executive Board of Phoenix Solar AG does not propose to distribute a dividend in this year either.
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Basic earnings per share  2011

Consolidated profit after taxes, in k€  – 86,375

Average number of shares outstanding (in units)  7,327,700

Basic earnings per share (in €)  – 11.80

2013

– 10,688

7,372,700

– 1.45

2012

– 37,283

7,327,700

– 5.06

Diluted earnings per share  2011

Consolidated profit after taxes, in k€  – 86,375

Average number of shares outstanding  7,372,700

Average number of shares outstanding (including potentially diluting shares)  7,372,700

Diluted earnings per share (in €)  – 11.80

2013

– 10,688

7,372,700

7,372,700

– 1.45

2012

– 37,283

7,372,700

7,372,700

– 5.06
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D. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(12) INTANGIBLE ASSETS

For the development of carrying amounts reference is made to the Consolidated Statement of Changes 
in Noncurrent Assets (Note (15)).

Scheduled depreciation is presented in the income statement in the item “Amortisation”.

The intangible assets acquired also contain licensing rights from various suppliers of system and applica-
tion software products. 

Internally generated intangible assets are amortised with a useful life of eight years, acquired intangible 
assets with a useful life of between three and ten years. 

(13) GOODWILL

The goodwill of Phoenix Solar Energy Investments AG (kEUR 272), which was acquired effective 15 March 
2002 and was merged into Phoenix Solar AG as of 31 December 2011, arose upon initial consolidation.

As of 1 January 2008, the initial consolidation of the company Renewable Energies Development 2002 
(RED 2002) S.r.l. in Rome, which had formerly been accounted for at equity, gave rise to goodwill in the 
amount of kEUR 235. 

The allocation of goodwill amounts to cash-generating units (CGUs) is presented in the table below:

In accordance with IFRS 3 in conjunction with IAS 38, goodwill items are not subjected to systematic 
amortisation. Instead, an annual impairment test is conducted to review the substantive value of goodwill. 
In addition the carrying amounts of the cash-generating units are compared with their future income 
value. Future income value is determined using the discounted cash flow method. For this purpose cur-
rent forecasts are used which are largely underpinned by external data on market growth, and which 
are based on the three-year medium-term plan approved by management and also used for internal 

NOTES

Significant intangible assets    Carrying Amount Remaining
k€    as of 12/31/2011  amortisation period

ERP software    3,2000 3 years

“Phoenix” Trademark    157 4 years

Development expenses    142 2 years

 Carrying Amount  
 as of 31/12/2013

 403

 95

 117

 Carrying Amount  
 as of 31/12/2012

 564

 126

 244

Goodwill  31/12/2011
k€  

Power Plants  272

Components & Systems   235

Other  26

Total  533

31/12/2012

272

0

26

298

31/12/2013

272

0

26

298
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purposes. Significant assumptions upon which management’s determination of achievable earnings is 
based, include forecasts of relevant market volumes, market prices and availability of solar modules, inver-
ters and other articles in connection with the company’s product range as well as regulatory conditions, 
growth rates and capital costs. The cash flows expected from the cash-generating units contained in the 
three-year medium-term plan are discounted by a weighted pre-tax capital cost rate of 8.8 percent for the 
domestic company. For purposes of calculating a perpetual annuity, an unchanged growth factor of one 
percent was assumed. An impairment loss is deemed to have occurred when the future income value is 
less than the carrying amount.

In the previous year, an impairment loss in the amount of kEUR 235 was charged against the good-will 
recognised in connection with the first-time consolidation of the company Renewable Energies Develop-
ment 2002 (RED 2002) S.r.l. – later renamed Phoenix Solar s.r.l. As a result of this impairment, the carrying 
amount was reduced to the value-in-use. The goodwill items recognised as of the reporting date did not 
require impairment losses, even assuming that the revenues of one of the cash-generating units would 
be five percent less or that interest rates would be ten percent higher. The Phoenix Group conducts the 
annual impairment test of goodwill on the level of the cash-generating units in the local currency in the 
fourth quarter of every financial year.

(14) PROPERTy, PLANT AND EqUIPMENT

For information on the development of carrying amounts, please refer to the Consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Noncurrent Assets (Note (15)). The Group opted not to present separately the acquisitions 
and disposals resulting from the change in the consolidation group because such transactions related to 
shell companies are immaterial for the presentation of the financial position of the entire Group.

This item was mainly composed of operational and office equipment and leasehold improvements.

In the previous year two photovoltaic plants completed in 2012 and originally intended for sale to third 
parties were transferred in the total amount of kEUR 15,069 from inventories to Noncurrent assets, by 
virtue of an Executive Board resolution. These photovoltaic plants were built by Phoenix Solar AG for the 
project companies Horus s.r.l., Italy, and Batisolaire 3 SAS, Carpiquet, France. As of the reporting date, 
they have a remaining depreciation period of 18 years. The photovoltaic plants are presented within the 
item of plant and equipment held by the company in the Statement of Changes in Noncurrent Assets. 

The unchanged depreciation periods for operational and office equipment range from three to twelve 
years; for leasehold improvements, depreciation periods of eleven to 15 years are applied, based on the 
economic useful lives or the shorter, contractually defined lease terms, plus any renewal options. Plant and 
equipment held by the company are depreciated over useful lives of 20 years.
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(15) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NONCURRENT ASSETS 

Changes in Noncurrent assets within the Phoenix Group

NOTES

(16) SHARES IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

As an associated company, Phoenix SonnenFonds GmbH & Co. KG B1 (KG B1) is accounted for by appli-
cation of the at equity method. 

The following changes to carrying amounts have been made in the current financial year:

 Acquisition or production costs

2013 Balance at Reclassifi- Acquisition Disposal Currency Balance at
 01/01 cation financial financial Translation 31/12
k€    

Internally generated intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets 

Goodwill

Plant and equipment held by the company 

Operational and business equipment 

Leasehold improvements

Total Noncurrent assets 

2012 01/01/     31/12/
k€

Internally generated intangible assets 223 0 0 0 0 223

Acquiredintangible assets 4,440 0 1,859 35 0 6,264

Goodwill 533 0 0 0 0 533

Plant and equipment held by the company 0 0 0 0 0 0

Operational and business equipment 3,945 0 859 117 7 4,694

Leasehold improvements 1,205 0 79 0 0 1,284

Total Noncurrent assets 10,346 0 2,797 152 7 12,998

   year year  

 109 0 19 0 0 128

 6,679 0 15 2 0 6,692

 533 0 0 0 0 533

 15,069 0 0 0 0 15,069

 4,215 0 852 1,250 – 19 3,798

 1,284 0 0 0 0 1,284

 27,889 0 886 1,252 – 19 27,504

    

 223 – 114 0 0 0 109

 6,264 114 307 6 0 6,679

 533 0 0 0 0 533

 0 15,069 0 0 0 15,069

 4,694 0 46 523 – 2 4,215

 1,284 0 0 0 0 1,284

 12,998 15,069 353 529 – 2 27,889

k€  2011

Carrying amount at 01/01  418

 – Dividends  – 51

 + Profit shares  27

Carrying amount at 31/12  395

2012

395

0

2

397

2013

397

68

68

397
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Measurements are made on the basis of individual financial statements converted to IFRS.

* For presentational purposes the capitals of KG B1 are shown as equity although they should perhaps be classified as borrowed capital in accordance with IAS 32; this applies in particular to the 
 owners’ entitlement to severance payments. 

Aggregated financial information on the associated company   2011
k€  

Assets 57 631

Payables  25

Sales  189

Equity*  817

Total assets  846

Net profit for year   90

2013

592

7

153

585

592

68

2012

744

7

165

737

745

72

 Acquisition or production costs

2013 Balance at Reclassifi- Acquisition Disposal Currency Balance at
 01/01 cation financial financial Translation 31/12
k€    

Internally generated intangible assets

Acquired intangible assets 

Goodwill

Plant and equipment held by the company 

Operational and business equipment 

Leasehold improvements

Total Noncurrent assets 

2012 01/01/     31/12/
k€

Internally generated intangible assets 223 0 0 0 0 223

Acquiredintangible assets 4,440 0 1,859 35 0 6,264

Goodwill 533 0 0 0 0 533

Plant and equipment held by the company 0 0 0 0 0 0

Operational and business equipment 3,945 0 859 117 7 4,694

Leasehold improvements 1,205 0 79 0 0 1,284

Total Noncurrent assets 10,346 0 2,797 152 7 12,998

   year year  

 109 0 19 0 0 128

 6,679 0 15 2 0 6,692

 533 0 0 0 0 533

 15,069 0 0 0 0 15,069

 4,215 0 852 1,250 – 19 3,798

 1,284 0 0 0 0 1,284

 27,889 0 886 1,252 – 19 27,504

 Accumulated Amortisation and Depreciation

 Balance at Reclassifi- Acquisition Acquisition Disposal Currency Balance at
 01/01 cation systematic un- financial Translation 31/12
    scheduled year 

 109 0 16 0 0 0 125

 5,500 0 401 0 0 0 5,901

 235 0 0 0 0 0 235

 761 0 422 0 0 0 1,183

 3,398 – 1 738 0 1,165 – 12 3,133

 796 1 86 0 0 0 943

 10,799 0 1,663 0 1,165 – 12 11,285

 01/01      31/12

 56 44 9 0 0 0 109

 1,929 – 44 1,206 2,409 0 0 5,500

 0 0 0 235 0 0 235

 0 0 761 0 0 0 761

 2,378 0 574 604 155 – 3 3,398

 402 0 61 333 0 0 796

 4,765 0 2,611 3,581 155 – 3 10,799

 Carrying  Carrying 
 amounts amounts
 31/12/2013 31/12/2012

 3 0

 791 1,180

 298 298

 13,886 14,308

 899 817

 341 487

 16,218 17,090

 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

 0 167

 1,180 4,335

 298 533

 14,308 0

 817 2,316

 487 882

 17,090 8,233

    

 223 – 114 0 0 0 109

 6,264 114 307 6 0 6,679

 533 0 0 0 0 533

 0 15,069 0 0 0 15,069

 4,694 0 46 523 – 2 4,215

 1,284 0 0 0 0 1,284

 12,998 15,069 353 529 – 2 27,889
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(17) OTHER INVESTMENTS

The item of “other investments” in the financial year only contains a 50-percent share in the company 
SOLAR GRIECHENLAND Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG, which was founded in the financial year 
2007. In 2013 it presented assets of kEUR 549 (2012: kEUR 1,168 ), liabilities and provisions of kEUR 334 
(2012: kEUR 881), sales of kEUR 0 (2012: kEUR 0) and a pre-tax profit of kEUR - 70 (2012: kEUR 28 ). Due 
to the lack of an effective significant influence, the company is measured at acquisition cost. Due to the 
uncertainties inherent in the business model and the industry-specific regulations in Greece, the carrying 
amount of kEUR 150 (2012: kEUR 150 ) is basically equal to the fair value. Until last year the Group also 
held cooperative shares in a bank which were disposed of in the reporting year on the basis of effective 
termination. Prior year figures were adjusted to match the financial statements as adopted as of 31 De-
cember 2012.

(18) NONCURRENT RECEIVABLES

The item of Noncurrent receivables includes, among other things, a purchase price receivable in the 
amount of kEUR 450 which has been deferred until 31 December 2023. It bears interest at the rate of  
5.5 percent p. a. until 31 December 2015 and at the rate of 6.0 percent p. a. from 1 January 2016 to the 
date of payment in full.

This item also included security deposits in the amount of kEUR 36 (2012: kEUR 47). The security deposits 
bear interest at fair market rates of 1.5 percent p. a..

(19) INVENTORIES

The inventories break down as follows:

The trading stock inventory consisted mainly of photovoltaic modules, inverters and other components 
used in photovoltaic plant engineering, which are usually held for less than one full financial year. There 
are no stocks in transit as of the reporting date (2012: kEUR 539).

Based on the estimation of the Executive Board that certain sales revenues will probably be lower than 
acquisition costs, such inventories were written down to the lower net realisable value less costs to sell. 
Inventories were written down to the lower net realisable value in the amount of kEUR 718 in financial 
year 2013 (2012: kEUR 9,249). 

The carrying amount of inventories recognised as period expenses amounted to kEUR 105,067 (2012:  
kEUR 117,436).

The inventories presented in the statement of financial position were subject to the (extended) retention-
of-title arrangements that are customary in the case of purchase agreements.

NOTES

Inventories  31/12/2011
k€  

Trading stock (historical value of goods)

Write-downs (cumulative to 31/12/ of the preceding year)

Net value

Presented in statement of financial position

31/12/2012

23,283

– 11,690

11,593

11,593

31/12/2013

6,693

– 3,610

3,083

3,083
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(20) ADVANCE PAyMENTS RENDERED

The item of advance payments rendered consisted mainly of advance payments to sub-contractors and 
suppliers, which are secured by guarantees. All such payments are short-term, mostly project-related 
advance payments.

(21) RECEIVABLES AND PAyABLES UNDER LONG-TERM CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS

As of the reporting date, gross receivables under long-term construction contracts amounted to kEUR 
63,474 (2012: kEUR 33,324). Most of these receivables were related to projects in the USA, Thailand,  
Singapore and France. Contract sales were recognised totalling kEUR 61,726 (2012: kEUR 28,574), con-
tract costs of kEUR 52,982 (2012: kEUR 26,902), and profits of kEUR 8,744 (2012: kEUR 1,671). There were 
no foreign currency effects in the profits in the reporting year (2012: kEUR 4). Furthermore, liabilities 
under long-term construction projects were recognised in the amount of kEUR 2,401 (2012: kEUR 1,759). 

Advance payments on the contracts totalling kEUR 58,015 (2012: kEUR 31,613) were received and a  
further kEUR 1,004 (2012: kEUR 687) was requested.

In consideration of the requested and recognisable down payments and partial invoices, the presented 
amount of kEUR 5,354 (2012: kEUR 665) breaks down as follows:

Payments in respect of receivables under long-term construction contracts are expected in the time periods  
presented in the table below. It is assumed that on the one hand contracts in process will be fulfilled on 
time in accordance with the planned payment agreement periods (so-called milestones) and on the other 
there will be no major timing differences between the time when the milestone conditions are contrac-
tually fulfilled and the corresponding cash inflow. To this extent this presentation is different to that used 
when payment deadlines are exceeded, for example, in the case of trade receivables (see Note (22)).

Receivables under long-term construction contracts are secured by means of the obligatory contractor’s 
lien and the customarily agreed down payments for milestones, and by the customary financing com-
mitments of the customer-financing banks, bank guarantees and, where applicable, security deposits. 
Furthermore, customary retention-of-title arrangements apply to unpaid materials.

k€  31/12/ 2011

Receivables under long-term construction contracts  
taking into account partial invoices based on stage of completion  13,115

Plus requested, recognisable partial invoices  1,880

Presented in statement of financial position   14,995

31/12/2013

5,136

218

5,354

31/12/2012

317

348

665

k€   Expected Receipt of Payment

As of 31/12/2013 Carrying In fewer than  Between Between In more
  amount als 30 days 31 and 90 91 and 360 than 360

Receivables under long- 
term construction contracts 

As of 31/12/2012

Receivables under long-
term construction contracts 14,995 1,010 520 13,465 0

   days  days days

 5,354 2,917 363 2,074 0

   

 665 395 25 245 0
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(22) TRADE RECEIVABLES

The trade receivables break down as follows:

The fair values of trade receivables are equal to their carrying amounts. Although the payment terms used 
reflect both customer-specific credit ratings and regional payment peculiarities, write-downs were still 
required on receivables which were probably irrecoverable and on the basis of the receivables portfolio. 

The following breakdown shows the maturity structure of the receivables without the write-downs, i.e. 
in contrast to the breakdown of receivables under long-term construction contracts (see Note (21)), the 
time bands shown represent payment dates exceeded for receivables already realised on the reporting 
date but not written down. 

The write-downs charged against trade receivables attributable to the measurement category “Loans and 
Receivables” showed the following development in the reporting year:

The following table shows the expenses for the complete charge-off of trade receivables:

Expenses for the charge-off of receivables are recognised at the time when the receivable is deemed to be 
definitively uncollectible. Final uncollectibility is assumed at the time when the Group attains knowledge 
of proportional satisfaction from a bankruptcy estate.

NOTES

k€  2011

Write-downs as per 01/01  2,682

Utilisation - – 78

Release  – 514

Addition  3,363

Write-downs as per 31/12  5,453

2013

4,994

– 979

– 318

1,640

5,337

2012

5,453

– 476

– 715

1,623

4,994

Trade receivables  31/12/2011
k€

Gross receivables  37,050

Less writedowns  – 5,453

Amount presenetd in the statement of financial position  31,597

31/12/2013

18,755

– 5,337

13,418

31/12/2012

31,238

 – 4,994

26,244

k€ not written down and due on reporting date

As per 31/12/2013 Total Neither for less Between Between Since more
  written down than 31 and 90 91 and 360 than 360
  nor due 30 days days days days

Trade receivables 

As of 31/12/2012

Trade receivables  31,597 0 11,939 12,801 6,857 0

  nor due 30 days days days days

 13,418 113 81 2,841 10,383 0

    

 26,244 555 1,188 16,386 8,115 0

k€  2012

Expenses for the charge-off of receivables  834

2013

145
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(23) OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

a) Noncurrent other financial assets
Phoenix Solar AG extended an interest-bearing loan of kEUR 1.047 bearing interest at the rate of 6.5 per- 
cent until 30 September 2012 and maturing at the end of 2013 to the subsidiary SOLAR GRIECHEN- 
LAND Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH & Co. KG. As of the reporting date, the loan was paid down  
to an amount of kEUR 124. Effective 1 October 2013, the interest rate was reduced to 0.0 percent, by 
virtue of an agreement concluded in December 2012.

The remaining amount consisted of security deposits, which have been deposited in favour of Phoenix 
Solar Group AG with reputable banks at fair market interest rates.

b) Current other financial assets
The current other financial assets break down as follows:

Current financial assets of this kind are secured by retentions of title.

The other current receivables are unchanged at kEUR 1,278 (2012: kEUR 1,278) and relate mainly to de-
posit securities in connection with the construction of photovoltaic plants.

Other current financial assets  31/12/2011
k€

Other receivables  3,056

Advance payments  1,827

Debit balances in supplier accounts  4,028

Other  86

Total   10,629

31/12/2012

2,858

7,036

792

138

10,824

31/12/2013

4,640

3,112

616

491

8,859
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c) The following tables show the expect receipt of payment for other financial assets:

(24) INFORMATION ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS By CATEGORy

In the table below, the carrying amounts and fair values of individual financial assets and liabilities are 
presented for each category of financial instruments.

NOTES

2013 Measurement Carrying  Carrying  fair
k€ category per  amounts amounts value 
  IAS 39*  within the  

Other investments

Noncurrent receivables

Other noncurrent financial assets 

Receivables under long-term construction contracts

Trade receivables

Other current financial assets 

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets  

Noncurrent financial liabilities 

Current financial liabilities 

Total financial liabilities   

Liabilities under long-term construction contracts 

Trade payables

Other financial assets 

Total financial liabilities    

* AfS: Available-for-Sale; LaR: Loans and Receivables; HfT: Held-for-Trading; AmC: Amortised Cost. For a description of measurement categories, please refer to 
 Note 2 „Non-derivative financial instruments.“ 
1) The fair value of this investment was measured at cost due to the lack of an active market and the limited activity of the company in which the investment is held.

   scope of IfRS 7

  AfS 151 151 1511)

 LaR 486 486 486

 LaR 147 147 147

   

 LaR 5,354 5,354 5,354

 LaR 13,418 13,418 13,418

 LaR 8,859 8,859 8,859

 LaR 10,029 10,029 10,029

  38,444 38,444 38,444

 AmC 40,330 40,330 40,330

 AmC 4 4 4

  40,334 40,334 40,334

 AmC 2,401 2,401 2,401

 AmC 4,784 4,784 4,784

  2,600 2,600 2,600

  9,785 9,785 9,785

k€                  Expected Receipt of Payment

As per 31/12/2013 Carrying In less than  Between Between In over
  amount 30 days 31 and 90 91 and 360 360

Financial assets

Due in one year or less

Due in more than one year 

As per 31/12/2012

Financial assets 11,436 4,250 3,314 3,839 33

Due in one year or less  10,629 4,250 3,314 3,065 0

Due in more than one year 807 0 0 774 33

   days days days

  9,006 4,219 120 4,520 147

 8,859 4,219 120 4,520 0

 147 0 0  147

   

  11,114 7,966 1,580 1,278 290

 10,824 7,966 1,580 1,278 0

 290 0 0 0  290
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The fair value of loans and receivables, held-to-maturity financial investments and non-derivative liabilities 
is calculated as the present value of future cash inflows or outflows. These cash flows are discounted to 
present value by application of an appropriate discount factor for the maturity in question, updated at the 
reporting date, with due consideration given to the counterparty’s credit rating. In those cases in which 
an exchange-listed price is available, that price is applied as the fair value.

Due to the mainly short-term maturity of trade receivables and payables, other receivables and liabilities, 
cash and cash equivalents, the carrying amounts at the reporting date are not significantly different from 
the fair values.

Derivatives not used for hedging were already measured at fair value.

2012 Measurement Carrying  Total carrying  fair
k€ category to  amounts amounts value 
  IAS 39*  within the  
    scope of IfRS 7

Other investments AfS 160 160 1601)

Noncurrent receivables  LaR 498 498 498

Other Noncurrent financial assets  LaR 806 806 806

   

Receivables under long-term construction contracts  LaR 14,995 14,995 14,995

Trade receivables LaR 31,597 31,597 31,597

Other current financial assets  LaR 10,629  10,629  10,629 

Cash and cash equivalents LaR 6,412 6,412 6,412

Total assets  64,937 64,937 64,937

Noncurrent financial liabilities  AmC 74 74 74

Current financial liabilities  AmC 24,726 24,726 24,726

Total financial liabilities   24,800 24,800 24,800

Liabilities under long-term construction contracts  AmC 1,749 1,749 1,749

Trade liabilities  AmC 24,531 24,531 24,531

Other financial liabilities  AmC 4,038 4,038 4,038

Total financial liabilities   30,318 30,318 30,318

* AfS: Available-for-Sale; LaR: Loans and Receivables; HfT: Held-for-Trading; AmC: Amortised Cost. For a description of measurement categories, please refer to 
 Note 2 „Non-derivative financial instruments.“ 
1) The fair value of this investment was measured at cost due to the lack of an active market and the limited activity of the company in which the investment is held.

   scope of IfRS 7

  AfS 161 161 161

 LaR 497 497 497

 LaR 290 290 290

   

 LaR 665 665 665

 LaR 26,244 26,244 26,244

 LaR 10,824 10,824 10,824

 LaR 8,862 8,862 8,862

  47,543 47,543 47,543

 AmC 10 10 10

 AmC 39,543 39,543 39,543

  39,553 39,553 39,553

 AmC 1,759 1,759 1,759

 AmC 17,799 17,799 17,799

 AmC 3,697 3,697 3,697

  23,255 23,255 23,255
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The expenses, income, losses and gains of financial instruments can be attributed to the following cat-
egories:

The amounts presented in the “Held-for-Trading” (HfT) column are composed almost exclusively of in-
terest expenses and interest income from interest rate and interest rate-currency hedges, which are not 
part of an accounting hedge.   

(25) OTHER NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

The other non-financial assets totalling kEUR 7,411 (2012: kEUR 11,584) mainly comprise foreign VAT  
receivables in the amount of kEUR 3,619 (2012: kEUR 9,029).

(26) CASH AND CASH EqUIVALENTS

The cash and cash equivalents due in 3 months or less are presented in the table below:

Cash on hand and cash in banks are stated at face value. Cash funds are not subject to any restrictions on 
disposal. 

Cash on hand and cash in banks in foreign currency are translated to the reporting currency at the middle 
exchange rate on the reporting date. Measurement differences between acquisition costs and current 
market values are recognised in the income statement as other operating income or other operating 
expenses. 

The interest rates for credit balances in banks in the financial year 2013 lay between 0.05 percent and  
0.1 percent (2012: 0.1 percent and 0.4 percent).

NOTES

2013 LaR AmC AfS HfT Total
k€   

Interest income

Interest expenses

Net earnings 

2012 LaR AmC AfS HfT Total
k€   

Interest income 380 0 0 0  380

Interest expenses

Changes in fair value expenses from 
impairment losses 0 – 4,597 0 0 – 4,597

Net earnings – 2,724 – 4,597 0 239 – 7,082

  

  158 0 0 0 158

 0 – 5,210 0 0 – 5,210

 158 – 5,210 0 0 – 5,052

  

  226 0 0 0 226

 0 – 5,727 0 0 – 5,727

 0 0 0 98 98

 226 – 5,727 0 98 – 5.403

Cash and cash equivalents  31/12/2011
k€

Cash on hand  28

Cash in banks  6,384

Total   6,412

31/12/2012

2

8,860

8,862

31/12/2013

2

10,027

10,029
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(27) EqUITy

For information on changes in equity, please refer to the Statement of Changes in Equity.

The share capital on 31 December 2013 was kEUR 7,372.7 (2012: kEUR 7,372.7), divided into 7,372,700 
(2012: 7,372,700) no-par bearer shares (ordinary shares) and had been fully paid in by the reporting date 
for the consolidated financial statements. 

By resolution of the annual general meeting of 14 July 2011, the Executive Board was authorised to annul, 
to the extent it will not have been utilised, the authorization granted to the Executive Board by the annual 
general meeting of 16 June 2010, which was limited in time until 15 June 2015, to increase the company’s 
share capital, with the consent of the Supervisory Board, by an amount of up to EUR 3,351,250.00 by 
issuing new bearer shares in exchange for cash and/or in-kind capital contributions, on one or more 
occasions (Authorised Capital 2010, which still amounts to EUR 2,681,050.00 after partial utilisation). In 
addition, the Executive Board was authorised to increase the company’s share capital, with the consent 
of the Supervisory Board, by up to EUR 3,686,350.00 by issuing up to 3,686,350 new bearer shares in 
exchange for cash and/or in-kind capital contributions on one or more occasions in the time until 13 July 
2016 (Authorised Capital 2011). A subscription right must be granted to the shareholders, as a general 
rule. The new shares may also be underwritten by one or more banks, with the obligation to offer them 
to the shareholders for subscription.

In this connection, the Executive Board was authorised to decide on the exclusion of the shareholders‘ 
subscription right, with the consent of the Supervisory Board. It can, with the consent of the Supervisory 
Board, exclude the subscription right, 

a) in order to issue the new shares in exchange for cash capital contributions at an issue price that is not 
significantly less than the stock market price of the company’s shares endowed with the same rights. 
However, this authorization is subject to the condition that the percentage of share capital represented 
by all the shares issued by virtue of this authorization under exclusion of the subscription right pursuant 
to Sections 203 para. 1, 186 para. 3 (4) of the German Stock Corporations Act does not exceed ten 
percent of the company’s share capital at the time when the present authorization takes effect or when 
it is exercised, whichever is lower. The percentage of share capital made up of shares which are sold 
during the term of this authorization pursuant to sec 71 para. 1 (8) (5), 186 para. 3 (4) of the German 
Stock Corporations Act, and the percentage made up of shares which are or are to be issued in order to 
service option or conversion rights or to fulfil option or conversion rights from bonds, are to be counted 
towards this maximum limit of ten percent of the share capital provided that the bonds are issued du-
ring the term of this authorization under exclusion of the subscription right with analogous application 
of Section 186 para. 3 (4) of the German Stock Corporations Act; 

b) in order to issue new shares in exchange for in-kind capital contributions, particularly for the purpose 
of acquiring companies, parts of companies and/or investments in companies. However, this authori-
zation is limited to the extent that the number of shares issued under exclusion of the subscription right 
after the exercise of this authorization or another authorization granted by the annual general meeting 
(including the authorizations defined in Sections a and c of the present resolution) does not exceed 
20 percent of the share capital at the time when this authorization takes effect or when it is exercised, 
whichever is lower;
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c) for fractional amounts: The Executive Board is authorised to establish, with the consent of the Super-
visory Board, the further particulars of the respective capital increase and the terms and conditions 
of the share issue. The Supervisory Board is authorised to reformulate the articles of incorporation to 
reflect the extent of the capital increase and after expiration of the authorization period.

The additional paid-in capital consists of issue premiums paid in connection with capital increases and the 
recognition of stock options. The eighth capital increase conducted on 13 July 2010 at a placement price 
of EUR 32.00 per share raised gross issue proceeds of kEUR 21,446.4. After deduction of the kEUR 670.2 
appropriated to share capital and the net capital increase costs of kEUR 314.7, the additional paid-in capital 
was increased by kEUR 20,461.5. An additional amount of kEUR 33.0 consisting of premiums resulting 
from the exercise in financial year 2010 of 1,800 stock options issued in 2007 was recognised; no stock 
options were exercised in 2011, 2012 or 2013.  

The annual general meeting of 7 July 2006 resolved to introduce a stock option plan for members of the 
Executive Board, members of the senior management of Group companies and other selected senior man- 
agers and key employees of the company. To that end, a Conditional Capital of kEUR 553 was created. 
By virtue of this authorization, the Executive Board of Phoenix Solar AG established a Stock Option Plan 
on 10 September 2007 (“Stock Option Plan 2006”; SOP 2006 as an abbreviation for Stock Option Plan 
2006), under which a total of 340,350 stock options of Phoenix Solar AG were granted in five tranches to 
members of the Executive Board, members of the management of the Group companies and other key 
personnel. As of the reporting date, 253,850 of those stock options had expired due to resignations and 
18,000 had been exercised. This leaves 68,500 stock options as of the reporting date. The beneficiaries 
will be entitled to exercise these stock options only if their employment relationship with the parent com-
pany or another Group company will not have been terminated by either party at the time of exercising 
the stock options. The stock option plan was terminated following a resolution passed by the annual 
general meeting on 14 July 2011 and the Conditional Capital was duly cancelled.

The Executive Board resolved not to distribute a dividend for financial year 2012.

The accumulated other comprehensive income underwent the following changes in financial year 2013:

The non-controlling interests in consolidated equity presented in the statement of financial position are 
related to the direct investments in Phoenix Solar Pte Ltd., Singapore, and Phoenix Solar L.L.C., Muscat, 
Oman, and the indirect investments in Phoenix Solar Sdn Bhd, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. 
 

NOTES

k€

Balance at 01/01/2013

Currency difference

Change to consolidation group

Consolidated loss for period

Balance at 31/12/2013 

– 55,035

– 433

207

– 10,688

– 65,949
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DISCLOSURES CONCERNING CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
Capital management is handled centrally for the Phoenix Solar Group by Phoenix Solar AG, at the main 
headquarters in Sulzemoos, for itself and the subsidiaries.

The principal objectives of the centralised capital management of Phoenix Solar AG are:

•	 assuring the necessary capital base to finance the company‘s growth;
•	 managing working capital as precisely as possible;
•	 monitoring the equity base and
•	 assuring the company‘s status as a going concern.

The capital managed is book equity.

As a consequence of these goals, one essential task of capital management in connection with the syn-
dicated credit facility obtained in the financial year was to monitor compliance with the minimum equity 
and minimum EBITDA indicators agreed as covenants with the financing entities. 

Taking into consideration the company’s decision to close loss-making business units in 2013, the credit 
facility was extended on 11 February 2013 with a total volume of kEUR 126,000 until 31 March 2015. Also 
in this case, an important element of the financing package is a syndicated loan in the amount of kEUR 
95,574. 

(28) FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities are presented in the following items of the statement of financial position:

On account of the agreement amending the existing loan agreement concluded on 11 February 2013, 
the amounts owed to banks at the reporting date are classified as current liabilities. The current financial 
liabilities are secured under the terms of a global assignment agreement for the receivables and inven-
tories of Phoenix Solar Aktiengesellschaft and the pledging of interests in major subsidiaries of Phoenix 
Solar Aktiengesellschaft. 

Information on the scope of the syndicated loan agreement is provided in Note (39) on the subject of 
liquidity risk.

financial liabilities  31/12/2011
k€

Noncurrent financial liabilities (residual term more than 1  year)  74

Current financial liabilities (residual term up to 1 year)  24,726

Total   24,800

31/12/2012

10

39,543

39,553

31/12/2013

40,330

4

40,334
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The Noncurrent financial liabilities consist of the annuity loan of a bank, which has been divided up 
in proportion to the maturity structure of the repayment instalments. The interest rate for this loan is  
4.6 percent per annum. 

The loan is secured by rights in rem.

(29) PROVISIONS

The provisions break down as follows:

NOTES

Noncurrent Balance at Reclassi- Utilisation Release Compound Addition Balance at  
provisions 01/01/2013 fication   Interest  31/12/2013
k€ 

Warranty provisions

Restoration obligations

Other 

Total 

Current provisions
k€  

Warranty provisions

Litigation and 
arbitration costs

Provisions for 
anticipated losses 

Other 

Total 

 

  1,302 – 317 0 – 225 17 15 792

 151 0 0 – 60 0 0 91

 218 0 – 50 – 122 0 5 51

 1,672 – 317 – 50 – 407 17 20 934

 
  

 1,921 317 – 482 – 41 0 564 2,279

 600 0 0 0 0 142 742

 
 2,252  – 973 – 771 0 0 508

 18 0 – 2 – 12 8 108 405

 4,791 317 – 1,457 – 824 8 814 3,934

k€ 

 Book value/ Remaining Remaining
 Market value amortisation period amortisation period 
as per 31/12/2013 

Financial liabilities 

as per 31/12/2012

Financial liabilities 

  up to 1 year 1 to 5 years

 40,334 4 40,330

 39,553 39,543 10
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The warranty provision has been established to account for statutory and contractual warranty obligations 
and for accommodation payments to customers. Nearly all the Noncurrent warranty provisions related to 
the project business have a term of up to five years. 

The provisions for litigation and arbitration costs are composed of two kinds of costs: anticipated costs 
due to court proceedings against customers for unpaid invoices and claims asserted by customers as of 
the reporting date, which are at least partially unfounded from the Group’s perspective. These items are 
always evaluated on the basis of the prospects for out-of-court settlements. As of the reporting date, the 
Management estimates a maximum additional cost for litigation and arbitration costs of 10 percent, at 
most; the period considered for that purpose is up to three years.

The other Noncurrent provisions include, in particular, the provision for site restoration obligations and 
the provision for the obligation to archive business documents. Other current provisions usually only 
contain cases where each individual valuation is of secondary importance. The terms of the provisions 
range from nine to twenty years. In the financial year 2013 this provision item contains a provision for an 
anticipated tax risk to Phoenix Solar s.r.l., Italy, in the amount of kEUR 284.

(30) TRADE PAyABLES

Trade payables are measured at the settlement amount. Due to the short-term payment terms of these 
liabilities, this amount is equal to the fair value of the corresponding liabilities.

All trade payables are due in less than one year.

121
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(31) OTHER LIABILITIES

The other liabilities presented in the statement of financial position are sub-divided into financial and non-
financial liabilities.

The non-financial liabilities include those liabilities that are not based on contractual agreements between 
companies or that are not settled with cash or cash equivalents or financial assets.

The other financial liabilities break down as follows:

As in the previous year, no financial liabilities such as interest rate swaps classified as “held for trading” 
were recognised in the reporting year. 

The obligations to former shareholders consist of obligations of individual subsidiaries that were not settled 
in the time from the acquisition date to the reporting date.

The personnel-related liabilities pertain to the following matters:

NOTES

Other financial liabilities   31/12/2011
k€

Deferred sales commissions   942

Deferred sales 

Commitments to former shareholders   313

Credit balances in customer accounts   527

Purchase price down payments for project companies  0

Other  1,011

Total   4,038

31/12/2012

182

0

419

206

1,845

1,009

3,697

31/12/2013

182

362

235

0

0

1,821

2,600

Other non-financial liabilities   31/12/2011
k€

VAT liabilities  3,982

Liabilities under wage tax and social security  557

Personnel-related liabilities  5,803

Liabilities from downpayments received  3,180

Other  241

Total  13,763

31/12/2012

1,590

345

2,513

1,068

34

5,550

31/12/2013

313

155

2,108

1,941

44

4,561

Personnel-related liabilities   31/12/2011
k€

Liabilities under current employment contracts   15

Liabilities under bonus commitments   2,975

Liabilities for overtime and/or vacation claims   1,112

Severance liabilities  1,463

Other  238

Total  5,803

31/12/2012

137

1,417

640

100

219

2,513

31/12/2013

178

1,485

200

0

244

2,108
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E. ADDITIONAL NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(32) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EqUITy

The equity of the Phoenix Group is divided into subscribed capital, additional paid-in capital reserves and 
accumulated other comprehensive income. 

Detailed information on the fully paid-up share capital of Phoenix Solar AG and on transactions recog-
nised in additional paid-in capital, as well as detailed information on significant transactions that are not 
directly reflected in the respective line item of the consolidated statement of changes in equity, can be 
found in Note (27) “Equity”.

Generally speaking, the accumulated other comprehensive income represents the earned equity of the 
Group. It is composed of the prior-period profits and losses of the companies included in the consolidated 
financial statements, to the extent they were not distributed in the form of dividends, and the differences 
arising from the currency translation of the separate financial statements of foreign subsidiaries, in the 
amount of kEUR - 433 (2012: kEUR 34). As in previous years the other income did not attract any income 
tax (2012: kEUR 0).

(33) CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

The cash flow statement presents the changes in the cash and cash equivalents of the Phoenix Solar 
Group that occurred during the reporting period as a result of cash inflows and outflows. In accordance 
with IAS 7, cash flows are divided into the cash flow from operating activities, the cash flow from investing 
activities and the cash flow from financing activities. In case of changes in the group of consolidated com-
panies resulting from the acquisition or sale of companies, the purchase price paid (excluding liabilities 
assumed), less the cash and cash equivalents acquired or sold, are recognised as cash flows from investing 
activities. The other accounting effects of the acquisition or sale are eliminated in the respective line items 
of the three different groups of cash flows. 

The cash flow from operating activities is calculated by means of the indirect method. This means that the 
cash flow from operating activities is calculated as follows: The consolidated earnings for the period before 
taxes are adjusted to take out non-cash amounts and supplemented by the changes in current assets and 
liabilities. Interest and tax payments are then applied to arrive at the cash flow from operating activities.

The reduction in inventories (kEUR 8,291) and the changes to supplier receivables (kEUR 12,301) had a sig-
nificantly positive effect on the operating cash flow. Furthermore, non-cash write-downs on inventories 
in the amount of kEUR 718 were also added to this figure. Negative effects on the cash flow from opera-
ting activities resulted from the payments made as of the reporting date to settle liabilities to suppliers of 
trading stock and purchased services, in the amount of kEUR 14,461, and work performed in connection 
with the project business (kEUR 4,688).

The cash flows from investing activities and financing activities are both calculated by means of the direct 
method, based on the presentation of exclusively cash transactions.
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The cash flow from investing activities was influenced mainly by acquisitions of Noncurrent assets. De-
tailed information on capital expenditures can be found in Notes (12) and (14).

The company financed its operating activities in the financial year 2013 by means of drawdowns under 
the syndicated working capital credit facility (see Notes (28) and (39)). 

The cash funds shown in the cash flow statement (cash and cash equivalents) comprise all the cash and 
cash equivalents presented in the statement of financial position, i.e., cash on hand and cash in banks, to 
the extent they will be available within three months (see Note (26)). Cash funds are not subject to any 
restrictions on disposal.

Significant non-cash transactions include changes to the measurement of inventories amounting to  
kEUR 718 (2012: kEUR 9,249), appropriations of write-downs or depreciation of the receivables portfolio 
in the amount of kEUR 1,322 (2012: kEUR 1,162).

NOTES
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F. OTHER DISCLOSURES

(34) SEGMENT REPORTING

OPERATING SEGMENTS
The Group Executive Board is the responsible governing body that makes decisions about the allocation 
of resources to the operating segments of the Phoenix Group and assesses their performance. In ac-
cordance with the principles of the Management Approach, the Management Information System (MIS) 
of the Group Executive Board forms the basis for identifying the relevant operating segments. The MIS is 
based on the recognition and measurement regulations of the IASB, both originally and with respect to 
the data of the operating performance parameters of each operating segment. The relevant managerial 
indicators for each operating segment include revenues, earnings before interest and taxes, corrected for 
the income or expenses of associated companies (segment profit or loss).

The Group is managed via the two operating segments Power Plants and Components & Systems. The 
principal activities are sub-divided as follows:

•	 Power Plants: Planning, distribution, construction and maintenance of photovoltaic plants, as well as 
Operation & Maintenance (O&M) services;

•	 Components & Systems: Distribution of trade articles

The operating profit or loss is segmented on the basis of cost accounting reports. When the revenues of 
the Power Plants segment pertain to project-related work, the corresponding pro-rated profits are recog-
nised as of the reporting date.

The other indicators to be segmented with regard to the Power Plants and Components & Systems seg-
ments are divided up by principal activity through the application of a distribution key that is derived from 
revenues or total operating performance in a fundamentally uniform manner. Whenever a cost allocation 
based on the specific cost of goods sold is required, a key is applied on the basis of the materials and work 
used in the cost of goods sold.
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financial Year  2013

k€

Segment profit or loss statement

External revenues 

Segment revenues

Segment profit or loss 

Income from associated companies 

EBIT

Financial result

Consolidated profit/loss before taxes

Income taxes

Consolidated profit/loss for period

– thereof attributable to non-controlling 
 interests 

– thereof due to majority shareholders 

Other information

Investments

Amortisation and depreciation 

Non-cash expenses 

Non-cash income 

Assets

Segment assets

Shares in associated companies 

Non-assigned assets  

Consolidated assets 

 Power Plants  Components  Other  Consoli-  Group
  & Systems  dation 
 

 84,510 56,713 0 0 141,223

 84,510 56,713 0 0 141,223

 – 3,295 1,820 0 0 – 1,475

 68 0 0 0 68

     – 1,407

     – 5,052

     – 6,459

     – 2,847

     – 9,306

     1,382

     – 10,688

 

 743 143 0 0 886

 995 668 0 0 1,663

 731 854 0 0 1,585

 979 844 0 0 1,823

 

 33,455 22,433 23 0 55,911

 397 0 0 0 397

     12,426

     68,733

The segment information for these operating segments is presented below:
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financial Year  2012

k€

Segment profit or loss statement

External revenues

Segment revenues

Segment profit or loss 

Income from associated companies 

EBIT

Financial result

Consolidated profit/loss before taxes

Income taxes

Consolidated profit/loss for period

– of which attributable to non-controlling 
 interests 

– thereof due to majority shareholders 

Other information

Investments

Amortisation and depreciation 

Non-cash expenses 

Non-cash income 

Assets

Segment assets

Shares in associated companies 

Non-assigned assets  

Consolidated assets 

 Power Plants Components Other Consoli- Group 
  & Systems  dation
 

 82,976 72,454 0 0 155,430

 82,976 72,454 0 0 155,430

 – 22,039 – 9,801 0 0 – 31,840

 50 0 0 0 50

     – 31,790

     – 5,501

     – 37,291

     – 300

     – 37,591

     308

     – 37,283

 

 192 161 0 0 353

 3,062 2,895 0 0 5,957

 4,766 10,875 0 0 15,641

 2,444 627 0 0 3,071

 

 42,115 35,345 23 0 77,482

 397 0 0 0 397

     14,773

     92,652
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The revenues of the Power Plants segment derive mainly from project-related work, so that project re- 
venues as of the reporting date included both finally invoiced projects and on-going projects, the reve-
nues of which were recognised on a period accrual basis by application of the percentage-of-completion  
method according to IAS 11. As of the reporting date the sum of these sales amounts to kEUR 61,726 
(2012: kEUR 28,574). By reason of the business model and the goods and services offered on that basis, 
intersegment revenues are excluded, as a general rule. Given the current customer portfolio, there is also 
no real concentration of revenues on any one or a few customers; the same can be said of the procure-
ment side.

Segment assets are defined as the sum of Noncurrent and current assets, less shares in associated com-
panies, as well as income tax assets and interest-bearing receivables. Segment liabilities are currently not 
included in the MIS and are not used by the Executive Board for managing the operating segments.

Non-cash income includes income from the reversal of provisions, liabilities and write-downs and changes 
in the fair value of options; non-cash expenses include the recognition of write-downs and the charge-off 
of receivables.

With regard to the transfer prices applied, intragroup trading is conducted at terms that meet the criteria 
of an arm’s-length transaction. Overhead costs attributable to Group headquarters are not allocated to 
the operating segments, as a general rule. 

The sales revenues of external customers are allocated to the regions or project locations presented on the 
basis of the delivery address.

Noncurrent assets are assigned on the basis of the companies’ registered head offices.

The Group‘s revenues were divided among the following regions:

Noncurrent assets were divided among the regions as follows:

NOTES

k€  2011

Home

EU, not including home market  187,747

USA  2,975

Asia  34,272

Total  393,484

2013

16,667

33,188

53,761

37,607

141,223

2012

46,428

69,799

23,228

15,975

155,430

k€  31/12/2011

Home

EU, not including home market  335

USA  24

Asia  91

Total  9,524

31/12/2013

2,073

13,972

318

164

16,527

31/12/2012

1,859

15,291

1,002

48

18,200
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(35) DISCLOSURES OF TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PERSONS AND COMPANIES

In accordance with IAS 24 related persons and companies for the Phoenix Group are persons and com-
panies that control the Phoenix Group or exercise a determining influence on it or who are controlled or 
significantly influenced by the Phoenix Group. 

As well as the business relationships with the subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements 
in the process of full consolidation for which no disclosures have to be made, the following business rela-
tionships existed with related parties.

Phoenix Solar AG granted a loan of EUR 1,047 (2011: kEUR 650) to SOLAR GRIECHENLAND Beteiligungs-
gesellschaft mbH & Co. KG in which it has a holding. Interest was charged on the loan at a rate of  
6.5 percent until 30 September 2012 which is due on maturity and the loan matured at the end of 2013. 
As of the reporting date, the loan was paid down to an amount of kEUR 124. On the basis of an agreement 
the interest rate was reduced to 0.0 percent from 1 October 2012.

Disclosures on shares held by directors and officers:

In connection with the Stock Option Plan 2006, the following stock options were granted to the Executive 
Board: In financial year 2007 each member of the Executive Board was granted 4,500 option rights: the 
fair value of an option at the time of issue was EUR 10.177. In financial years 2008 and 2009 each member 
of the Executive Board active at the time of issue was granted 9,000 further option rights; the fair value 
at the time of granting was EUR 20.174 or EUR 17.972 per option right. Further option rights were also 
granted in financial year 2010 to members of the Executive Board active at the time of issue; the fair value 
at the time of granting was EUR 13.912 per option right.

In addition, the compensation paid to the Executive and Supervisory Boards constitutes transactions with 
related persons. For a detailed description please refer to Note (42) or (43).

Executive Board  31/12/2011
   No. of Shares

Dr. Andreas Hänel (resigned 28/02/2013)  231,200

Dr. Bernd Köhler (appointed 01/12/2011)  0

Dr. Murray Cameron  69,750

Olaf Laber (appointed 01/04/2014)  216

Total holdings of Executive Board members   301,356
1 not applicable as there is no more reporting obligation after the resignation

Supervisory Board  31/12/011
   No. of Shares

J. Michael Fischl  0

Prof. Dr. Thomas Zinser  –

Oliver Gosemann  300

Total holdings of Supervisory Board members   2,275

31/12/2012
No. of Shares

266,380

0

69,750

336,130

3/.1/.2012
No. of Shares

0

0

20,367

20,367

31/12/2013
No. of Shares

n.a.1

0

69,750

0

69,750

3/.1/.2013
No. of Shares

0

0

100

100
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(36) CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Guarantees and other commitments result from customary contractual warranty obligations that can 
arise in connection with contracts in the Power Plants segment and from orders in the Components & 
Systems segment.

(37) CONTINGENT ASSETS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

There were no contingent assets or liabilities.

(38) OTHER FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS 

The Group had total financial commitments of kEUR 3,506 (2012: kEUR 6,216) under various rental and 
lease agreements. Of this total amount an amount of kEUR 967 (2012: kEUR 1,687) is due within one year, 
kEUR 1,797 (2012: kEUR 2,601) has a residual term between one and five years, kEUR 1,928 (2012: kEUR 
1,928) has a residual term of over five years. Rent extension options of five years have been agreed in some 
property contracts.

The firm orders for Noncurrent assets amounted to kEUR 60 (2012: kEUR 44). As of the reporting date 
there are no obligations arising from long-term purchasing contracts with suppliers.

As of the reporting date there were avals of EUR 34.1 million (2012: EUR 52.0 million).

(39) RISK MANAGEMENT SySTEM

Phoenix Solar AG is exposed to both cash flow risks and exchange rate risks with respect to its assets, 
liabilities and planned transactions.

The objective of financial risk management is to limit this risk by means of on-going operational and 
financial activities. To that end, selected derivative hedging instruments are used, depending on the 
assessment of the risk in question. As a general rule, however, only those risks that could have effects on 
the Group’s cash flow are hedged. Derivative financial instruments are employed exclusively for hedging 
purposes; thus, they are not used for trading or other speculative purposes.

The basic principles of financial policy are adopted annually by the Executive Board and monitored by the 
Supervisory Board. The implementation of the financial policy and the corresponding risk management 
are the responsibility of the Treasury Department. Certain transactions require the advance approval of 
the Executive Board, which is also informed about the scope and amount of the current risk level on a 
regular basis.

NOTES
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CURRENCY RISK AND INTEREST RATE RISK
Due to the fact that the business of the Phoenix Group is geared to international markets and their grow-
ing importance, the company is exposed to currency risks. Therefore, the Treasury Department considers 
the effective management of exchange rate risk to be one of its principal tasks and fulfils that task by 
means of an actively managed exchange rate hedging strategy.

Foreign currency risks are hedged to the extent that they influence the Group’s cash flows. On the other 
hand, foreign currency risks that do not influence the Group’s cash flows (i.e. risks resulting from the 
translation of assets and liabilities of foreign corporate entities to the Group’s reporting currency) are not 
hedged, as a general rule. 

In the area of operating activities, foreign currency risks arise from planned payments in currencies other 
than the functional currency in connection with the procurement of modules.

To limit or eliminate such risks, derivatives are employed as hedging instruments. As a general rule, the 
Group employs forward exchange deals, swaps and currency options to hedge payments in advance that 
will be made or received in the following financial year. As of the reporting date 31 December 2013, the 
Group disposed of forward exchange deals with a volume of kEUR 5,250 (2012: kEUR 5,250). 

Phoenix Solar AG is therefore exposed to market value risks from certain foreign exchange derivatives. 
These are foreign exchange derivatives which serve to hedge underlying transactions and planning po-
sitions. Exchange rate changes in the currencies underlying such financial instruments are recognised in 
other operating income or expenses (measurement result from the adjustment of financial assets to fair 
value). If the EUR had risen or fallen by ten percent against all currencies as of 31 December 2013, the 
other operating income or expenses and the fair value of hedging transactions would have been higher by  
kEUR 0 or lower by kEUR 0, respectively (31 December 2012: higher by kEUR 0 or lower by kEUR 0, re-
spectively), i.e. unchanged. The hypothetical profit effect results from the currency sensitivities of the euro 
to the Japanese yen and of the euro to the U.S. dollar.

Monetary financial instruments (cash and cash equivalents, receivables, non-interest-bearing liabilities) are 
denominated directly in the functional currency in most cases. Therefore, exchange rate changes have no 
effect on the Group’s profit or equity. Interest income and interest expenses from financial instruments 
are likewise recognised directly in the functional currency. Therefore, any changes in that respect also have 
no effect on the managed values. 

Furthermore, the company has instituted an interest rate management programme, which became more 
important in the past financial year as a result of the variable syndicated loan financing. Although the 
business model and the resulting liabilities and equity items are currently subject only to minor interest 
rate risks, the Group realised the necessity of instituting active interest rate hedging in this area. As vehicles 
for managing the interest burden, the Group employed both interest rate swaps and interest rate caps 
to adequately counter any potential increase in interest rates. Interest rate changes affecting the interest 
differences underlying such financial instruments will have an effect on the Group’s financial result. If the 
level of interest rates had increased or decreased by 100 basis points compared to all interest rate hedging 
transactions as of 31 December 2013, the financial result and the fair value of hedging instruments would 
have been higher by kEUR 19 or lower by kEUR 4, respectively (31 December 2012: higher by kEUR 8 or 
lower by kEUR 6, respectively).
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DEfAULT RISK
There is no significant concentration of default risks within the Group as the risks are distributed among 
a large number of counterparties and customers. The Group is exposed to default risk primarily in con-
nection with its trade receivables. The amounts presented in the statement of financial position are net 
of write-downs for tentatively uncollectible receivables; such write-downs have been estimated by the 
Group’s Management on the basis of past experience values and the current economic environment.

The maximum default risk is reflected in the carrying amounts of the financial assets presented in the 
statement of financial position. 

In order to prevent such default on receivables, the Phoenix Solar Group evaluates the credit ratings of the 
contractual partners. If a credit rating’s deterioration is recognized, the contractual conditions are adjusted 
accordingly. Adequate measures in such cases constitute reducing the customer credit limit and obtaining 
advance payments or alternative securities such as guarantees or trust accounts.

Default risk is limited with respect to cash equivalents as such instruments are held at banks with high 
credit ratings.

As of the reporting date, there were no significant agreements that would reduce the maximum default 
risk (e.g. set-off agreements).

LIQUIDITY RISK
To avoid liquidity risk within the Phoenix Group, which is defined as an inability of the Group to fulfil exist-
ing payment obligations with respect to the amounts and temporal structure without restriction and/or 
on time, the Group prepares a cash flow forecast on the basis of a three-year business plan approved by 
the Management. Corporate Treasury compares the expected future cash flows with the rolling weekly 
forecast of the Group’s liquidity situation. As a result financial risks can be detected early and measures 
taken with regard to financing and investment requirements (anticipatory liquidity risk control). 

The financing available until 31 March 2015 in the total amount of kEUR 126,000 consisting of cash and 
guarantee facilities, includes a syndicated loan facility with a volume of kEUR 95,574. 

In connection with the credit facility funds made available to the Group, the Corporate Treasury Depart-
ment is charged with the task of monitoring and assuring compliance with the syndicated loan agree-
ment covenants, for purposes of structure liquidity risk management.  

(40) SHARE-BASED PAyMENT TRANSACTIONS

The annual general meeting of 7 July 2006 resolved to introduce a stock option plan for members of the 
Executive Board, members of the senior management of Group companies and other selected senior  
managers and key employees of the company. To that end, a Conditional Capital of kEUR 552 was created.

NOTES
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By virtue of this authorization, the Executive Board of Phoenix Solar AG established a Stock Option Plan 
on 10 September 2007 (“Stock Option Plan 2006”; SOP 2006 as an abbreviation for Stock Option Plan 
2006), under which a total of 340,350 stock options of Phoenix Solar AG were granted in five tranches to 
members of the Executive Board, members of the management of the Group companies and other key 
personnel. As of the reporting date, 253,850 of those stock options had expired due to resignations and 
18,000 had been exercised. This leaves 68,500 stock options as of the reporting date. The beneficiaries 
will be entitled to exercise these stock options only if their employment relationship with the parent com-
pany or another Group company will not have been terminated by either party at the time of exercising 
the stock options.

The fair value of stock options has been calculated by means of a simulation (Monte Carlo simulation), 
based on the following parameters:

•	 Exercise strategies: The strategy of earliest possible exercise was assumed for Tranches I to III. Based 
on the experience made with the initial exercise, a tripartite strategy was assumed for Tranches IV and 
V, thus 1. Earliest possible exercise, 2. Earliest possible exercise after 2.5 years at the earliest, 3. Earliest 
possible exercise after 3 years at the earliest. The weighting applied for determining the percentage 
of stock options to which each strategy should be applied for measurement purposes is based on the 
experience gained whereby 67 percent exercise according to Strategy 1, 11 percent according to Strat-
egy 2 and 22 percent according to Strategy 3. In addition, an employee turnover rate of 5 percent was 
applied.

•	 Lock-up period: During the exercise period, stock options may not be exercised during a period of  
14 calendar days prior to the date of publication of quarterly reports and during the period from the 
close of the fiscal year to the end of the date of publication of the financial results of the preceding 
financial year.

•	 Exercise hurdles: The stock options can be exercised by the beneficiary only when the closing price 
of the share of Phoenix Solar AG in the Xetra trading system of the Frankfurt am Main Stock Exchange 
(or a comparable successor system) exceeds the exercise price at the time of exercising the stock option 
by 40 percent for ten consecutive trading days in the first year of the exercise period. This percentage 
increases by 20 percentage points per year in each of the following years. 

 SOP 2006 SOP 2006 SOP 2006 SOP 2006
k€ (2011) (2010) (2009) (2008)

Issue date: 06/05/2011 07/09/2011 08/09/2010 10/09/2008

Valuation date 06/05/2011 07/09/2011 08/09/2010 10/09/2008

Stock exchange price of the company’s share at the valuation date: 19.52 € 28.70 € 36.40 € 43.46 €

Vesting period: 2 years 2 years 2 years 2 years

Stock option life (including vesting period): 7 years 7 years 7 years 7 years

Exercise price: 20.44 € 28.75 € 35.11 € 46.39 €

Risk-free interest rate: 2.11 % 0.87 % 2.95 % 4.04 %

Volatility: 57.75 % 63.82 % 64.83 % 61.35 %

Annual dividend per share: 0.30 € 0.20 € 0.25 € 0.20 €

Due date of dividends (assumption): around 15 June of each year

No. of simulations conducted: 10,000,000 in each case
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The volatility was calculated as historical volatility from the movement in the share price from 19 Novem-
ber 2004 to 13 July 2007 (Tranche I), from 1 July 2005 to 12 September 2008 (Tranche II), from 1 July 
2006 to 5 October 2010 (Tranche III), from 1 July 2007 to 4 October 2011 (Tranche IV) and from 1 July 
2008 to 9 May 2011 (Tranche V). The volatility expected is based on the average historical volatility. 

The risk-free interest rate was determined by the Svensson method. On the basis of this method of cal-
culation, the value of an option at the time of issue is calculated as EUR 10.177 (Tranche I), EUR 20.174 
(Tranche II), EUR 17.972 (Tranche III) and the weighted value of an option as EUR 13.912 (Tranche IV) and 
EUR 8.323 (Tranche V).

The stock option position developed as follows in the financial year:

In 2013, as in the precious year, no options were excercised.

The company incurred no expenses from share-based compensation for the financial year 2013 (2012: 
kEUR 54). 

Compensation is paid in full through the issue of equity instruments. 

(41) IMPORTANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

APPOINTMENT Of NEW MEMBER Of THE EXECUTIVE BOARD
In December 2013, the Supervisory Board appointed Olaf Laber to the Executive Board. He took up office 
on 1 January 2014 and has been responsible since then for New Business Models and Information Tech-
nologies as well as business in the regions of Germany, Europe and the Middle East.

INSOLVENCY fILING Of THE ITALIAN SUBSIDIARY
Owing to the particularly unfavourable economic and political framework conditions in Italy, the business 
of our local subsidiary increasingly lost momentum as the year 2013 progressed and, towards the turn of 
the year, came under increasing pressure. Against this backdrop, all facets of the situation and courses of 
action were carefully weighed up with the management of the subsidiary and finally, on 12 March 2014, 
insolvency proceedings were instituted. As a result, operating activities in Italy have ceased completely.

Assets and liabilities of the subsidiary are being accounted for at insolvency values in the Group financial 
statements.

This measure will not have any material impact on the Group’s earnings, financial and assets position.

NOTES

    Tranche V Tranche IV Tranche III Tranche II Tranche I Total  
   SOP 2006 SOP 2006 SOP 2006 SOP 2006 SOP 2006 number
   (2011) (2010) (2009) (2008) (2007)

Position 01/01/2012  9,500 101,400 63,000 41,000 9,000 223,900

stock options expired
during the term in 2012  – 6,500 – 60,400 – 37,000 – 20,000 0 – 123,900

Position 31/12/2012 – 01/01/2013

stock options expired
during the term in 2013

Position 31/12/2013

  3,000 41,000 26,000 21,000 9,000 100,000

 0 – 9,000 – 9,000 – 9,000 – 4,500 – 31,500

 3,000 32,000 17,000 12,000 4,500 68,500
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REGROUPING Of THE US SUBSIDIARY
In January 2014, the subsidiary in the USA was transferred to Phoenix Solar America GmbH, a newly foun-
ded intermediate holding company. Alongside structural aspects, this measure was aimed at leveraging 
valuation reserves, thereby strengthening the equity base of Phoenix Solar AG.

G. SUPPLEMENTARy DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO THE   
 GERMAN COMMERCIAL CODE (HGB)

(42) EXECUTIVE BOARD OF THE PARENT COMPANy

•	 Dr. Andreas Hänel, Diplom-Ingenieur, Sulzemoos (Chief Executive Officer, resigned from this position 
effective 28 February 2013)

•	 Dr. Bernd Köhler, Diplom-Volkswirt, Ubstadt-Weiher (Chief Financial Officer until 31 December 2014; 
responsible for finances; Chief Executive Officer as of 1 March 2013) 

•	 Dr. Murray Cameron, Diplom-Physiker, Garching (Chief Operating Officer until 30 June 2016; respon-
sible for the regions in Asia and the USA)

•	 Olaf Laber, Dipl.-Informationswirt (FH), Dreieich, until 31 December 2016; responsible for new business 
models, information technologies, Europe and the Middle East (since 1 January 2014).

All members of the Executive Board are authorised to represent the company individually.

Membership on supervisory boards within the Group and external to the Group:

•	 Dr. Andreas Hänel is a member of the Executive Board of Phoenix Solar Incorporation, USA, and of the 
Non-Executive Board of Phoenix Solar Pte. Ltd., Singapore (resigned as of 28 February 2013).

•	 Dr. Bernd Köhler follows Dr. Andreas Hänel as Member of the Executive Board of Phoenix Solar Pte. 
Ltd, Singapore. Furthermore he is Chair of the Administrative Board of Phoenix Solar S.r.l. Rome, Italy.

•	 Murray Cameron is the Chairman of the Non-Executive Board of Phoenix Solar Pte. Ltd., Singapore, 
and CEO and President of Phoenix Solar Inc., USA.

The compensation granted to the Executive Board in the financial year 2013 amounted to kEUR 1,187 
(2012: kEUR 872).

This compensation was divided up as follows:

 Component Performance- Component
 unrelated to  related with a long-term
k€ performance  component incentive effect Total

 

Dr. Andreas Hänel 

Dr. Bernd Köhler 

Dr. Murray Cameron 

Ulrich Reidenbach* 

Total 

* resigned 31 December 2012

2013

343

527

177

0

1,047

2012

218

191

139

25

573

2013

0

0

140

0

140

2012

36

153

39

6

234

2013

0

0

0

0

0

2012

0

65

0

0

65

2013

343

527

317

0

1,187

2012

254

409

178

31

872
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Compensation components that are not performance-related include a monthly base salary, the provision 
of a company car conforming to the Company Car Guideline, which can also be used for private purposes, 
and the assumption of a premium for an accident insurance policy that primarily covers accidents at work 
but also covers liability in the private sphere.

The members of the Executive Board Dr. Hänel and Dr. Cameron, respectively, were awarded options in 
the amount of 35.000 units each under the Stock Option Plans. In the course of the financial year 2013 
no options were exercised; in addition the options owned by Dr. Hänel expired due to his resignation.

As far as performance-related compensation is concerned, a dual system comprising both personal, quali-
tative goals and company-specific, quantitative goals, has so far been applied. In order to ensure a suit-
able compensation system for the future, long-term incentives were taken into account to the extent 
that both an EBIT barrier and a bonus index system with multipliers developed by the Swiss research 
company Obermatt were put in place. However this system was no longer adequate against the back-
ground of major changes taking place in the entire solar industry, insolvencies among similar companies, 
and the comprehensive restructuring and realignment of Phoenix Solar and its administrative costs. The 
performance-related compensation was therefore changed to a flexible format with agreed targets which 
enable the Supervisory Board to agree or set targets tailored to the particular situation of the company 
and the areas of responsibility of individual board members, and to shape the variable remuneration as a 
function of achieving those targets. The basis for assessing targets always covers several years in order to 
reflect sustainable growth. However, the Supervisory Board may depart from this principle depending on 
the company’s situation and for example select a one-year timeframe. Advantage was taken of this option 
in 2013 due to the special restructuring situation with the fundamental realignment of the company. 

In the past financial year, in addition to the rigorous and successful implementation of the restructuring 
plan, the performance of the two regions, Asia and USA – for which Dr. Murray Cameron is responsible 
on the Executive Board – was of crucial significance for the success of the Group. On the basis of the new 
arrangements for variable remuneration, a target was agreed with Dr. Cameron which exactly reflected 
this significance. The targets agreed related to EBIT as well as the number of contracts obtained and in the 
pipeline in both regions or by the subsidiaries based in these regions.

A new contractual arrangement covering his activities for the company was agreed with Chief Executive 
Officer, Dr. Bernd Köhler, when Dr. Andreas Hänel left his post and when Dr. Köhler took over the function 
of Chief Executive Officer as of 1 March 2013, which took the form of a management services agreement. 
The contract no longer contains any additional benefits such as a company car, accident insurance, con-
tinued payment of remuneration in the event of death, contributions to company pension scheme or 
severance payment arrangements, and it offers a strong performance incentive by way of the relatively 
short termination option available to the company. The remuneration is based on a fixed and a basically 
variable daily rate. However, during the financial year 2013 the latter component was also fixed.

The components with a long-term incentive effect consisted of contributions to a defined contribution 
pension plan which were only paid in 2012.
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(43) SUPERVISORy BOARD OF THE PARENT COMPANy

•	 Michael Fischl, Dipl.-Kfm., Abensberg (Chairman), Head of Internal Audit of Sparkasse Ingolstadt
•	 Thomas Zinser, Hohenschäftlarn, (Vice Chairman since 21 June 2012), tax advisor with Kanzlei Ebner 

Stolz Mönning Bachem and professor at Landshut University in the Department of Taxes, Accounting 
and General Business Administration 

•	 Oliver Gosemann, Managing Director of GOSFAM Investments GmbH, Forst (since 16 June 2010)

Mr. Gosemann is also Vice Chairman of the Supervisory Board of CPU Softwarehouse AG, Augsburg as 
well as Member of the Supervisory Board of Turbina Energy AG, Munich. 

The total compensation of the Supervisory Board members in the financial year 2013 amounted to  
kEUR 124 (2012: kEUR 196) and is made up entirely of non-performance-related components.

This amount was divided up as follows:

(44) PROFESSIONAL FEE OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The professional fee paid to the auditing firm in the financial year 2013 and recognised as an expense in 
2013 was divided up as follows:

137NOTES

  Component unrelated 

k€  to performance  Total

 

J. Michael Fischl 

Prof. Dr. Klaus Höfle* 

Dr. Patrick Schweisthal* 

Prof. Dr. Thomas Zinser  

Oliver Gosemann  

Dr. Torsten Hass*  

Gesamt 

* After the resolution adopted by the annual general meeting on 21 June 2012 regarding the reduction in size of the supervisory board, was registered, these gentlemen resigned their supervisory 
 board mandates.

2013

52

0

0

38

34

0

124

2012

63

18

23

45

30

17

196

2013

52

0

0

38

34

0

124

2012

63

18

23

45

30

17

196

   2011
k€

a) Audit of financial statements  285

b) Other confirmations  114

c) Tax consultancy

d) Other services 

Total

2012

260

42

0

56

359

2013

277

0

7

14

298
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(45) DECLARATION OF CONFORMITy WITH THE GERMAN CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Executive Board and the Supervisory Board have issued a declaration of conformity in accordance 
with Section 161 of the German Stock Corporations Act (AktG) regarding compliance with the German 
Corporate Governance Code and made it permanently available to the shareholders on the company’s 
website (http://www.phoenixsolar-group.com under „Investor Relations“ and then „Corporate Gover-
nance“, „Declaration of Conformity“).

The Declaration was last made and published on 26 March 2014.

(46) AFFIRMATION By THE LEGALLy AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

“To the best of our knowledge, we hereby affirm that the Group financial statements give a true and fair 
reflection of the results of operations, financial position and net assets of the Group in accordance with 
the applicable generally accepted accounting principles.“

H. DATE AND SIGNING OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Sulzemoos, 26 March 2014

Phoenix Solar Aktiengesellschaft

Dr. Bernd Köhler  Dr. Murray Cameron Olaf Laber
Dipl.-Volkswirt Dipl.-Physiker Dipl.-Informationswirt (FH)
Ubstadt-Weiher Garching Dreieich
(Chief Executive Officer) (Chief Operating Officer) (Chief Operating Officer)

NOTES
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Die Phoenix Solar AG hatte zum 30. Juni 2012 eine Marktkapitalisierung von 11,8 Mio. EUR (31. Dezember
2011: 15,6 Mio. EUR). Beim Handelsvolumen verbuchte die Aktie im ersten Halbjahr 2012 einen Tageswert
von durchschnittlich 93.325 gehandelten Stücken.

AKTIONÄRSSTRUKTUR

Im ersten Halbjahr 2012 gingen mehrere Meldungen nach§ 21 Abs. 1 Wertpapierhandelsgesetz (WpHG)
bei uns ein, in denen Aktionäre das Erreichen sowie die Über- oder Unterschreitung der gesetzlichen Mel-
deschwellen anzeigten. Die der Phoenix Solar AG daraus bekannte Aktionärsstruktur zum 30. Juni 2012 
stellt sich wie folgt dar:

Nach Definition der Deutschen Börse AG befinden sich 100 Prozent der Aktien der Phoenix Solar AG im
Streubesitz (Freefloat).

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Schwerpunkte der Kapitalmarktkommunikation im zweiten Quartal waren die Finanzierungsverhandlun-
gen mit den Konsortialbanken, die weiteren Fortschritte der Restrukturierung der Phoenix Solar AG und
die Geschäftsentwicklung vor dem Hintergrund weiterer Einschnitte bei der Solarförderung und dem 
zunehmenden Konsolidierungsdruck in der Solarbranche.

Am 15. Mai erläuterte der Vorstand in einer Telefonkonferenz mit Finanzanalysten die Ergebnisse des 
abgelaufenen Geschäftsjahres 2011 und des ersten Quartals 2012. Auf der Messe Intersolar in München 
vom 13 bis 15. Juni zeigte sich in Gesprächen mit Rnanzanalysten das weiterhin bestehende Interesse des 
Kapitalmarktes an der Zukunft der Solarbranche und der Phoenix SolarAG-trotz des derzeit schlechten 
Marktsentiments.

Auf der ordentliche Hauptversammlung der Phoenix SolarAGam 21. Juni in Fürstenfeldbruck wurden  
alle zur Abstimmung stehenden Tagesordnungspunkte mit Mehrheiten von jeweils über 90 Prozent der 
vertretenen Stimmrechte angenommen.

Aktionärsstruktur zum 30.06.2012

PHOENIX SOLAR SHARE

PHOENIX SOLAR AUF EINEN BLICK

PHOENIX SOLAR AG | ANNUAL REPORT 2013

We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by the Phoenix Solar AG, Sulzemoos, 
comprising the consolidated income statement, consolidated balance sheet, consolidated statement of 
changes in stockholders’ equity, consolidated statement of cash flows and notes, together with the Group 
Management Report for the business year from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013. The preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements and the Group Management Report in accordance with the IFRSs, 
as adopted by the EU, the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Article 315a 
Section 1 German Commercial Code are the responsibility of the Parent Company’s Executive Board. 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and on the Group 
Management Report based on our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Article 317 German 
Commercial Code and German generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promul-
gated by the Institute of Public Auditors in Germany. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit such that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial position 
and results of operations in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the applicable finan-
cial reporting framework and in the Group Management Report are detected with reasonable assurance. 
Knowledge of the business activities and the economic and legal environment of the Group and expecta-
tions as to possible misstatements are taken into account in the determination of audit procedures. The ef-
fectiveness of the accounting-related internal control system and the evidence supporting the disclosures 
in the consolidated financial statements and the Group Management Report are examined primarily on a 
test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual financial statements 
of those entities included in consolidation, the determination of the entities to be included in consolida-
tion, the accounting and consolidation principles used and significant estimates made by the Company’s 
Executive Board, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements and 
the Group Management Report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit the consolidated financial statements comply with the 
IFRSs as adopted by the EU, the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Article 
315a Section 1 German Commercial Code and give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position 
and results of operations of the Group in accordance with these requirements. The Group Management 
Report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and as a whole provides a suitable view of 
the Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future development.

We are bound by duty to point out that there are risks which endanger the existence of the company. 
These are detailed in section 8.7.1 “Financial Risks“, subsection “Group Financing“ of the Group Man-
agement Report. There it is explained that the Company’s liquidity depends on the prolongation of the 
syndicated loan agreement beyond 31 March 2015, and that the bank syndicate in the event of a breach 
of covenants will not exercise its extraordinary termination right for the credit lines.

Munich, 26 March 2014

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Aktiengesellschaft
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Dietmar Eglauer ppa. Jürgen Schumann
Wirtschaftsprüfer  Wirtschaftsprüfer
(German Public Auditor)  (German Public Auditor)

AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S REPORT
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PHOTOVOLTAIC GLOSSARy

• Accumulator
An accumulator stores electrical energy. In photovoltaic, 
accumulators are used for off-grid systems.

• Alternating current
Alternating current (AC) is electrical current in which the 
direction and the voltage changes in accordance with 
certain laws of physics. Alternating current is found in 
most electrical grids (230 volts, 50 hertz).

• Amorphous modules
Modules made of amorphous silicon (a-Si) are a type of 
thin-film module whose cells are made of glass or me-
tal panels coated with a thin layer of silicon. The name  
comes from the fact that, when the glass or metal is coa-
ted, the silicon atoms are not distributed in the crystal- 
line structure but are spread amorphously, i.e. at  
random. a-Si modules have a distinctive brown colour.

• Amortisation
Energetic amortisation (also known as energy return 
time) is the time needed by a solar electricity system 
to generate the energy used for its production and in-
stallation. When the period of its energetic amortisation 
has expired, its balance of energy is then positive. There 
is no energetic amortisation in the case of power plants 
operated with fossil fuels. 

• Balance of system costs
In a photovoltaic system, the balance of system (BoS) 
costs are made up of the costs of all components ex-
cept those of the modules. BoS costs comprise planning 
costs, construction preparation costs, the cost of the 
mounting system, DC cabling, inverters, grid connec-
tion and installation.

• Crystalline modules
Crystalline modules are made of solar cells with crystal-
line silicon which is around 0.2 to 0.4 millimetres thick. 
A differentiation is made between modules with mono-
crystalline and polycrystalline (also known as multi-crys-
talline) cells. The basic material is ultra-pure polysilicon. 
Efficiency is between 14 and 18 percent.

• Degradation
Solar cells age as, over the course of their lifetime, their 
efficiency diminishes. This natural process of ageing in-
duced by light irradiation is called degradation. In calcu-
lating yield assumptions this effect is generally already 
included.

• Degression
The German Renewable Energies Act (Erneuerbare-
Energien-Gesetz (EEG)) provides for a lowering of the 
feed-in tariff oriented towards market growth. A sliding 
scale regulates the reduction: If the newly installed 
output within a certain period exceeds or falls below a 
defined growth corridor, degression is either raised or 
lowered. Degression is intended to promote competiti-
on in the solar industry and lead to lowering the cost of 
generating solar electricity.

• Direct current
Direct current is an electric current which maintains the 
same direction and a constant electrical voltage. Solar 
modules generate direct current.

• Efficiency
Efficiency generally denotes the relationship between 
usable and used energy. The efficiency of solar cells in-
dicates the percentage of the sun‘s energy which is con-
verted into electric charge.

• EPC
The acronym EPC (engineering, procurement and con-
struction) is used in power plant construction to descri-
be a form of project implementation customary in plant 
construction where the contractor assumes the role of 
general contractor. This price is guaranteed under the 
law over a longer period and must be paid by the grid 
operator to the producer of solar electricity.

• feed-in tariffs
In a number of countries, the expansion of renewable 
energies is promoted through paying the system opera-
tor a fixed price for the solar electricity produced. This 
price is guaranteed under the law over a longer period 
and must be paid by the grid operator to the producer 
of solar electricity.

• German Renewable Energies Act  (EEG)
The German Renewable Energies Act (EEG) entered into 
force on 1 April 2000. Its objective is to promote the 
expansion of energy produced from renewable sources. 
Among other things, it regulates the feeding in of re-
newable energies into the power grid and its remunera-
tion. The amendment currently under discussion provi-
des for further constraints on feed-in remuneration and 
levies on solar electricity produced and consumed by 
private households.

• Grid-connected systems
Grid-connected systems are solar power plants which 
have been connected up to the power grid and con-
tinuously feed in solar electricity.

• Grid parity
The grid parity of solar electricity means that the price 
of generating one kilowatt hour of solar electricity is no 
higher than the end consumer price for electricity from 
the mains socket. Grid parity is therefore tied to the  
location of consumption, as solar electricity is often 
generated where it is consumed. The definition of grid 
parity is therefore not a comparison between the pro-
duction costs of solar electricity and those of energy  
generated from fossil-based sources.

• Ingot
Ingot is a term used to describe a block of semiconduc-
tor material, such as silicon. The structure of ingots can 
be monocrystalline or polycrystalline.

• Inverters
Inverters convert the direct current generated by the 
solar cells into alternating currents which is compatible 
with the grid. They are an integral component of solar 
power plants.

• Kilowatt (kW)
Kilowatt (kW) is the general unit of measurement for 
output. The electrical output of a solar power plant is 
also given in kilowatts.
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• Kilowatt hour (kWh)
The kilowatt hour (kWh) is a unit of measurement for 
energy used or generated. One kilowatt hour equals a 
kilowatt over the period of an hour. The kilowatt hour is 
the unit of energy commonly used for the measurement 
of household electricity consumption. One kilowatt 
hour is sufficient to light a 100 watt bulb for ten hours.

• Megawatt (MW)
A megawatt is a unit of measurement for output, and is 
equivalent to one million (106 W). 

• Micromorphous modules
Micromorphous modules (also known as tandem mo-
dules) combine both amorphous and microcrystalline 
technologies. The light spectrum absorbed is raised to 
the near-infrared region through an additional micro-
crystalline silicon layer. Micromorphous modules are 
therefore more efficient than amorphous modules.

• Monocrystalline cells
The basic material for monocrystalline cells is ultra-pure 
silicon which is extracted from silicon smelt and manu-
factured into wafers of up to twelve centimetres in dia-
meter. All crystal lattices are evenly distributed in mono-
crystalline. Monocrystalline cells are more efficient than 
polycrystalline cells but they are also more expensive to 
manufacture. They can be recognised by their charac-
teristic graphite colour.

• Net metering 
Term used for a model regulating the remuneration of 
electricity from photovoltaic facilities (<100kWp). The 
solar electricity produced is fed into the grid via a bi-
directional meter and offset against electricity procured.

• Nominal output
The nominal output (also known as peak output) is an 
indication of the output of a solar module or a solar 
plant, for instance.

• Off-grid system
Off-grid systems (also known as stand-alone systems) 
are photovoltaic systems which are operated indepen-
dently of the grid and which generate a self-sufficient 
supply of electricity. With these systems, the electricity 
produced is not fed into the grid but stored in accumu-
lators where it can be sourced for consumption. Off-grid 
systems are particularly suitable for remote locations in 
regions with small or unstable grids where linking up to 
the grid would not be commercially viable.

• Operation
Along with configuration and system integration, the 
commercial and technical operation of solar power 
plants are key factors influencing the yield and therefore 
the return. Core tasks are to secure steady-state optimal 
operation, the monitoring and reporting of yield data, 
as well as compliance with the statutory provisions and 
periodic inspections.

• Peak power output (peak output)
The maximum power output possible from a solar mo-
dule or power system under standard test conditions 
(STC) is defined as the peak power output (also known 
as peak power). It is measured in watt (W) and stated as 
watt peak (Wp).

• Photovoltaic
Photovoltaic is defined as the environmentally compa-
tible generating of electricity through tapping the sun‘s 
energy. In this process, solar cells linked up to one ano-
ther in solar modules convert the sun‘s light into electri-
cal direct current.

• Polycristalline cells
The basic material for polycrystalline (also known as 
multi-crystalline) cells is ultra-pure silicon. Liquid silicon 
for polycrystalline cells is first cast as ingots and then cut 
into thin wafers which are 0.2 to 0.4 millimetres thick. 
The cells that result from this process are made up of 
many small single crystals, so-called crystallites, which 
are separated by grain boundaries The pattern which 
results from the composition of different crystals is un-
mistakable, as is the blueish colour.

• Power Purchase Agreement
A power purchase agreement (also known as a power 
delivery agreement) regulates business relations be-
tween the power supplier and the consumer. Instead 
of feeding electricity into the grid against remunerati-
on, operators of solar power plants can sell electricity 
to customers, including companies or whole industrial 
zones which can considerably lower their energy costs 
in this way.

• Renewable energies
Renewable energies (also known as regenerative ener-
gies) come from a source which either renews itself in 
the short term or where its use does not contribute to 
exhausting the respective resource. This includes solar 
irradiation, hydropower, geothermal energy and the 
potential in the energy recoverable from tidal power 
or biomass. The share of renewable energy sources in 
Germany‘s electricity consumption is now higher than 
20 percent. The use of solar power through photovoltaic 
has recorded high growth rates in renewable energies in 
recent years.

• Self-consumption
Alongside feeding into the public grid, electricity gener-
ated by a photovoltaic system can be used for perso-
nal consumption. The lower the feed-in tariff and the  
greater the cost advantage of generating solar electric-
ity compared with using conventional energy, the more 
attractive self-consumption becomes.

• Solar modules
A solar module is made up of the number of solar cells 
which are electrically connected in series and which, 
after application of current connectors, are processed 
to form a module. The generally square solar cells are 
applied to a substrate, covered by a glass plate and  
laminated to protect them against weather exposure. A 
frame is often attached for the purpose of simplifying 
assembly. Solar modules customary in the market are 
generally made from mono- or polycrystalline solar cells 
or thin-film modules.

• Solar silicon
Solar silicon (also known as polysilicon) is the basic mate-
rial used in the production of crystalline solar modules. 
The production of solar cells necessitates silicon in an 
ultra-pure state (solar grade).
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• Solar cells
A solar module is made up of several solar cells which 
are connected to one another. Solar cells when expo-
sed to light release positive and negative charge carriers 
(photovoltaic effect), which generates direct current. In 
the production of a solar cell, wafers from the semi-con-
ducting  material silicon are doped (impurity doping). 
When two semiconductor layers with different impuriti-
es are put together, a so-called p-n junction is generated 
between the layers. An electric field is generated at this 
junction which separates the charge carriers released by 
photons. Voltage is tapped through the contacts on the 
front and back. An anti-reflex layer protects the cell and 
reduces reflection losses at the surface of the cell. A dif-
ferentiation is made between the different types of cells 
and modules.

• Standard Test Conditions (STC )
The specific data of a solar module are measured under  
standard test conditions. Standard test conditions are 
defined as the solar irradiation of one kilowatt (kW) per 
square metre, a module temperature of 25 °C and a  
solar irradiation angle of 45°.

• String
A string is the parallel wiring of a number of solar mo-
dules connected up electrically in a series.

• System costs
The system costs of a photovoltaic plant are a key fac-
tor for determining the investment costs and therefore 
the length of the period of amortisation. They are made 
up of the costs of all technical components (solar mo-
dules, installation system, direct current master switch, 
inverters, cabling and electricity meters) and of the work 
performed (development, planning, building, and over 
etc.). Financing costs, costs of official approvals, expert 
opinions, legal advice and similar services are not part of 
the system costs.

• System integration
The efficiency of a photovoltaic system depends to a 
great extent on the ideal interaction of all the individual 
components. The more technologies and products offe-
red for selection in the market, the greater the optimi-
sation potential through consistent system integration. 
The tasks of system integration include the selection 
and checking of the individual components, as well as 
the reconciliation of all details in accordance with re-
quirements, for example the installation system, taking  
account of local conditions on the respective sites.

• Temperature coefficient
The temperature coefficient is an indication of the de-
gree to which module output changes if the temper-
ature of the solar cell rises.

• Turnkey power plant
In photovoltaic, a turnkey power plant is a fully confi-
gured solar power plant consisting of solar modules, a 
mounting system, inverters and cabling.

• Value chain
The value chain is the whole mix of products and ser-
vices which go to make up one product (solar power 
plant, for instance) or a service (such as system inte-
gration or operation), comprising all links in the chain, 
in other words from the suppliers of raw materials and 
manufacturers, across system integrators, wholesalers 
and retailers through to the end customer.

• Wafer
Wafers are round or rectangular silicon slices which are 
approximately 0.2 to 0.4 millimetres thick. In photo-
voltaic, they are the primary product used in crystalline 
solar cells.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report contains forward-looking statements on future developments which are based on 
management’s current assessments. Words such as “anticipate”, “assume”, “believe”, “estimate”,  
“expect”, “intend”, “can/could”, “plan”, “project”, “forecast”, “should” and similar terms are indica- 
tive of such forward-looking statements. Such statements ars subject to certain risks and uncertainties,  
which are mainly outside the sphere of influence of Phoenix Solar AG, but which have an impact on 
the business activities, the success, the business strategy and the result. These risks and factors of uncer- 
tainty include, for instance, climatic changes, changes in the state subsidisation of photovoltaic, the  
introduction of competitor products or technologies of other companies, the dependency on suppliers 
and the price development of solar modules, the development of the planned internationalisation of  
business activities, fierce competition and rapid technology change in the photovoltaic market. If one  
of these or other factors of uncertainty or risks should occur, or if the assumptions underlying the state-
ments should prove incorrect, the actual results may diverge substantially from the results in these state-
ments or implicit indications. Phoenix Solar AG does not have the intention, nor will it undertake any 
obligation to update forward-looking statements on an on-going basis or at a later point in time, as this  
is entirely dependent on circumstances prevailing on the day of their release.
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR

The updated financial calendar can be viewed on the Phoenix Solar AG website under
www.phoenixsolar.com/lnvestorRelations/FinancialCalendar 

This report is also available in German. Both versions are available for download on the internet.
This is an English translation of the German original. Only the German version is binding.

Report/Interim Figures as per 31 March 2014

Ordinary Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 2014 

Report/Interim Figures as per 30 June 2014

Report/Interim Figures as per 30 September 2014

8 May 2014

28 May 2014

7 August 2014

6 November 2014
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Group structure as at 31/12/2013

GROUP STRUCTURE

GROUP STRUCTURE

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

100 %

75 %

75 %

70 %

100 %

100 %

31.2 %

Phoenix Solar AG

Sulzemoos,
Germany

SUBSIDIARIES

Phoenix Solar S.L. 
Madrid, Spain

Phoenix Solar S.r.l.
Rome, Italy

Phoenix Solar E.P.E. 
Athens, Greece

Phoenix Solar SAS
Lyon, France

Phoenix Solar Incorporated 
San Ramon, USA

Phoenix Solar Pte Ltd 
Singapore, Singapore

Phoenix Solar Sdn Bhd 
Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

Phoenix Solar L.L.C. 
Muscat, Oman

Phoenix Solar fonds Verwaltung GmbH 
Sulzemoos, Germany

OTHER HOLDINGS

12 special purpose entities
(see Notes A.)

Phoenix Sonnenfonds GmbH & Co. KG B1
Sulzemoos, Germany
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